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              UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

              SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

GUCCI AMERICA, INC.,         )

                             )

               Plaintiff,    )

                             )

          vs.                ) No. 09-6925-HB        

                             )

FRONTLINE PROCESSING         )

CORPORATION; WOODFOREST      )

NATIONAL BANK; DURANGO       )

MERCHANT SERVICES LLC d/b/a  )

NATIONAL BANKCARD SYSTEMS OF )

DURANGO; ABC COMPANIES; and  )

JOHN DOES,                   )

                             )

               Defendants.   )

_____________________________)

                        Deposition of

                       JENNIFER KIRK          

                   Thursday, July 8, 2010     

             Reported by:  SHERYL DIRKS, CSR #3513          
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1                     A P P E A R A N C E S
2                             --oOo--
3          COUNSEL FOR GUCCI:
4          GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER LLP

       BY:  JENNIFER COLGAN HALTER, Attorney at Law
5          BY:  ANNE M. COYLE, Attorney at Law         

       200 Park Avenue
6          New York, New York 10166-0193 

       212-351-3927
7          jhalter@gibsondunn.com

       acoyle@gibsondunn.com
8          
9          COUNSEL FOR WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK:
10          LERNER, DAVID, LITTENBERG, KRUMHOLZ & MENTLIK 

       LLP
11          BY: GREGG A. PARADISE, Attorney at Law

       600 South Avenue West                
12          Westfield, New Jersey 07090     

       903-654-5000
13          gparadise@ldlkm.com  
14      
15          COUNSEL FOR JENNIFER AND PATRICK KIRK:
16          DAVIS & LEONARD LLP

       BY:  MARK R. LEONARD, Attorney at Law
17          8880 Cal Center Drive, Suite 180

       Sacramento, California 95826
18          916-362-9000

       mleonard@davisandleonard.com
19          

       ALSO PRESENT:  JOHN MACDONELL
20                         Sacramento Legal Video Center

                      3028 U Street
21                         Sacramento, CA 95817

                      (916) 451-7600
22
23                             --oOo--
24      
25      

3

1
2           I N D E X   O F   E X A M I N A T I O N
3                                           PAGE
4   BY MR. PARADISE.....................   5, 118
5   BY MS. HALTER.......................  97
6   (CONFIDENTIAL TESTIMONY PAGES 65-79.)      
7               I N D E X   O F   E X H I B I T S
8   1 - screen shot for The Bag Addiction.........  18
9   2 - e-mail 9-10-06 to Nathan Counley........... 38
10   3 - e-mail 9-14-06 to Bag Addiction............ 42
11   4 - (Confidential Exhibit)..................... 46
12   5 - Defendants' initial Disclosures............ 55
13   6 - (Confidential Exhibit)..................... 65
14   7 - (Confidential Exhibit)..................... 66
15   8 - (Confidential Exhibit)..................... 67
16   9 - Final Order and Judgment on Consent........ 69
17   10 - Declaration of Jennifer Kirk.............. 83
18   11 - e-mail chain.............................. 88
19   12 - "Kirk Declaration"........................ 90
20   13 - screen shot for The Bag Addiction......... 98
21   14 - screen shots for The Bag Addiction........ 99
22   15 - Woodforest Merchant Bankcard Application..108
23   16 - Woodforest Merchant Bankcard Application..108
24   17 - Woodforest Merchant Bankcard Application..108
25   18 - Woodforest Merchant Bankcard Application..115

4

1                             --oOo--
2      BE IT REMEMBERED that on Thursday, the 8th day 
3   of July 2010, at the hour of 9:01 a.m. of 
4   said day, at the Offices of M.O.A. DEPOSITION 
5   REPORTERS, 1300 Ethan Way, Suite 200, Sacramento, 
6   California, before me, SHERYL DIRKS, a Certified 
7   Shorthand Reporter, personally appeared JENNIFER 
8   KIRK, who was examined as a witness in said cause.
9                          --oOo--
10           THE VIDEOGRAPHER:   We're on the record.  
11   It's 9:01 a.m.  This is the deposition of Jennifer 
12   Kirk.  We're here in the matter of Gucci America 
13   versus Frontline, et al.  Today is Thursday, 
14   July 8th, 2010.  We're located at 1300 Ethan Way, 
15   Suite 200 in Sacramento, California.  I'm John 
16   Macdonell, videographer with Sacramento Legal Video. 
17           Before the reporter swears the witness, 
18   would counsel, please, identify themselves.
19           MR. PARADISE:  Gregg Paradise from Lerner, 
20   David, Littenberg, Krumholz and Mentlik on behalf of 
21   Defendant Woodforest National Bank.  
22           MR. LEONARD:  Mark Leonard with Davis & 
23   Leonard, LLP for Jennifer and Patrick Kirk.
24           MS. HALTER:  Jennifer Halter and Anne Coyle 
25   from Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher on behalf of Plaintiff 

5

1   Gucci America, Inc.
2                          JENNIFER KIRK,
3        called as a witness herein, having been 
4   administered an oath in accordance with C.C.P. 
5   Section 2094, was examined and testified as follows:
6                             --oOo--
7                 EXAMINATION BY MR. PARADISE
8   Q.      Good morning, Miss Kirk.  My name is Gregg 
9   Paradise.  We introduced ourselves off the record.  
10   Just so you understand, I'm an attorney for one of 
11   the Defendants in this matter, Woodforest National 
12   Bank. 
13           Miss Kirk, would you state your full name 
14   for the record, please.
15   A.      Jennifer Marie Kirk.
16   Q.      Have you in the past gone by other names?
17   A.      Jennifer Mattchen and Jennifer Besson.
18   Q.      Could you explain, is one of those your 
19   maiden name?
20   A.      Yes.
21   Q.      Which one?
22   A.      Besson.
23   Q.      Jennifer Mattchen, what is that?
24   A.      Former married name.
25   Q.      Have you ever been deposed before, 
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46

1   Q.      So you completely suspended sales for a few 
2   weeks' period of time at this time?
3   A.      Yes.
4   Q.      How long after your first inquiry to Nathan 
5   Counley did you acquire a new credit card processing 
6   service?
7   A.      Couple weeks.
8           (Kirk Exhibit 4 is marked.)
9           BY MR. PARADISE:  Q.  The court reporter has 
10   handed you what has been marked as Kirk Exhibit 4.  
11   Would you take a look at this document, please.
12   A.      Okay.
13   Q.      If you look at the top do you see that there 
14   appear to be two fax lines, one dated November 15, 
15   2006 and one dated November 14, 2006?  Do you see 
16   that?
17   A.      Yes.
18   Q.      Is Exhibit 4 an application that was 
19   submitted for a credit card processing to Woodforest 
20   National Bank?
21   A.      Yes.
22   Q.      Is it your recollection that this 
23   application was submitted on or around November 15, 
24   2006?
25   A.      Looks like it.

47

1   Q.      Turning back to Exhibits 2 and 3 and the 
2   dates indicated in there, does that refresh your 
3   recollection as to which bank you went to first for 
4   credit card processing services?
5   A.      It looks like Frontline was first.
6   Q.      When you applied to Frontline for credit 
7   card processing services, did Frontline know that 
8   your business was selling replica products?
9           MR. LEONARD:  Objection.  Calls for 
10   speculation.
11           THE WITNESS:  I don't know.
12           BY MR. PARADISE:  Q.  Did you tell anyone 
13   from Frontline -- did you speak with anyone from 
14   Frontline during the application process?  
15   A.      No.
16   Q.      Did you have any discussions with 
17   Mr. Counley about the application process with 
18   Frontline?
19   A.      Yes.
20   Q.      During any of those conversations did 
21   Mr. Counley indicate that Frontline understood that 
22   The Bag Addiction's business was selling replica 
23   products?
24   A.      Yes, he did.
25   Q.      So then it's fair to assume that Frontline 

48

1   understood that you were selling replica products?
2   A.      I don't know what Nathan told Frontline, 
3   that's between them and Nathan.  He represented to 
4   me that they knew, but I don't know what was 
5   transpired between their conversations.  
6   Q.      Fair enough. 
7           Now if you'll turn back to Kirk Exhibit 4, 
8   you said that this was an application for credit 
9   card processing services that you submitted to 
10   Woodforest National Bank.  Right?  
11   A.      Right.
12   Q.      At the time that this application was 
13   submitted, were you currently processing credit 
14   cards through Frontline?
15   A.      I believe so.
16   Q.      Why did you need a second credit card 
17   processor for your business?
18   A.      I had a monthly volume limit I was subjected 
19   to through Frontline so I needed a second one 
20   because the volume was so much.
21   Q.      Were there any other reasons?
22   A.      No.
23   Q.      At the time you applied for credit card 
24   processing services from Woodforest, were you 
25   generally satisfied with the service you were 

49

1   receiving from Frontline?
2   A.      Yes.
3   Q.      Now if you look at the application, 
4   Exhibit 4 -- and I apologize for the quality of 
5   this, but it's a copy of a fax of a fax, so it's 
6   degraded over time.  But if you look in the middle 
7   on the left there is a statement that I believe 
8   refers to the type of -- the nature of the business 
9   and it says "designer handbags."  Do you see that?
10   A.      Yes.
11   Q.      Did you supply that information?
12   A.      You mean did I type that in there?  
13   Q.      Yes.  
14   A.      No.
15   Q.      Who did?
16   A.      Nathan.  This was prefilled out.
17   Q.      Is my understanding correct that you 
18   provided information to Mr. Counley and then he 
19   typed up the application and provided it to you for 
20   signature?
21   A.      Yes.
22           MS. HALTER:  Objection.
23           BY MR. PARADISE:  Q.  Do you see above 
24   "designer handbags" there is handwriting that says 
25   "wholesale/retail"?
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50

1   A.      Uh-huh.
2   Q.      Do you know whose handwriting that is?
3   A.      No.
4   Q.      So is it safe to assume you did not write 
5   that in?
6   A.      I did not write that.
7   Q.      Do you know if Patrick Kirk wrote that in?
8   A.      No.
9   Q.      Does that look like his handwriting?
10   A.      No.  
11   Q.      If you'll turn to the third page of 
12   Exhibit 4 and, again, at the top it says 
13   "Description of product sold" and it says "Designer 
14   handbags."  Do you see that?
15   A.      Yes.
16   Q.      Did you provide that, the information to go 
17   into that statement to Mr. Counley or did he choose 
18   the words to put there himself?
19   A.      I don't know.  I think he chose those words.  
20   I was very up front with replica handbags so I don't 
21   know.
22   Q.      If you look on the next line where it says 
23   "Who owns product," and there is a check box "Vendor 
24   drop ship required."  Do you see that?
25   A.      Yes.

51

1   Q.      That's what we were talking about before as 
2   to how orders were placed on your site -- 
3   A.      Right.
4   Q.      -- and how you fulfilled them?  
5           The next line asks for identity of the 
6   vendors.  Who is the vendor listed here?  
7   A.      That was one of my vendors in China, my 
8   primary vendor.
9   Q.      But as you said before there were 
10   additional -- 
11   A.      Uh-huh.
12   Q.      -- vendors so not all of the bags came from 
13   this entity?
14   A.      Correct.
15   Q.      If you look down in the middle on the right 
16   side there is a qualified MOTO discount rate.  Do 
17   you see that?
18   A.      Uh-huh.
19   Q.      Do you understand that's the discount rate 
20   that you were to be charged for transactions 
21   processed by Woodforest?
22   A.      Yes.
23   Q.      It says here it was 3.75 percent; is that 
24   right?
25   A.      Yes.  

52

1   Q.      Is that the discount rate that you were 
2   charge by Woodforest during the time you processed 
3   credit cards with Woodforest?
4   A.      Yes.
5   Q.      Do you recall if this rate was higher or 
6   lower than Frontline's?
7   A.      Lower.
8   Q.      Do you recall if the transaction fees in 
9   addition to the discount rate that you were charged 
10   by Woodforest were higher or lower than Frontline?
11   A.      Woodforest was lower.
12   Q.      Do you recall what the discount rate was 
13   with Frontline?
14   A.      I believe it was in like the four-and-a-half 
15   percent with additional fees.
16   Q.      In submitting the application for credit 
17   card processing services to Woodforest, did you 
18   state anywhere that The Bag Addiction sold 
19   counterfeit products?
20   A.      Using the word "counterfeit"?  
21   Q.      Yes.  
22   A.      No.
23   Q.      In the application to Woodforest, did you 
24   state that The Bag Addiction sold illegal products?
25   A.      No.
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1   Q.      In the application to Woodforest did you 
2   state that The Bag Addiction sold products that 
3   violated any laws or rights of anyone?
4   A.      No.
5   Q.      Did you ever speak with anyone at Woodforest 
6   about your application?
7   A.      No.
8   Q.      Did you ever have any written communication 
9   with anyone from Woodforest about your application?
10   A.      Only Nathan.
11   Q.      Did anyone affiliated with The Bag Addiction 
12   ever speak with anyone at Woodforest about this 
13   application?
14   A.      No.
15   Q.      Do you know if Patrick ever had any 
16   discussions with anyone at Woodforest at any time?
17   A.      Not that I'm aware of.
18   Q.      Do you have an understanding as to whether 
19   Nathan Counley had discussions with Woodforest 
20   concerning your application?
21   A.      I don't know.
22   Q.      Did Nathan ever tell you that he had any 
23   discussions with Woodforest about your application?
24   A.      Just whether it was approved and the status.  
25   That's it.



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT C 
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2   UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

3   SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

4   ---------------------------------------------- x

5   GUCCI AMERICA, INC.,

6                        Plaintiff,

                                    09-CV-6925

7          -against-

8   FRONTLINE PROCESSING CORPORATION, WOODFOREST

  NATIONAL BANK, DURANGO MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC.

9   D/B/A NATIONAL BANKCARD SYSTEMS OF DURANGO

10                        Defendants.

11   ---------------------------------------------- x

12

13           DEPOSITION of the Defendant, DURANGO

14 MERCHANT SERVICES, LLC. by NATHAN COUNLEY, taken

15 by the Plaintiff, pursuant to Notice, held at the

16 offices of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher, LLP., 200 Park

17 Avenue, New York, New York, on June 14, 2010, at

18 9:45 a.m., before a Notary Public of the State of

19 New York.
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24
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1
2   A P P E A R A N C E S:
3
4           GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP.

                Attorneys for Plaintiff
5                 200 Park Avenue

                New York, New York 10166
6

          BY:   ROBERT WEIGEL, ESQ.
7                       -and-

                ANNE M. COYLE, ESQ.
8                       -and-

                JENNIFER COLGAN HALTER, ESQ.
9

10
11           LAW OFFICE OF TODD WENGROVSKY, PLLC.

                Attorneys for Defendant
12                 DURANGO MERCHANT SERVICES

                285 Southfield Road
13                 Box 585

                Calverton, New York 11933
14

          BY:   TODD WENGROVSKY, ESQ.
15
16
17          LERNER, DAVID, LITTENBERG, KRUMHOLZ &

         MENTLIK, LLP.
18                 Attorneys for Defendant

                WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK
19                 600 South Avenue West

                Westfield, New Jersey 07090
20

          BY:   CHARLES P. KENNEDY, ESQ.
21
22
23

                    xxxxx
24
25

3

1
2
3
4            S T I P U L A T I O N S
5
6           IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED by
7 and between the attorneys for the respective
8 parties herein, that filing, sealing and
9 certification, and the same are, hereby waived.
10
11           IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED that
12 all objections except as to the form of the
13 question, shall be reserved to the time of the
14 trial.
15
16           IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED that
17 the within deposition may be signed and sworn to
18 by an officer authorized to administer an oath,
19 with the same force and effect as if signed and
20 sworn to before the Court.
21
22
23                     xxxxx
24
25
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1                    Counley
2   N A T H A N      C O U N L E Y,
3      Having been first duly sworn before a Notary
4      Public of the State of New York, was examined
5      and testified as follows:
6
7   EXAMINATION BY
8   MR. WEIGEL:
9 Q      State your name for the record,
10 please?
11 A      Nathan Counley.
12 Q      Where do you live?
13 A      Madison, Wisconsin.
14 Q      Have you ever been deposed before in a
15 lawsuit?
16 A      No.
17 Q      I don't want to know any details, but
18 has your lawyer explained to you what was
19 going to happen today?
20 A      For the most part, yes.
21 Q      I'm going to ask you questions.  Do
22 you understand that the oath you are under is
23 the same oath you would be under if you were
24 testifying before a judge and jury?
25 A      Yes.

5

1                    Counley
2 Q      If at any point in time you don't
3 understand any of my questions or you are
4 confused by them, just let me know and I'll
5 try to rephrase them.  Is that understood?
6 A      Yes.
7 Q      If you need to take a break, just let
8 me know.  All I would ask is that you do it
9 after you answer a question, not in the
10 middle of a question if that's okay?
11 A      I understand.
12 Q      Can you give me your educational
13 background just starting with high school?
14 A      High school, I went to Laramie,
15 Wyoming.  Beyond a high school degree,
16 college was Fort Lewis in Durango, Colorado,
17 a small liberal arts college, political
18 science and minor in philosophy.
19 Q      When did you first become involved
20 with Durango Merchants Services?
21 A      I started in January 2005.
22 Q      What position did you have?
23 A      Same thing today, sales manager.
24 Q      When did you graduate college?
25 A      I think it was 2005 -- 2004.  I'm
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2 A      Yes.
3 Q      What kind of accounts did you send to
4 Valitor?
5 A      I believe we have an account there now
6 that sells financial advice, software for
7 trading markets.  I don't think we have any
8 other accounts there.
9 Q      Did you ever place any replica
10 merchants with Valitor?
11 A      I don't believe so.
12 Q      Valitor is located in Iceland?
13 A      Yes.
14 Q      When you do business with them, how do
15 you communicate?
16 A      We go through an agent of theirs.  His
17 name is R-E-A-V-I-S and the company is WTZI.
18 Q      Where are they located?
19 A      In the states.
20 Q      WTZI?
21 A      Yes.
22 Q      Do you know in which state?
23 A      No.
24               (Whereupon Declaration of
25        Jennifer Kirk was marked Counley
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2        Exhibit 29 for identification as of
3        this date.)
4 Q      Have you had an opportunity to review
5 Exhibit 29 before?
6 A      Yes -- well, yes.
7 Q      When did you first see it?
8 A      I believe Todd forwarded this to us, I
9 can't remember when, but I'm assuming the
10 file date is --
11 Q      Did you ever have any discussions with
12 Ms. Kirk about this lawsuit?
13 A      No.
14 Q      How about with her husband?
15 A      No.
16 Q      Did you ever discuss this lawsuit with
17 any of your customers?
18 A      No.
19 Q      Is there anything in Ms. Kirk's
20 declaration that you believe is untrue?
21 A      Number one, the ability to use credit
22 cards, to accept payment via credit cards.
23 It's helpful.  I don't feel it's very
24 important.
25 Q      You feel it's helpful, but not very
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2 important?
3 A      Correct.
4 Q      Don't you advertise on your website
5 that nine out of ten transactions done on the
6 internet are done through credit cards?
7 A      I believe you are right.
8 Q      Nine out of ten people using credit
9 cards, don't you think that's very important
10 to your business?
11               MR. WENGROVSKY:  Objection.
12 A      Important, but to what degree, I guess
13 I can't say.
14 Q      You represent to merchants on your
15 website that if they gain the ability to
16 process credit cards that that will improve
17 their business, correct?
18 A      True.
19 Q      You say on your website "Accepting
20 credit cards with a merchant account can
21 increase your sales potential by 75 million
22 customers in the U.S. alone with an
23 exclamation point.  Is that an accurate
24 statement?
25 A      It is.
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2 Q      You go on to say on your website
3 credit card processing analysts estimate nine
4 out of ten people use credit cards for their
5 online orders.  Is that an accurate
6 statement?
7 A      I'm not disagreeing with you.
8 Q      You are just disagreeing that nine out
9 of ten is very important; is that correct?
10               MR. WENGROVSKY:  Objection.
11 A      I would say it's very helpful, but
12 isn't very important.
13 Q      You would agree that the ability to
14 process credit cards enables a merchant to
15 have a much broader range of potential
16 customers; is that correct?
17 A      You are correct.
18 Q      If a merchant is able to accept credit
19 cards, it's likely to increase their sales?
20 A      You are correct.
21 Q      Attached to Exhibit 29 are a series of
22 e-mails and a fax.  Do you see those?
23 A      I do.
24 Q      Do you recognize this correspondence?
25 A      I do.
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2 Q      Did you send the e-mails that are
3 attached to Exhibit 29?
4 A      Yes.
5 Q      Hans Strickler that is here is from
6 Frontline, correct?
7 A      Correct.
8 Q      And Mr. Strickler insisted that The
9 Bag Addiction add a check box on its website,
10 correct?
11 A      Correct.
12 Q      What did that check box say?
13 A      Two check boxes.  I agree to the terms
14 and conditions on the site.  I understand
15 these items being purchased are replicas, not
16 originals.
17 Q      Why was that important to add to the
18 site?
19 A      This is something that Frontline told
20 us that the merchant should do, so I'd be
21 speaking on behalf of Frontline.
22 Q      What did Frontline tell you the
23 merchant should do?
24 A      If I'm reading it correctly, it
25 appears Hans tells the merchant, if you don't
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2 have the check box, you are going to lose
3 chargebacks.
4 Q      Why is that?
5               MR. WENGROVSKY:  Objection.
6 Q      Why does having a check box help with
7 chargebacks?
8               MR. WENGROVSKY:  Repeat the
9        objection.  Go ahead.

10 A      Because then the customer cannot claim
11 that products were not as represented as in
12 doing the chargeback.
13 Q      Because then the customer knows they
14 are buying a product that is not genuine?
15 A      They know that they are buying a
16 replica product.
17 Q      You see there is a fax attached to
18 this e-mail chain?
19 A      Which page?
20 Q      You see the one that was Bag
21 Addiction, the screen shot?
22 A      With 1 of 5 in the bottom right?
23 Q      Yes, and 1 of 5 in the top right too?
24 A      Yes.
25 Q      You see there are two telephone
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2 numbers at the top; one is a 413 and the
3 other is a 416?
4 A      Yes.
5 Q      Is one of them yours?
6 A      413.
7 Q      That's your fax number?
8 A      Yes.
9 Q      These screen shots were faxed to you
10 and then you faxed them on to Ms. Kirk; is
11 that correct?
12 A      I don't recall receiving this fax even
13 though my fax number is listed there.
14 Q      Well, let's look.
15 A      Yes, it says "Jen, Hans is referring
16 to the attached fax."  So Hans must have
17 faxed these five pages to me and "he's made
18 notes on the PDF, where it would be best to
19 add in the truncated terms and conditions to
20 help avoid these type of chargebacks."  So,
21 yes, Frontline confirmed to us that these
22 merchants should have a check box and we
23 forwarded that communication to the merchant.
24 Q      Were those inserted into this PDF by
25 Frontline as you understand it?
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2 A      As I understand it.
3 Q      You can tell from looking at the
4 left-hand side here that this website was
5 selling replica Gucci products, can't you?
6 A      I can see that they have Gucci listed.
7 I cannot see if they have replica Gucci
8 products.
9 Q      In a number of places or I guess in
10 two places, it lists the brands.  Do you see
11 it, where it says our brands on the first --
12 on 1 of 5 and 3 of 5 on the left-hand side
13 where it says Our Brands?
14 A      Yes.
15 Q      If you carry into the next page, in
16 both instances Gucci is the first name at the
17 top of the list?
18               MR. WENGROVSKY:  First name at
19        the top of the next page.
20 Q      It says Our Brands and then in both
21 instances on page 2 of 5 and page 4 of 5,
22 Gucci is the brand that is listed at the top
23 of the page on the left-hand side?
24               MR. KENNEDY:  Can you show me
25        where you are pointing?
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1                    Counley
2        date.)
3 Q      Does that help you refresh your
4 recollection that Stephanie Walker also had
5 an account with Frontline?
6 A      Yes.
7 Q      And did she have an account with
8 Frontline?
9 A      Apparently, yes.

10 Q      Did you receive residuals from
11 Frontline as well?
12 A      Yes.  And you should have a copy of
13 all of the residuals earned from Bill's
14 master report.
15 Q      Are you familiar with a company named
16 CRRD Operating Company, Inc. doing business
17 as merchantaccountguy.com creditcards.com?
18 A      Creditcards.com?
19               MR. WEIGEL:  Let me see if I
20        can refresh your recollection.  Please
21        mark this as Exhibit 36.
22               (Whereupon Complaint was marked
23        Counley Exhibit 36 for identification
24        as of this date.)
25 A      Yes, I do remember this now.
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2 Q      What business are these folks in?
3 A      I guess they are in a website
4 marketing.  They appear to advertise for
5 merchants services and then are agents for
6 other credit card processors.
7 Q      Are they an agent for Durango Merchant
8 Services as well?
9 A      No.

10 Q      Have they ever placed any accounts
11 with you?
12 A      No.
13 Q      These folks were using your trademark
14 to sell their services?
15 A      And we asked them twice and they still
16 continued to do it.
17 Q      Did you believe it was harming your
18 business because they were using your
19 trademark to market their products?
20 A      Especially because we asked them twice
21 not to do it and they continued to do it.
22 Q      Do you remember when you first ran the
23 file shredding program on your computer?
24 A      No.
25               MR. WEIGEL:  Let's take a
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2        break.  I think I am done.  Off the
3        record.
4               (Whereupon a discussion was
5        held off the record.)
6
7   EXAMINATION BY
8   MR. KENNEDY:
9 Q      Mr. Counley, I'm Charles Kennedy.  I

10 am the attorney for one of the Defendants
11 Woodforest National Bank in this matter.  I
12 have some questions I'm going to ask you.
13 The same instructions will apply as for the
14 questions that you were asked by Mr. Weigel
15 in this case.
16        Mr. Counley, you understand that this
17 case involves certain business that was done
18 by banks on behalf of the Laurette companies?
19 A      Yes.
20 Q      And the Laurette companies operated a
21 website called thebagaddiction.com; is that
22 correct?
23 A      Correct.
24 Q      I would like you to take, if you
25 would, Exhibit 2.  It should be in front of
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2 you.
3 A      All right.
4 Q      Is Exhibit 2 an e-mail that was sent
5 to you?
6 A      Yes.
7 Q      What date was it sent?
8 A      September 10, '06.
9 Q      Was this the first time you had
10 noticed that there was -- the Laurette
11 Company was looking for credit card services?
12 A      Yes.
13 Q      At this time you were informed that
14 the description of the business was replica
15 handbags and accessories; is that correct?
16 A      Correct.
17 Q      If you take Exhibit 3?
18 A      All right.
19 Q      This is an e-mail exchange in
20 September of 2006 between you and a Jennifer
21 Mattchen; is that correct?
22 A      Correct.
23 Q      Who is Jennifer Mattchen?
24 A      Apparently the alternate name, I
25 believe Jennifer Kirk is her real name.
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2 Q      Who was Jennifer Kirk?  Was she the
3 principle of the Laurette Company that you
4 dealt with?
5 A      Correct.
6 Q      Is this the communication that you had
7 with Jennifer Mattchen or Jennifer Kirk as
8 you later came to know her by which you made
9 an application to obtain credit card services

10 for The Bag Addiction?
11 A      Yes.
12 Q      If you turn to the second page of this
13 Exhibit 3, at the top there is the e-mail
14 exchange you to Jennifer, September 14, 2006,
15 where you say "Good news.  I just found our
16 U.S. bank can do replica accounts now."  Do
17 you see that?
18 A      Yes.
19 Q      Is that what you told her?
20 A      That is my e-mail to her, correct.
21 Q      I know Mr. Weigel asked you some
22 questions about that and you were not certain
23 at the time who the U.S. bank was.  Are you
24 now certain that that U.S. bank that you were
25 referring to was Frontline?
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2 A      Yes.
3 Q      It was not Woodforest; is that
4 correct?
5 A      Correct.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  I'm just going to
7        have an objection.
8               MR. KENNEDY:  He's not my
9        witness, but your objection is noted.
10               Can you please mark this as
11        Exhibit 37.
12               (Whereupon application to
13        Frontline was marked Counley Exhibit
14        37 for identification as of this
15        date.)
16 Q      Mr. Counley, Exhibit 37, can you
17 identify that as being the application that
18 you filed on behalf of the Laurette Company
19 for The Bag Addiction with Frontline?
20 A      Yes.
21 Q      What was the date that you filed that
22 application?
23 A      September 15, 2006 is when it's signed
24 by the merchant.
25 Q      Did Frontline approve the account for
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2 The Bag Addiction and subsequently provide
3 credit card services?
4 A      Yes.
5 Q      At this time Woodforest wasn't even in
6 the picture with respect to The Bag
7 Addiction.com; isn't that correct?
8 A      Correct.
9 Q      Did you actually set up credit card
10 services through Frontline and The Bag
11 Addiction became operational as of
12 September 2006?
13 A      We didn't set it up, but Bag Addiction
14 was approved and started processing by
15 Frontline in 2006.
16 Q      It was advertising the replica
17 handbags for that period of time and making
18 sales and when the sales were processed
19 through credit cards, it was all done by
20 Frontline during that period of time; is that
21 correct?
22 A      Correct.
23               MR. KENNEDY:  Mark this
24        Exhibit 38.
25               (Whereupon application to
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2        Woodforest was marked Counley Exhibit
3        38 for identification as of this
4        date.)
5 Q      Mr. Counley, you have just been handed
6 Exhibit 38 and I'll state for the record that
7 Exhibit 38 is -- it comprises the first four
8 pages of what was marked previously as
9 Exhibit 4 and I'm going to ask you whether

10 Exhibit 38 is the entirety of the application
11 you filed with Woodforest for the Laurette
12 Company?
13 A      Well, there would have been a driver's
14 license included.  Is that what you mean?  Or
15 the agreement application?
16 Q      Well, in addition to -- let's start
17 with that.  Is Exhibit 38 the agreement
18 application that you filed --
19 A      Yes.
20 Q      -- with Woodforest National Bank?
21 A      Yes.
22 Q      And that was for the Laurette Company,
23 correct?
24 A      Correct.
25 Q      And at the time that you filed that,
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2 credit card services were already being
3 provided for the Laurette Company by
4 Frontline?
5 A      Correct.
6 Q      Now, what, in addition to Exhibit 38,
7 would you have provided to Woodforest for
8 purposes of this application?
9 A      Copy of driver's license, Articles of

10 Incorporation and the processing statements
11 from Frontline which they would have had two
12 months' worth, September and October.
13 Q      Describe what the processing
14 statements looked like.
15 A      It's just a monthly summary of her
16 credit card sales through Frontline for each
17 month.
18 Q      Did you provide Woodforest National
19 Bank with any portion of the website for The
20 Bag Addiction that was then in operation?
21 A      The website is listed on the
22 application.
23 Q      Did you provide any screen shots from
24 the website or anything else?
25 A      No.
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2 Q      Within the description on Exhibit 38
3 of the products, which is about a third of
4 the way down on the left side of this form,
5 read how you described what the products were
6 for this website.
7 A      Designer handbags.
8 Q      Above that -- it's written wholesale
9 slash retail; do you see that?
10 A      Yes.
11 Q      Did you write that in?
12 A      No.
13 Q      Do you know who did?
14 A      I do not.
15 Q      Is it fair to say that the reason you
16 decided to file an application with
17 Woodforest, although Frontline was already
18 providing the credit card services, is
19 because you were concerned that The Bag
20 Addiction might reach the limits of the
21 Frontline agreement?
22 A      Which limits?
23 Q      The dollar limit as to how much
24 processing they could do through Frontline?
25 A      Right.  She needed additional
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2 processing volume.
3 Q      What was the volume limit that
4 Frontline had?
5 A      I think at the time 50,000.
6 Q      Now, could you have gone to Frontline
7 and asked to have the limit increased?
8 A      It is possible to ask that.  Usually
9 banks don't like to do that in the first

10 three months.  I'm not sure who did ask or
11 not.  Some merchants also liked to have two
12 merchant accounts.  Even if they could get
13 additional volume at the first bank, they
14 like to have two accounts so they don't have
15 all their eggs in one basket.
16 Q      Did the Laurette Company or any of its
17 principals ask you to get a second account or
18 was that something that you suggested
19 yourself?
20 A      A number of merchants have second
21 accounts.  I'm not sure if she asked us or we
22 suggested it.
23 Q      And the reasoning behind getting the
24 second account with Woodforest National Bank
25 was it because of the limit, the $50,000
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2 limit that Frontline had for its account?
3 A      I'm not sure if it was the limit or
4 she wanted two accounts.
5               MR. KENNEDY:  Mark this as
6        Exhibit 39.
7               (Whereupon e-mail exchange was
8        marked Counley Exhibit 39 for
9        identification as of this date.)
10 Q      Mr. Counley, I've just handed you what
11 has been marked as Exhibit 39.  Would you
12 take a minute to look at that, please?
13 A      All right.
14 Q      Do you recognize first the e-mail
15 exchange that comprises Exhibit 39?
16 A      I don't remember it.
17 Q      Do you know notice that you are copied
18 on this e-mail exchange?
19 A      I do.
20 Q      Having reviewed it, do you see this to
21 be an exchange between Hans Strickler of
22 Frontline and Pat Kirk of Laurette Company
23 regarding the question as to why there is a
24 second source?
25 A      I do.
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2 Q      Did you understand that, at least the
3 reason stated by Pat Kirk to Frontline, as to
4 why there was a second source, namely
5 Woodforest, was because of the limit that
6 Frontline had of $50,000?
7 A      Correct.
8 Q      Did you understand, as a result of
9 this exchange in October 2007, that the limit

10 was increased to 75,000 for Frontline's
11 business?
12 A      Correct.
13 Q      Look at the second e-mail on the first
14 page of Exhibit 39 and this is the one dated
15 October 8, 2007.  It's from Pat Kirk to Hans
16 Strickler and you've been copied on this.  Do
17 you see that?
18 A      I do.
19 Q      Pat Kirk says "We actually have
20 another website we use and, therefore, have
21 another bank, Woodforest, that we process
22 through.  When volume amounts got close, we
23 would occasionally switch over to Woodforest
24 on The Bag Addiction"; do you see that
25 statement?
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2 A      I do.
3 Q      Do you have any reason to believe that
4 what Mr. Kirk said was incorrect?
5 A      I don't know if they had another
6 website, so I don't know that that was said.
7 Q      Do you understand that, at least from
8 the point of view of The Bag Addiction, the
9 reason they had a second account with
10 Woodforest was simply to handle the situation
11 where the volumes might get too high and they
12 start approaching the limit with Frontline,
13 they would, therefore, use the Woodforest
14 account?
15               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection to form.
16 A      Yes.
17 Q      You understood that that was at least
18 the thinking of the Kirks?
19 A      Right.
20               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
21        Foundation.
22               MR. KENNEDY:  Can you mark this
23        as Exhibit 40.
24               (Whereupon GUCCI0047235 was
25        marked Counley Exhibit 40 for
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2        identification as of this date.)
3 Q      I've handed you a copy of Exhibit 40
4 which is the production document we received
5 from Gucci, GUCCI0047235.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  Off the record.
7               (Whereupon a discussion was
8        held off the record.)
9 Q      Have you had a chance to read Exhibit

10 40, Mr. Counley?
11 A      Yes.
12 Q      Do you see the third paragraph?  Did
13 you have a chance to review that?
14 A      Yes.
15 Q      This is referring to at least a draft
16 of a Kirk declaration and let me ask you, was
17 the information set forth in the third
18 paragraph correct?
19 A      I can't recall if that's what I told
20 her, Kirk not to continue to use the other
21 thing.
22 Q      Let me ask you this, was it correct,
23 this statement, and I'm going to focus on it,
24 next to the last sentence in that paragraph
25 "Mr. Counley told me that was because
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2 Frontline wanted all the fees associated with
3 the credit card processing, but told me to
4 continue using both banks."
5        My question is did Frontline say that
6 they wanted all the fees associated with
7 credit card processing through The Bag
8 Addiction?
9 A      Well, I honestly can't recall that
10 conversation.  Am I allowed to say that?
11 Q      You can if you didn't recall it.
12 A      All right.
13 Q      Let's go back as far as The Bag
14 Addiction goes, that was set up as an
15 operational business doing, as far as you
16 know, what it did during the entire course of
17 its business life, underfunding solely or
18 under credit card processing solely by
19 Frontline before you put in an application to
20 Woodforest?
21 A      That's true.
22               MR. WEIGEL:  Can I have that
23        question back.
24               (Whereupon the record was read
25        back by the reporter.)
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2 from Bill on residuals.
3 Q      Did you submit anything to Gucci that
4 would indicate how much Frontline did?
5 A      I don't believe so.
6 Q      Would you take Exhibit 25?  It's the
7 one page chart and I know Mr. Weigel had you
8 go across the columns and tell us what the
9 column meant.  What is the column that would

10 tell us what the net profit made by
11 Woodforest National Bank for all of its
12 credit card processing services for The Bag
13 Addiction or for the Laurette Company was?
14 A      From my understanding, the far right
15 column, MCPS income.
16 Q      Are you able to make out the number
17 there which I will represent on the record
18 and see if that appears to be it $16,505.86?
19 A      Correct.
20 Q      That's the total profit, as far as you
21 understand it, based on this record that you
22 testified about that Woodforest National Bank
23 made for all of its credit card processing
24 for The Bag Addiction?
25 A      These are not my -- our reports, but
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2 if we are to believe the numbers here, that
3 should be correct.
4               MR. KENNEDY:  Please mark this
5        as Exhibit 41.
6               (Whereupon Gucci 7211 through
7        7246 was marked Counley Exhibit 41 for
8        identification as of this date.)
9 Q      Mr. Counley, I'm showing you what has

10 been marked as Exhibit 41 and if you would
11 hand it to me for just one second, I want to
12 read the numbers on the record just so we
13 have that.  It's production number Gucci 7211
14 through 7246.
15        My first question of you is whether
16 you have seen this document before?
17 A      No.
18 Q      Do you have an understanding, just
19 based on the format of the document, that it
20 purports to show the sales processed by
21 Frontline for The Bag Addiction?
22 A      Yes, sales history and it has the
23 merchant name and the merchant ID number.
24 Q      Did there come a time when The Bag
25 Addiction, the Laurette Company asked to have
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2 their name with Frontline change to The
3 Shopping Addiction?
4 A      I do recall that.
5 Q      I have put a flag on a page.  First,
6 could you tell us what the Bates number is of
7 that page within the exhibit?
8 A      Gucci-000-7232.
9 Q      And there is a total, a sales total
10 there for the amount of credit card
11 processing; is that correct?
12 A      Correct.
13 Q      Could you read what number there is?
14 A      $1,152,553.69.
15 Q      Do you have a recollection one way or
16 another if that is an approximate number
17 volume of the credit card processing by
18 Frontline?
19 A      I don't have any reason to believe it
20 would be incorrect.
21 Q      Could you take out Exhibit 6, please?
22 A      All right.
23 Q      You recall Mr. Weigel was asking you
24 whether you were an agent of -- I'm sorry --
25 Woodforest at different points during your
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2 examination?
3 A      Correct.
4 Q      This Exhibit 6 is indeed a contract
5 that you had; is that correct?
6 A      Correct.
7 Q      Would you turn to the second page of
8 Exhibit 6 and under paragraph capital C, I'll
9 read the first sentence.  It says "The sales

10 associate's relationship with MCCS is that of
11 an independent contractor, not an employee or
12 agent of MCCS"; do you see that?
13 A      Yes.
14 Q      This is the agreement -- if you flip
15 to the next page -- that you signed that
16 documents your relationship with MCCS, is
17 that right?
18 A      Correct.
19 Q      So, to the question whether or not you
20 are an agent of MCCS, what would the answer
21 to that be?
22 A      No.
23 Q      Likewise were you ever an agent of
24 Woodforest National Bank?
25 A      No.  Agent is a term we loosely use in
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2 our industry, but like I said earlier, it's
3 probably not the correct term, an independent
4 contractor --
5               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.  Calls
6        for a legal conclusion.
7 Q      Exhibit 38 which I hope you have right
8 in front of you?
9 A      Yes.

10 Q      That's the application that you
11 submitted?
12 A      Correct.
13 Q      Would it be fair to say that in
14 submitting that application, you didn't have
15 the ability on behalf of Woodforest National
16 Bank to approve the application that was
17 being made by the Laurette Company, correct?
18 A      Certainly not.
19 Q      So you couldn't act on behalf of
20 Woodforest National Bank; is that right?
21 A      We don't control the underwriting
22 process at all.
23 Q      Have you ever had a direct
24 conversation with a Woodforest National Bank
25 employee to your recollection?
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2 A      No.
3 Q      Would you take Exhibit 29, please?
4 A      Okay.
5 Q      This is the exhibit where you
6 testified about a recommendation being made
7 to The Bag Addiction to have a box put on
8 their website where a purchaser would have to
9 check that they understood that the items

10 being purchased are replicas and not
11 originals; is that correct?
12 A      It's communication we forwarded on
13 behalf of Frontline.
14 Q      Is it your testimony that that was a
15 suggestion by Frontline?
16 A      Yes.
17 Q      Would it be correct to say Woodforest
18 was not even in the loop on these e-mails
19 between Hans Strickler and Jennifer Kirk?
20 A      That's correct.
21 Q      Just so we are clear there, are three
22 pages of e-mails within this document that
23 set forth the communications between you and
24 Jennifer Kirk and Hans Strickler and none of
25 this correspondence was even sent to
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2 Woodforest National Bank, correct?
3 A      Yes.
4 Q      At the time that this application was
5 made of Exhibit 38 to Woodforest National
6 Bank, you were aware that the products of The
7 Bag Addiction were replicas, correct?
8 A      Correct.
9 Q      But you didn't have any awareness as

10 to whether or not they were counterfeits; is
11 that fair?
12 A      No.
13               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
14        Leading.
15 Q      You didn't advise Woodforest National
16 Bank at any time that these products were
17 counterfeit, correct?
18 A      No.
19 Q      To preface the questions I've raised,
20 I'm not saying one way or another whether
21 they were counterfeit, but as far as you
22 knew, you didn't know one way or another
23 whether the products on The Bag Addiction
24 site were counterfeit; is that correct?
25               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
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2        Leading.
3 A      No.
4 Q      Okay?
5 A      We are not underwriters.  We are not
6 risk managers.  We don't police the accounts.
7 We are not trademark experts.  It said
8 replicas which we assume meant look a like
9 and if the banks approved it, then so be it.

10 Q      Just to be complete, you didn't
11 communicate anything to Woodforest National
12 Bank that would have alerted them to whether
13 these products were replicas or counterfeits
14 or anything of the sort; is that right?
15 A      That's not really my job.  We had the
16 merchant fill out the application and include
17 their website.  Then the processors handle
18 the underwriting process from there.
19 Q      Was The Bag Addiction the first
20 company that was a replica company that you
21 applied to Woodforest with?
22 A      Correct.
23 Q      The date of that application was and I
24 know we have been through this, that was the
25 November 14, 2006, that's the one that's
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2 right there?
3 A      November 13 is when it was signed, but
4 sometimes it takes a day or two to process.
5 Q      Now, Mr. Weigel went through Exhibits
6 15 through 24, which were additional accounts
7 that you testified about that you had
8 submitted applications to Woodforest and I
9 think he identified those or you identified

10 those as being replicas.  Do you recall that
11 testimony?
12 A      Yes.
13 Q      Here's what I'm going to do to try to
14 shorten things, which is, first I'll ask to
15 have this marked as the next exhibit, 42.
16               (Whereupon notes of websites
17        and dates was marked Counley Exhibit
18        42 for identification as of this
19        date.)
20               MR. KENNEDY:  Bob, those are my
21        notes of what the websites are as well
22        as the date.  I just want to get his
23        confirmation.
24               MR. WEIGEL:  The dates are on
25        the record, but you can show him if
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2        you want.
3 Q      Mr. Counley, let me hand you what's
4 been marked as Exhibit 42 and just ask you to
5 confirm -- those go through these exhibits 15
6 through 24 and they set forth the date of the
7 application.  I would just like to get your
8 confirmation that those are indeed the dates
9 of these applications?

10 A      You have to allow me a minute to
11 confirm.
12 Q      Thank you.
13 A      I only see at this time on -- I only
14 see the date on the fax header.  The fax
15 header says 4/17, but there is no signature
16 or stamp.
17 Q      Okay.  Is the fax header sufficient
18 for you to say that's the date of the
19 application?
20 A      Looks correct.
21 Q      Okay.
22 A      These dates all appear correct 2006
23 and 2007.
24 Q      Can I ask you to sign and date
25 Exhibit -- whatever number is on that exhibit
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2 just so we have confirmation that that's
3 indeed the correct dates.
4               MR. WENGROVSKY:  42 is the most
5        recent exhibit.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  I'm going to
7        object.  The witness is testifying
8        under oath.  You need him to deface
9        the exhibit.
10               MR. KENNEDY:  That's okay.
11        I'll do without that.
12 Q      Your testimony is that the dates on
13 Exhibit 42 are accurate; is that correct?
14 A      They do appear to be accurate.
15 Q      Mr. Counley, when did you first hear
16 that Gucci was raising an issue as to
17 trademark counterfeiting or trademark
18 infringement with respect to merchandise on
19 The Bag Addiction website?
20 A      I don't have confirmations in front of
21 me, but apparently you guys served the
22 subpoena in August of '08.
23 Q      Now, would it be correct to say that
24 every one of those websites that you
25 submitted to Woodforest National Bank came
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2 between -- they were after The Bag Addiction
3 had been submitted and before you gained
4 notice that there was any issue with alleged
5 trademark infringement or counterfeiting?
6 A      Correct.
7               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
8        Foundation.  Leading.
9 Q      During this entire period of time is
10 it accurate to say that you didn't -- you
11 weren't aware of there being any issue with
12 any of these replica websites?
13 A      That's correct.
14               MR. WEIGEL:  Again, leading.
15 Q      Mr. Weigel asked you about some matter
16 dealing with Stephanie Walker and there was
17 potentially some notice she may have
18 received.  My question is, did you
19 communicate anything about that to Woodforest
20 National Bank?
21 A      No, and you can see in my e-mails that
22 I didn't comment on it with her.  I mean you
23 can assume that I didn't really know what
24 that meant.
25 Q      You didn't know what it meant.  You
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2 didn't think it was an issue and you didn't
3 communicate it to Woodforest National Bank in
4 any manner?
5 A      Correct.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
7        Leading.
8 Q      I do want to go back to Exhibit 26
9 just for a minute.

10 A      All right.
11 Q      And we are dealing with the difference
12 between the second column, is that -- that's
13 the one that shows the Frontline residual
14 amount, correct?
15 A      Right.
16 Q      And then I think you pointed out it
17 was the seventh line, which is a Woodforest
18 residual amount, correct?
19 A      Yes, correct.
20 Q      In order to have a comparison of
21 apples to apples, would you add 25 percent to
22 the Woodforest amount to take account for
23 what went to Mr. Montella?
24 A      Well, there are two things.  We would
25 have to add 25 percent which went to
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2 Mr. Montella and then Frontline -- they were
3 paying out, I think, a higher percentage of
4 their profits to Durango than Woodforest was
5 paying to Joe.
6 Q      Do you know how much or what the
7 difference was?
8 A      Frontline, like most banks, pay out 50
9 percent of its profits to its contractors or
10 agents, whatever you want to call it, but I
11 believe, I'm not 100 percent sure on this, we
12 have to look at the numbers, but I believe
13 Woodforest pays out 40 percent to its
14 contractors.
15 Q      And we would have to correct for those
16 two variables to do a comparison; is that
17 correct?
18 A      Right.
19               MR. KENNEDY:  Off the record.
20               (Whereupon a discussion was
21        held off the record.)
22 Q      Mr. Counley, would you please take
23 Exhibits 9 and 10?
24 A      All right.
25 Q      Starting with Exhibit 10 is that
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2 exhibit a listing of all of the accounts that
3 your company Durango did with Woodforest?
4 A      Yes.  I would have to compare it to
5 our residual reports, but yes, it looks
6 complete.
7 Q      Exhibit 10 appears to be -- appears to
8 end as of September 2007 and then it looks
9 like in Exhibit 9 you pick up with October of
10 2007 and take it through to August of 2009;
11 is that correct?
12 A      Yes.
13 Q      Now is it correct to say that there
14 was no application that you submitted for a
15 replica company to Woodforest after April of
16 2008?
17 A      Correct.
18 Q      I'm going to inform you that
19 Woodforest received a subpoena on June 10,
20 2008 from the Laurette case, much like your
21 company did, and would it be accurate to say
22 that, as far as you know, Woodforest never
23 approved of a replica account since the date
24 that they received that subpoena in June of
25 2008?
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2               MR. WEIGEL:  I object to
3        foundation.
4 A      Yes, going by the approval list, that
5 would be correct.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  Are you referring
7        only to websites that Mr. Counley
8        presented?
9               MR. KENNEDY:  Yes, as far as he

10        knows, that all I can say, absolutely.
11 Q      You understood that question, didn't
12 you?  As far as you know, you are not aware
13 of Woodforest ever approving, doing credit
14 card funding for a replica website after June
15 of 2008?
16 A      Correct.
17 Q      Did anyone from Woodforest provide you
18 any information that they were not accepting
19 replica websites or business for replica
20 merchants at any time?
21 A      No, we don't receive communication
22 from Woodforest anyway.  Off the top of my
23 head I think Joe Montella told us that you
24 stopped accepting applications for replicas.
25 Q      Do you know approximately when that
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2 occurred?
3 A      I don't.  Going from this list I would
4 assume about the time that you guys received
5 the subpoena, there has been no more accounts
6 since then.
7 Q      Did you ever receive a communication
8 from anyone at Woodforest National Bank to
9 the effect that they thought any of the
10 merchandise being sold on The Bag Addiction
11 was counterfeit merchandise?
12 A      No.
13 Q      Are you aware of Woodforest National
14 Bank ever obtaining a handbag from The Bag
15 Addiction?
16 A      No.
17 Q      Going back to that list as I marked as
18 a recent exhibit --
19               MR. WENGROVSKY:  42 is the
20        handwritten list.
21 Q      Is it accurate to say that for all of
22 these different replica merchants that
23 Mr. Weigel took you through during that time
24 period dating from December 2006 through to
25 December 2007, during that time period, that
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2 as far as you're aware, none of the companies
3 whose products were -- replicas were being
4 sold ever had complained to the websites?
5 A      Had any of these companies received a
6 subpoena or a notice from Gucci?
7 Q      Yes or from any of the companies whose
8 products they said they were selling replicas
9 of and I would include a subpoena, a

10 Complaint, anything of that sort; were you
11 aware of any of that?
12 A      Not that I'm aware of.
13 Q      We have been talking about The Bag
14 Addiction, but if you go on Exhibit 10 to the
15 third page -- I was trying to locate the one
16 that would be The Bag Addiction for
17 Woodforest National Bank.  It's got the date
18 November 16, 2006, client WF Woodforest
19 application 781091 and it's listed as
20 Shopping Addiction.  Is that to your
21 understanding The Bag Addiction?
22 A      Yes.
23 Q      And now just to make that consistent,
24 would you look at Exhibit 38, which is the
25 application?  Does that have the same number
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2 on it as an application number?
3 A      781091 -- yes, it's the same.
4 Q      Do you have any understanding as to
5 why they are listed as Shopping Addiction
6 instead of The Bag Addiction?
7 A      I'm assuming they contacted the
8 processor to change their DBA name.
9 Q      It is your testimony, as far as you

10 know, the net profit made by Woodforest
11 National Bank from this entire venture in
12 processing credit card payments for The Bag
13 Addiction is something a little greater than
14 $16,000?
15 A      Correct.
16               MR. WEIGEL:  Objection.
17        Foundation.  Leading.
18 Q      Have you done a computation as to what
19 alleged profit Durango has made?
20 A      Yes, let me pull up the -- it's
21 Exhibit 26, shows Durango profit.
22 Q      Okay.  How much is it?
23 A      From Woodforest alone?
24 Q      Yes.
25 A      Woodforest residuals paid to Durango
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2 is 8,935; 533 paid out to Metro Merchant the
3 agent, 2,941 paid to Nathan Counley and 5,462
4 split with Shane and Bill.
5 Q      When Gucci asked Durango who were the
6 companies that were processing the credit
7 card payments, did Durango tell Gucci that it
8 was Woodforest and Frontline?
9 A      At what point in time?
10 Q      When a subpoena was issued and you
11 were requested to provide that information.
12 A      I cannot recall.
13 Q      Let me see if I can refresh memory.
14 Mark this Exhibit 43.
15               MR. WEIGEL:  Lacks foundation.
16               (Whereupon e-mail chain was
17        marked Counley Exhibit 43 for
18        identification as of this date.)
19 Q      Do you have Exhibit 43?  Dealing with
20 the first e-mail on Exhibit 43, do you see
21 that Shane Kairalla has advised Gucci's
22 counsel that Frontline and Woodforest are the
23 two processors?
24 A      Yes.
25 Q      As far as you know, did Woodforest
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1         THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  My name is Sean       10:28:48
2 Morella of Veritext.  Today's date is Tuesday,   10:29:07
3 June 29, 2010 and the time is approximately      10:29:10
4 10:29 a.m.  This deposition is being held at     10:29:15
5 25231 Grogan's Mill in The Woodlands, Texas.     10:29:19
6 The caption of this case is Gucci America,       10:29:25
7 Incorporated, versus Frontline Processing        10:29:29
8 Corporation, et al.  The name of the witness     10:29:31
9 is Mona Boykin.                                  10:29:34

10              At this time will the attorneys     10:29:38
11 identify themselves and the parties they         10:29:39
12 represent after which the court reporter,        10:29:41
13 Marie Bulfinch of Veritext, will swear in the    10:29:43
14 witness, and we can proceed.                     10:29:46
15         MR. WEIGEL:  Robert Weigel from          10:29:48
16 Gibson, Dunn and Crutcher for Plaintiff, Gucci   10:29:50
17 America, Inc.                                    10:29:53
18         MR. PARADISE:  Greg Paradise from        10:29:54
19 Lerner, David, Littenberg, Krumholtz and         10:29:54
20 Mentlik on behalf of Defendant, Woodforest       10:30:00
21 National Bank, and on behalf of the witness.     10:30:02
22         MR. VERNON:  I'm Charles Vernon.  I'm    10:30:05
23 general counsel, in-house counsel, for           10:30:07
24 Woodforest National Bank.                        10:30:09
25                   MONA BOYKIN                    10:30:09
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1 had been processed by an analyst to make sure    10:39:39
2 that procedure had been followed.                10:39:45
3    Q.   And then would you have to sign off on   10:39:57
4 certain applications?                            10:39:59
5    A.   Uh-huh.  Certain applications I would    10:40:00
6 have to -- to review it and sign my name.        10:40:05
7    Q.   And do you remember what types of        10:40:08
8 applications you had to sign off on?             10:40:11
9    A.   They were considered high-risk           10:40:12
10 accounts.  Level 2.                              10:40:15
11    Q.   What made an account a high-risk         10:40:22
12 account?                                         10:40:29
13    A.   Mostly it was Internet accounts of 51    10:40:29
14 percent or greater processing.                   10:40:35
15    Q.   So was a merchant automatically          10:40:45
16 considered to be a high-risk account if he had   10:40:49
17 more than 51 percent of his business over the    10:40:51
18 Internet?                                        10:40:53
19    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:40:54
20    Q.   You used the term Level 2.  What does    10:40:55
21 that mean?                                       10:41:03
22    A.   Level 1 was it was not considered a      10:41:05
23 high risk.  And Level 2 was it was considered    10:41:08
24 a high risk.                                     10:41:11
25    Q.   Okay.  Were there certain types of       10:41:13
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1 high-risk accounts that had to be registered     10:41:16
2 with MasterCard or Visa?                         10:41:19
3    A.   Yes, sir, there were.                    10:41:23
4    Q.   Were those characterized something       10:41:25
5 other than Level 2 high-risk accounts?           10:41:27
6    A.   I don't remember.  I just remember       10:41:30
7 they had to be registered.                       10:41:37
8    Q.   Okay.  Who did you report to?  Who was   10:41:41
9 your boss?                                       10:41:55

10    A.   The last time?                           10:41:59
11    Q.   The -- the last time.  I'm sorry,        10:42:01
12 ma'am, while you were -- while you were          10:42:03
13 supervisor in new accounts.                      10:42:04
14    A.   Okay.  It was Earl Baxter.               10:42:06
15    Q.   And what was Mr. Baxter's title?         10:42:11
16    A.   Manager, new accounts.                   10:42:14
17    Q.   And did you have people working under    10:42:16
18 you as a supervisor?                             10:42:26
19    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:42:27
20    Q.   And -- and who did you supervise?        10:42:28
21    A.   All their names?                         10:42:31
22    Q.   Well, any that you remember.             10:42:32
23    A.   Alva, Gerald --                          10:42:34
24         THE REPORTER:  Gerald?                   10:42:34
25         THE WITNESS:  Yes, ma'am.                10:42:34
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1    A.   Ietsa, Roberta and a couple more, but    10:43:06
2 I don't remember their names.                    10:43:13
3    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Okay.  Is Alva's last   10:43:15
4 name Keyser or Keyser (pronouncing), K-e-y --    10:43:19
5    A.   Keyser, Alva Keyser.                     10:43:22
6    Q.   Do you remember the last names of any    10:43:24
7 of the other people?                             10:43:26
8    A.   Not all of them, no, sir.                10:43:27
9    Q.   Okay.  Well, I have some documents.      10:43:36
10 Maybe -- maybe something will refresh your       10:43:39
11 recollection.                                    10:43:40
12              Can you walk me through the         10:43:45
13 process by which a new application came in to    10:43:46
14 your department and then what happened to it?    10:43:52
15    A.   It came in through the fax machine.      10:43:55
16 It was logged.  It was sent to the data-entry    10:43:59
17 area.  They feed the information into the        10:44:04
18 system.  From there, it went to an analyst to    10:44:10
19 be worked.                                       10:44:18
20    Q.   And then what happened after it went     10:44:25
21 to an analyst?                                   10:44:27
22    A.   The analyst would read -- begin to do    10:44:28
23 the basics of checking them to make sure the     10:44:33
24 information was complete, obtain the necessary   10:44:36
25 credit information to make a decision and ask    10:44:42
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1 any additional information that was necessary    10:44:51
2 to complete an application.                      10:44:53
3    Q.   Was there a special checklist that       10:45:00
4 applicants -- that the analysts had to fill      10:45:05
5 out with regard to Internet merchants?           10:45:07
6         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        10:45:09
7              You can answer.                     10:45:12
8    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:45:13
9    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Do you know when that   10:45:14
10 checklist was created?                           10:45:21
11    A.   I'm sure I don't.                        10:45:23
12    Q.   Okay.  Was it your job to make sure      10:45:28
13 that the analysts filled that form out every     10:45:33
14 time they took in a new account that was a       10:45:36
15 high-risk Internet merchant?                     10:45:39
16    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:45:41
17    Q.   And to the best of your ability, did     10:45:42
18 you make sure that in all instances it was       10:45:45
19 filled out?                                      10:45:45
20    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:45:46
21    Q.   So what would happen after the analyst   10:45:47
22 did what you just said they did?  What -- what   10:45:55
23 would happen next?                               10:45:58
24    A.   It could go in two directions.  Either   10:46:00
25 approved or declined.                            10:46:07
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1    Q.   Uh-huh.                                  10:46:07
2    A.   If it were approved, and it was not a    10:46:09
3 high-risk merchant, then it would just be        10:46:12
4 booked and given an account number, and the      10:46:15
5 salesman be notified.                            10:46:20
6              If it was a high-risk merchant,     10:46:23
7 then it would be coming to me, and I would be    10:46:26
8 reviewing it to make sure that what needed to    10:46:29
9 be done was completed.                           10:46:33
10    Q.   And did you have to sign -- sign off     10:46:38
11 on all high-risk Internet merchants?             10:46:40
12    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:46:43
13    Q.   Were there any other supervisors in      10:46:44
14 the new accounts?                                10:46:48
15    A.   Earl Baxter.  I mean -- other than       10:46:50
16 myself --                                        10:46:54
17    Q.   Right.                                   10:46:54
18    A.   --  that could make a decision?          10:46:55
19    Q.   Yes.                                     10:46:57
20    A.   Earl Baxter.                             10:46:57
21    Q.   Okay.  So there were the analysts at     10:46:58
22 the bottom, and then you were the supervisor,    10:47:01
23 and then Mr. Baxter was your boss?               10:47:02
24    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:47:04
25    Q.   And either you or Mr. Baxter had to      10:47:05
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1 sign off on any Internet accounts?               10:47:07
2    A.   That is correct.                         10:47:09
3    Q.   Okay.  Were there guidelines that were   10:47:10
4 given to you about accepting merchants, MCCS     10:47:27
5 guidelines?                                      10:47:37
6    A.   Rephrase that, if you don't mind.        10:47:38
7    Q.   Let -- let me do it a simple way.        10:47:39
8         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 1 marked.)           10:47:42
9    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Let me hand you         10:47:42
10 what's been marked as Exhibit 1.                 10:47:42
11         MR. PARADISE:  Thanks.                   10:47:42
12         MR. WEIGEL:  Thank you.                  10:47:42
13    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  First off, can you      10:48:16
14 just state for the record what Exhibit 1 is?     10:48:17
15    A.   Exhibit 1 is an e-mail from Deana        10:48:24
16 Sellens asking to review some information that   10:48:30
17 she has attached.                                10:48:33
18    Q.   Who was Deana Sellers -- Sellens?        10:48:36
19    A.   She was over the risk division and the   10:48:39
20 new accounts division.  She was like the third   10:48:44
21 person above us.                                 10:48:49
22    Q.   So she would have been Mr. Baxter's      10:48:51
23 boss?                                            10:48:54
24    A.   Yes.                                     10:48:55
25    Q.   Okay.  And it goes to a number of        10:48:56
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1 people.  It goes to -- is that Andrea Balfour?   10:49:00
2    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:49:09
3    Q.   Do you know who she is?                  10:49:09
4    A.   She was in the sales area that made      10:49:11
5 communications with the salesmen.                10:49:18
6    Q.   Okay.  And then the next person that     10:49:20
7 it was sent to was Mr. Baxter, and that was      10:49:22
8 your boss, correct?                              10:49:25
9    A.   Correct.                                 10:49:26

10    Q.   Then it went to Rhonda Lemos.  Do you    10:49:26
11 know who Ms. Lemos was or is?                    10:49:30
12    A.   The manager over the risk division.      10:49:31
13    Q.   So she used to be your boss when you     10:49:34
14 were an analyst --                               10:49:37
15    A.   At one time, yes, sir.                   10:49:38
16    Q.   Okay.                                    10:49:38
17         MR. PARADISE:  Just make sure you let    10:49:40
18 him finish his question.  It gets difficult      10:49:42
19 for the court reporter, if you're trying to      10:49:46
20 talk over each other.                            10:49:48
21         THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.                 10:49:49
22         MR. WEIGEL:  There is an art to this,    10:49:49
23 but you're doing just fine.                      10:49:51
24         MR. PARADISE:  I agree.                  10:49:53
25    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Marla Alcorn.  Do you   10:49:55
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1 know who she is?                                 10:49:59
2    A.   The supervisor over the risk division.   10:49:59
3    Q.   Okay.  And Larry Jones?  Do you know     10:50:04
4 who he is?                                       10:50:12
5    A.   Yes.  He's over the salesmen.            10:50:13
6    Q.   And Matt Ivy?  Do you know who he is?    10:50:19
7    A.   Matt was with us for a short period      10:50:22
8 before he moved to IT.  He and I used to have    10:50:25
9 the same job duties but not for very long.       10:50:29
10    Q.   So he was on the same level as you?      10:50:34
11    A.   (Nods head up and down.)                 10:50:37
12    Q.   But then he left the job and went        10:50:37
13 to --                                            10:50:40
14    A.   Left the job --                          10:50:40
15    Q.   -- information IT?                       10:50:41
16    A.   Uh-huh.  Yes.  Right down here.          10:50:42
17    Q.   And then, of course, the last person     10:50:44
18 is Mona Boykin, and that's you?                  10:50:47
19    A.   Uh-huh.  Correct.                        10:50:51
20    Q.   Please take a look at not only the       10:50:53
21 e-mail but the attachment and tell me if you     10:50:57
22 recognize that document.                         10:51:01
23    A.   I don't remember much about this.        10:51:04
24    Q.   Do you have any recollection of          10:52:03
25 reviewing it and giving comments back to         10:52:05
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1 application?                                     10:58:01
2    A.   From Deana.  This was written by         10:58:02
3 Deana.  And that's what we received to go by.    10:58:08
4    Q.   Okay.  And did you understand that       10:58:14
5 part of your job in reviewing the accounts was   10:58:16
6 to -- reviewing the applications was to          10:58:23
7 attempt to minimize the bank's losses?           10:58:28
8    A.   Yes, sir.                                10:58:31
9    Q.   What are the ways that a bank, that      10:58:33

10 Woodforest or -- or Delta Card Services could    10:58:41
11 lose money on an account?                        10:58:44
12         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        10:58:45
13    A.   There are -- are several ways.  It       10:58:51
14 could be a -- a merchant that was not doing      10:58:58
15 what he said he was going to be doing on the     10:59:02
16 initial application.  And we found out at a      10:59:05
17 later date that he was not -- not doing that.    10:59:09
18 And that would be considered a possible loss     10:59:14
19 for the bank.                                    10:59:20
20    Q.   Would the bank -- how would that         10:59:22
21 result in a loss, as you understand it?          10:59:25
22    A.   If you told me on your application you   10:59:28
23 were selling sunglasses, and it turned out you   10:59:31
24 were selling refrigerators, and the              10:59:34
25 refrigerator broke, well, there's -- that's an   10:59:37
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1 issue there.                                     10:59:41
2    Q.   Okay.  Now, when you -- when you are a   10:59:43
3 supervisor, were you involved in the             10:59:58
4 monitoring of the accounts?                      11:00:00
5    A.   No, sir.                                 11:00:01
6    Q.   Was that something you did when you      11:00:02
7 were in the Risk Department?                     11:00:04
8    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:00:06
9    Q.   Okay.  Let's look on -- if you could     11:00:07

10 just go down this page here.  It says,           11:00:21
11 "Restricted or prohibited merchants."            11:00:31
12              Do you see that?                    11:00:32
13    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:00:33
14    Q.   And under there it says, "MasterCard     11:00:34
15 and Visa will not allow their cards to be used   11:00:37
16 to process illegal transaction.  Product         11:00:40
17 services must be within all state and federal    11:00:43
18 laws."                                           11:00:46
19              Do you see that?                    11:00:48
20    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:00:48
21    Q.   And did you understand that to be the    11:00:49
22 case throughout the time that you worked as a    11:00:53
23 supervisor in the application --                 11:00:56
24    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:00:57
25    Q.   -- department?  I'd like to bring you    11:00:58
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1 down to the second to the last paragraph.  Do    11:01:19
2 you see it says, "MCCS maintains an open         11:01:23
3 credit policy and takes on many merchants when   11:01:26
4 other processors may not."                       11:01:32
5              Do you see that?                    11:01:34
6    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:01:35
7    Q.   Was that your understanding?             11:01:35
8    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:01:36
9    Q.   Do you know what sorts of merchants      11:01:37
10 that -- that MCCS took -- MCCS took on that      11:01:45
11 other processors might not take on?              11:01:50
12    A.   Sir, I don't know because I don't know   11:01:55
13 other processors' guidelines, so I couldn't      11:01:57
14 tell you.                                        11:02:00
15    Q.   Okay.  When you worked for the other     11:02:01
16 bank, were you involved at all in credit card    11:02:03
17 processing?                                      11:02:06
18    A.   Credit card.                             11:02:06
19    Q.   Texas Independent Bank?                  11:02:08
20    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:02:10
21    Q.   Now, would Texas Independent Bank take   11:02:10
22 on, for example, adult merchants?                11:02:14
23    A.   Take on what?                            11:02:17
24    Q.   Adult merchants.                         11:02:17
25    A.   This was credit card processing.  You    11:02:18
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1 applied for a Visa or a MasterCard credit        11:02:21
2 card.                                            11:02:25
3    Q.   I see.  I understand.                    11:02:25
4    A.   The merchant division was not            11:02:26
5 involved.  The bank.                             11:02:29
6    Q.   I understand that.  Thank you for        11:02:31
7 clarifying.  Did you understand that it was      11:02:33
8 your job to try and improve -- approve as many   11:02:40
9 new accounts as was prudent?                     11:02:45
10    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:02:50
11    Q.   Okay.  Did there come a time when you    11:02:51
12 began to see more applications from high-risk    11:03:15
13 merchants?                                       11:03:22
14    A.   No, sir.                                 11:03:22
15    Q.   So for the whole time that you worked    11:03:25
16 for Delta Card Services you -- there was no      11:03:27
17 change in whether you decided to take on more    11:03:32
18 or less high-risk merchants that you know of?    11:03:35
19    A.   No, sir.                                 11:03:38
20    Q.   All right.  I want you to turn, if you   11:03:39
21 would, ma'am, to page 26454 which has at the     11:03:52
22 head -- at the head, "Requirements for           11:03:57
23 submitting a merchants application."             11:03:59
24              Do you see that?                    11:04:01
25    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:04:02
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1    Q.   Are those the requirements that you      11:04:02
2 understood had to be complied with when you      11:04:17
3 were evaluating a -- a new application?          11:04:21
4    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:04:25
5    Q.   It indicates that for Web sites -- it    11:04:35
6 says, "Web sites associated with the merchant    11:04:42
7 will be reviewed for restricted contact" --      11:04:44
8 sorry -- "restricted content, contact            11:04:47
9 information and must state the refund policy."   11:04:51
10    A.   Yes.                                     11:04:56
11    Q.   Okay.  Did you require the analysts      11:04:56
12 who worked for you to actually go and look at    11:05:04
13 the Web sites of the merchants that were         11:05:07
14 applying, if they were an Internet merchant?     11:05:09
15    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:05:12
16    Q.   And did you expect that in all           11:05:12
17 instances they would do so?                      11:05:14
18    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:05:16
19    Q.   Could you turn the page to W6455.  And   11:05:29
20 this is again just a continuation of the         11:05:34
21 requirements for submitting a merchant           11:05:36
22 application, correct?                            11:05:38
23    A.   Okay.                                    11:05:39
24    Q.   The last boldface item says,             11:05:40
25 "Non-face-to-face environments must make         11:05:46
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1 sense."                                          11:05:50
2              First off, what are you referring   11:05:51
3 to when you say "non-face-to-face                11:05:53
4 environment"?                                    11:05:54
5    A.   It would be Internet, and you're not     11:05:55
6 at my counter making a sale.  And I'm not        11:05:58
7 giving you my credit card.                       11:06:01
8    Q.   Okay.  And how would you determine if,   11:06:04
9 for an Internet merchant, that the transaction   11:06:12
10 made sense?  Would you review the Web site?      11:06:15
11    A.   Review the -- yes, sir.                  11:06:19
12    Q.   Okay.  Now, the next page says, "Basic   11:06:21
13 underwriting."                                   11:06:38
14              Do you see that?                    11:06:39
15    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:06:40
16    Q.   And what did you understand basic        11:06:43
17 underwriting to mean?  Just generally.           11:06:46
18    A.   That you basically knew what you were    11:06:53
19 doing as an analyst.                             11:06:56
20    Q.   Okay.  And the purpose for the basic     11:06:58
21 underwriting is to ensure that the -- the        11:07:00
22 bank's losses were kept to a minimum?            11:07:05
23    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:07:08
24    Q.   They list five considerations up at      11:07:09
25 the top under basic underwriting.  What's the    11:07:12
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1 first consideration?                             11:07:16
2    A.   What is being sold.                      11:07:17
3    Q.   Why is that important?                   11:07:18
4    A.   There are certain articles that we did   11:07:19
5 not process.  You know, we -- we couldn't        11:07:24
6 allow you to buy a horse, so we had to make      11:07:27
7 sure that that was part of that, that that       11:07:30
8 wasn't -- he was a merchant.                     11:07:32
9    Q.   Do you remember what things you          11:07:35

10 wouldn't process?                                11:07:39
11    A.   No, sir.                                 11:07:42
12    Q.   There were certain types of              11:07:44
13 pornography that you wouldn't do, correct?       11:07:46
14    A.   Children underage, yes, sir.  Child      11:07:49
15 pornography.                                     11:07:54
16    Q.   Were you ever told that you could not    11:07:55
17 process accounts for merchants who were          11:08:05
18 selling counterfeit merchandise?                 11:08:08
19    A.   We didn't do counterfeit.  It would --   11:08:12
20 it would not be allowed.                         11:08:18
21    Q.   So counterfeit products would not be     11:08:19
22 allowed.                                         11:08:22
23    A.   That's correct.                          11:08:23
24    Q.   Do you distinguish between replica       11:08:24
25 products and counterfeit products?               11:08:29
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1    A.   At the time, no, sir.                    11:08:37
2    Q.   Let me direct your attention to the      11:08:50
3 next page.  It says, "If the merchant has a      11:08:58
4 Web site, an Internet review checklist must be   11:09:08
5 completed."                                      11:09:11
6              Do you see that?                    11:09:12
7    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:09:12
8    Q.   And it was your job as the anal- -- as   11:09:13
9 the supervisor of the analyst to make sure the   11:09:17
10 analyst completed the internet for new           11:09:17
11 checklists for each of the merchants; is that    11:09:22
12 correct?                                         11:09:23
13    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:09:23
14    Q.   And to complete that checklist, which    11:09:24
15 I'll get to in a minute, you actually had to     11:09:26
16 go to the Web site and look -- and look at       11:09:30
17 certain things, correct?                         11:09:31
18    A.   Say it again?                            11:09:32
19    Q.   In order to complete the Internet        11:09:33
20 review checklist, you had to go to the Web       11:09:35
21 site and look for certain things; is that        11:09:38
22 correct?                                         11:09:39
23    A.   I didn't do it.  The analyst actually    11:09:39
24 completed the process.                           11:09:42
25    Q.   I -- I understand.  But you knew that    11:09:43
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1 the analysts were required --                    11:09:44
2    A.   Yes.                                     11:09:44
3    Q.   -- to do it because it was your job to   11:09:45
4 make sure --                                     11:09:47
5    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:09:47
6    Q.   -- they did it, correct?                 11:09:48
7    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:09:49
8    Q.   And so in order to complete the          11:09:49
9 Internet review checklist, the analyst had to    11:09:51
10 go to the Web site; is that correct?             11:09:54
11    A.   That is correct.                         11:09:56
12    Q.   Okay.  And, again, it says, "If the      11:09:57
13 merchant is non-face-to-face, the analyst        11:10:01
14 looks at what is sold to ensure it makes         11:10:04
15 sense."                                          11:10:08
16              Do you see that?                    11:10:08
17    A.   Yes.                                     11:10:09
18    Q.   What -- what did you understand the      11:10:13
19 analyst was required to do there to make sure    11:10:17
20 that it made sense?                              11:10:19
21    A.   Well, if I told you I was doing          11:10:24
22 facials, and you were on the Internet, I         11:10:26
23 couldn't very well do a facial.  So it had to    11:10:28
24 make sense to us what they were selling.         11:10:33
25    Q.   Okay.                                    11:10:35
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1         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 2 marked.)           11:12:32
2    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Exhibit 2 is an         11:12:32
3 e-mail from Marla Alcorn to the Risk             11:12:35
4 Department.                                      11:12:38
5              Do you see that?                    11:12:38
6    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:12:40
7    Q.   And she attaches an e-mail from Matt     11:12:40
8 Ivy dated June 15, 2006.                         11:12:46
9              Do you see that?                    11:12:49

10    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:12:50
11    Q.   Okay.  In June of 2006 was Mr. Ivy       11:12:51
12 was -- was still sort of your contemporary,      11:12:59
13 was at your level in the new applications        11:13:02
14 department; is that correct?                     11:13:05
15    A.   Yes.                                     11:13:05
16    Q.   And did you and he work together?        11:13:07
17    A.   Say -- say that another way.             11:13:13
18    Q.   Sure.  Did you -- did you each keep      11:13:15
19 your -- keep each other informed as to what      11:13:21
20 the other was doing?                             11:13:23
21    A.   No.  We had different job duties.  He    11:13:23
22 was more of the Internet kind of guru guy.       11:13:26
23         THE REPORTER:  Internet what?            11:13:26
24         THE WITNESS:  Gu- -- Guru.               11:13:26
25         THE REPORTER:  Oh.                       11:13:26
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1         THE WITNESS:  Sorry.                     11:13:33
2    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  So he handled more      11:13:33
3 the Internet merchants?                          11:13:35
4    A.   No.  He handled the process of looking   11:13:37
5 on the Internet of what had been approved the    11:13:40
6 previous day to make sure that everything was    11:13:43
7 in place.                                        11:13:47
8    Q.   Would he review the applications that    11:13:50
9 you had already approved?                        11:13:53
10    A.   No, sir.                                 11:13:54
11    Q.   Would he -- he approve all the new       11:13:56
12 applications that dealt with Internet            11:14:02
13 merchants?                                       11:14:04
14    A.   No -- no, sir.                           11:14:05
15    Q.   What did he do that was different from   11:14:06
16 what you did?                                    11:14:08
17    A.   Okay.  What I was doing was signing      11:14:09
18 off that I agree with what had been done.        11:14:15
19 What Matt was doing was taking the information   11:14:17
20 that had -- we had signed off on, Internet had   11:14:21
21 been entered in the computer, and he was         11:14:25
22 making sure that all the actions had been        11:14:27
23 taken in the appropriate box to -- to fill it    11:14:30
24 in to make sure it was processed correctly.      11:14:33
25    Q.   Okay.  Now, his e-mail to Marla says,    11:14:37
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1 "I discussed the Internet merchant checklist     11:14:54
2 with Earl."                                      11:14:58
3              And Earl was your boss, correct?    11:14:59
4    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:15:01
5    Q.   And Mr. Ivy goes on, "We are having      11:15:02
6 our weekly meeting tomorrow.  We will instruct   11:15:04
7 everyone to use the checklist for any merchant   11:15:07
8 who wants to process any percentage on the       11:15:10
9 Internet."                                       11:15:13
10              Do you see that?                    11:15:14
11    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:15:14
12    Q.   Do you remember that rule being put in   11:15:15
13 place that the Internet-merchant checklist       11:15:17
14 should be filled out for any merchant who        11:15:20
15 wants to process any percentage on the           11:15:22
16 Internet?                                        11:15:25
17    A.   No, sir, I don't remember.               11:15:25
18    Q.   Is -- is that, in fact, the practice     11:15:27
19 or was that, in fact, the practice when you      11:15:28
20 worked at the bank?                              11:15:31
21    A.   I don't remember that, sir.              11:15:33
22    Q.   Okay.  Where do you -- you remember      11:15:35
23 using the Internet --                            11:15:39
24    A.   Checklist.                               11:15:41
25    Q.   -- checklist only for high-risk          11:15:42
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1 this and tell me if you recollect ever seeing    11:22:27
2 this previously.                                 11:22:30
3    A.   No, sir.                                 11:22:31
4    Q.   Do you remember anyone ever discussing   11:23:00
5 instituting a high-risk revenue merchant         11:23:08
6 program?                                         11:23:13
7         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        11:23:14
8    A.   I don't -- I wasn't involved in it,      11:23:15
9 sir.                                             11:23:18
10    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  All right.  I           11:23:18
11 understand that.  But did anyone ever tell you   11:23:19
12 that they were thinking about doing that?        11:23:21
13    A.   I don't -- I don't remember.             11:23:27
14    Q.   Okay.  Could you turn to the -- the      11:23:32
15 introductory slide?  The first sentence says,    11:23:36
16 "The term "high risk" often inspires dread,      11:23:49
17 doom and bad business.  The risks are great      11:23:52
18 and the opportunity for loss is always           11:23:58
19 present."                                        11:24:00
20              Do you see that?                    11:24:00
21    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:24:01
22    Q.   Do you agree with those statements?      11:24:02
23    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:24:04
24    Q.   Then goes on to say, "Through more       11:24:15
25 stringent application approval processes,        11:24:19
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1 upgraded monitoring and specialized analysts,    11:24:22
2 we believe we can not only manage this risk in   11:24:26
3 an effective way but can create an environment   11:24:28
4 in which we can flourish in this high-income     11:24:28
5 market."                                         11:24:28
6              Do you see that?                    11:24:35
7    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:24:35
8    Q.   Do you know what was -- what was meant   11:24:35
9 by the term, "More stringent application         11:24:37
10 approval process"?                               11:24:41
11    A.   I -- I don't.                            11:24:45
12    Q.   Okay.  Did you, in fact, have a more     11:24:47
13 stringent approval process for high-risk         11:25:01
14 merchants than you had for regular merchants?    11:25:05
15    A.   The Internet merchant would be your      11:25:07
16 high-risk merchant.  Yes, sir, we would have     11:25:10
17 more stringent -- we had a stronger guideline.   11:25:13
18    Q.   Okay.  Do you remember what the          11:25:17
19 additional guidelines were for higher-risk       11:25:21
20 merchants?                                       11:25:25
21    A.   We had the checklist and an              11:25:25
22 investigation of his Internet site.              11:25:38
23    Q.   And who conducted that investigation?    11:25:43
24    A.   The analyst that worked on the           11:25:46
25 application.                                     11:25:48
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1    Q.   Okay.  If you flip to the next page,     11:25:48
2 it says, "We know what you're thinking."  In     11:25:56
3 the second bullet the point is, "What will       11:26:03
4 people think of us," and the first thing says,   11:26:05
5 "The sales representatives will call us the      11:26:07
6 porn kings."                                     11:26:12
7              Do you see that?                    11:26:13
8    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:26:14
9    Q.   Did that ever happen?                    11:26:14

10    A.   I don't know.                            11:26:15
11    Q.   Woodforest did process a lot of          11:26:22
12 accounts -- oh, I'm sorry.  Delta Card           11:26:23
13 Services did approve a lot of accounts with      11:26:24
14 porn merchants; is that correct?                 11:26:26
15         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        11:26:29
16    A.   Say it another way for me.               11:26:30
17    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Yes.  You -- or Delta   11:26:31
18 Card Services did approve a lot of porn          11:26:39
19 merchants; is that correct?                      11:26:44
20         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        11:26:46
21    A.   I don't know how many we approved,       11:26:47
22 sir.  I -- I don't know.                         11:26:49
23    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  You didn't reject a     11:26:50
24 merchant just simply because they were selling   11:26:53
25 pornography, correct?                            11:26:55
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1    A.   No, sir.                                 11:26:56
2    Q.   It goes on to say, "The associations     11:26:58
3 will target us more, if that is possible."       11:27:01
4              Do you see that?                    11:27:04
5    A.   Yes, sir.                                11:27:05
6    Q.   Do you know what was -- who they were    11:27:05
7 referring to when they say, "the association"?   11:27:07
8    A.   Visa, MasterCard.                        11:27:09
9         THE REPORTER:  The what?                 11:27:09
10         THE WITNESS:  Visa, MasterCard.          11:27:18
11    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  And were the            11:27:18
12 associations targeting Woodforest or Delta       11:27:21
13 Card Services?                                   11:27:26
14    A.   I don't know that because I don't know   11:27:26
15 if this was initiated.                           11:27:29
16    Q.   Well, did you feel that they -- was      11:27:31
17 there a feeling at Delta Card Services or        11:27:34
18 Woodforest that you were being targeted by       11:27:37
19 MasterCard or Visa?                              11:27:39
20         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        11:27:41
21    A.   We just tried to follow the rules        11:27:43
22 that -- the guidelines that they gave us.        11:27:46
23 That's all -- just wanted to make sure the T's   11:27:49
24 were crossed and the I's were dotted.            11:27:51
25    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Did you ever have an    11:27:55
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1 do you remember or do you recollect having       12:31:32
2 reviewed Exhibit 8?                              12:31:34
3    A.   8?                                       12:31:36
4    Q.   Yes.                                     12:31:38
5    A.   No, sir.                                 12:31:39
6    Q.   Well, Exhibit 8 is an application from   12:31:43
7 the Laurette Company.                            12:31:47
8              Do you see that?                    12:31:49
9    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:31:50

10    Q.   And let me direct your attention to      12:31:51
11 the fifth page in.  I think the page before      12:32:05
12 that, ma'am.                                     12:32:19
13    A.   Okay.                                    12:32:23
14    Q.   And do you recognize that page?          12:32:24
15    A.   I do.                                    12:32:30
16    Q.   And what is it?                          12:32:31
17    A.   It's the page that was used when you     12:32:32
18 were making comments for additional              12:32:37
19 information that was needed and -- and say       12:32:40
20 that it would be approved or declined.           12:32:42
21    Q.   And is this -- is this a printed form    12:32:46
22 or was this on a computer screen?  Do you        12:32:52
23 remember?                                        12:32:55
24    A.   It was printed -- it was on the          12:32:55
25 computer screen, and when you got an             12:32:57
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1 application, you printed it out of the           12:33:00
2 computer screen.                                 12:33:03
3    Q.   Okay.  Do you see your handwriting on    12:33:04
4 that?                                            12:33:05
5    A.   I do.                                    12:33:05
6    Q.   And where is your handwriting?           12:33:06
7    A.   It's for in the top portion where it     12:33:07
8 says, "Need to confirm shipping and who's        12:33:12
9 signed for signature."  And then it's also       12:33:13

10 there again right below, "When you're in         12:33:17
11 business."  It was a high-risk Internet and      12:33:24
12 guaranteed signatures.                           12:33:31
13    Q.   Okay.  And is that -- that's your        12:33:31
14 signature underneath Mona?                       12:33:34
15    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:33:35
16    Q.   Okay.  Let's go to the first comment.    12:33:36
17 "Need to conform" -- is that what it says?       12:33:43
18    A.   It's confirm.                            12:33:45
19    Q.   Confirm.  What does that mean?           12:33:46
20    A.   When you -- you get your merchandise,    12:33:48
21 if you're an Internet merchant, if it was        12:33:55
22 something that we just needed to confirm that    12:33:58
23 it was coming to you as a cardholder and not     12:34:01
24 being shipped to an off site and then            12:34:06
25 distributed to you.                              12:34:10
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1              So we just needed to confirm that   12:34:11
2 we had a confirmation of the signature of        12:34:13
3 where it was sent.                               12:34:16
4    Q.   So you were insisting that the           12:34:17
5 merchant make sure that they got a signature     12:34:20
6 when they shipped the goods?                     12:34:24
7    A.   Uh-huh.  As proof that they had          12:34:25
8 received the merchandise.                        12:34:28
9    Q.   And so how did you -- how did you --     12:34:32

10 did you convey that information to the           12:34:38
11 merchant?                                        12:34:39
12    A.   No.  I would have given that back to     12:34:40
13 Alvin -- Alva, and she would have confirmed      12:34:43
14 with the merchant that his procedure was in      12:34:45
15 line with what we were looking for.              12:34:48
16    Q.   Okay.  And then this other handwriting   12:34:50
17 that you wrote, "One year in business,"          12:34:55
18 correct?                                         12:34:56
19    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:34:57
20    Q.   Why is that important?                   12:34:58
21    A.   The least amount of time that you have   12:35:00
22 in business is -- is considered a risk factor.   12:35:06
23 The longer that you are in business the better   12:35:10
24 risk factor.                                     12:35:13
25    Q.   Okay.  Then it says, "High-risk          12:35:15
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1 Internet."                                       12:35:17
2              Do you see that?                    12:35:17
3    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:35:18
4    Q.   What does that mean?                     12:35:19
5    A.   He had had 51 percent of his             12:35:21
6 merchandise that was coming over the Internet    12:35:27
7 or was all Internet.                             12:35:30
8    Q.   And then the last item is "Guaranteed    12:35:36
9 signature."                                      12:35:40
10              Is that what it says?               12:35:40
11    A.   The -- the -- the merchant would have    12:35:43
12 had totalled out of that he's going to           12:35:46
13 guarantee that he gets the signature from the    12:35:49
14 article that was shipped, so we got proof that   12:35:51
15 something was received.                          12:35:56
16    Q.   Okay.  There's some other writing on     12:35:57
17 this page.                                       12:36:01
18              Do you see it?                      12:36:02
19    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:36:02
20    Q.   It says, "rollover"?                     12:36:03
21    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:36:04
22    Q.   And can you read the next word?          12:36:06
23    A.   I do see a word.                         12:36:08
24    Q.   Would that be Patriot Act?               12:36:11
25    A.   It does look like it.                    12:36:14
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1 objections are really inappropriate.             12:55:18
2         MR. PARADISE:  No.  What's really        12:55:19
3 inappropriate is you misleading this witness     12:55:20
4 and trying to take advantage of her in this      12:55:22
5 deposition.                                      12:55:24
6         MR. WEIGEL:  I'm truly not attempting    12:55:25
7 to mislead this witness.                         12:55:27
8         MR. PARADISE:  So you're refusing to     12:55:28
9 qualify whether you're asking her today or       12:55:31

10 asking her in 2006.                              12:55:32
11         MR. WEIGEL:  Counsel, you can ask        12:55:34
12 questions when it's your turn.                   12:55:34
13         MR. PARADISE:  But you're refusing to    12:55:36
14 clarify the question.                            12:55:38
15         MR. WEIGEL:  Yes.                        12:55:39
16         MR. PARADISE:  Fine.                     12:55:39
17              You can answer the question, if     12:55:40
18 you understand it.                               12:55:41
19    A.   Apparently, I don't understand it.       12:55:42
20    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Do you see here that    12:55:45
21 there are several printouts of Rolex watches?    12:55:47
22    A.   Yes, sir.                                12:55:51
23    Q.   And you understand now, as you sit       12:55:52
24 here today, those watches were not -- were       12:55:53
25 being made in China?                             12:55:57
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1         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        12:55:58
2    A.   I thought China was just strictly the    12:56:00
3 place that they were being shipped from, sir.    12:56:03
4    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Okay.  Did you know     12:56:06
5 at the time you approved this account one way    12:56:13
6 or another whether these were real Rolex         12:56:15
7 watches and real Gucci handbags or not that      12:56:18
8 this Web site was selling?                       12:56:21
9    A.   As far as we knew, they were a product   12:56:25
10 of -- of Gucci.  And China was just their        12:56:28
11 destination where they're coming from.           12:56:36
12    Q.   Now, it would be a cause for concern     12:56:38
13 for the bank, would it not, if the Web site      12:56:49
14 was selling fake Gucci products and not          12:56:52
15 adequately disclosing that to its customers      12:56:57
16 because that would result in a lot of            12:57:00
17 chargebacks, wouldn't it?                        12:57:02
18         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        12:57:03
19    A.   For Delta Card it would have -- it       12:57:05
20 would have to show that this product is the      12:57:07
21 product that they are asking us to process       12:57:11
22 as a -- as a merchant for them.                  12:57:15
23              I don't know how else to answer     12:57:28
24 you.                                             12:57:30
25    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Let's -- let's go       12:57:30
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1 back a little bit.  If somebody was selling      12:57:31
2 fake Gucci products and passing them off to      12:57:37
3 their customers as real Gucci products, that     12:57:43
4 would be a concern for Delta Card Services and   12:57:46
5 Woodforest because that could result in a lot    12:57:50
6 of chargebacks; isn't that correct?              12:57:53
7         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        12:57:55
8    A.   We would -- we would not have put        12:57:56
9 anything on that was considered fake and so      12:57:59
10 state -- stated the word fake.                   12:58:02
11    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Would you -- suppose    12:58:09
12 someone was selling a replica product, a         12:58:11
13 product made to look like a Gucci product with   12:58:14
14 the Gucci trademark on it and passing that off   12:58:17
15 as a real Gucci product.                         12:58:21
16              Would that be a cause for concern   12:58:24
17 for Woodforest and Delta Card Services --        12:58:26
18         MR. PARADISE:  Objection, form.          12:58:26
19    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  -- that would have      12:58:30
20 resulted in chargebacks?                         12:58:30
21         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        12:58:31
22    A.   Okay.  Say it another way for me, if     12:58:36
23 you don't mind.                                  12:58:43
24    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Certainly, ma'am.  If   12:58:43
25 somebody was selling -- an Internet merchant     12:58:46
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1 was selling replica Gucci products, products     12:58:49
2 made to look like Gucci products with Gucci      12:58:53
3 trademarks on them, and not telling their        12:58:56
4 customers that they were not real products,      12:58:59
5 that would be a cause for concern, wouldn't      12:59:03
6 it, because it could result in many              12:59:06
7 chargebacks when customers got the product and   12:59:08
8 realized it wasn't an original?                  12:59:11
9    A.   If would --                              12:59:12
10         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        12:59:12
11    A.   It would have to so state that, that     12:59:14
12 it was a replica.                                12:59:16
13    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  If it did state that    12:59:17
14 it was a replica product, would that give you    12:59:19
15 any cause for concern?                           12:59:21
16    A.   It would require more investigation.     12:59:24
17    Q.   Why would it require more                12:59:26
18 investigation?                                   12:59:28
19    A.   To get proper signatures to make sure    12:59:29
20 it was coming to the right person, to make       12:59:31
21 sure that the item that they were purchasing     12:59:34
22 was what was on the -- the Web site.             12:59:36
23    Q.   Did anyone ever tell you that there      12:59:40
24 was no difference between replica products and   12:59:43
25 counterfeit products?                            12:59:45
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1    A.   We actually didn't talk about that       12:59:49
2 stuff more than -- I don't know -- very          12:59:52
3 rarely.                                          12:59:59
4    Q.   Well, on the rare occasions you did      13:00:00
5 talk about it, what did you say?                 13:00:02
6    A.   We didn't process fakes.  If it was      13:00:03
7 something so stated that it was a replica, and   13:00:07
8 the cardholder understood what he was            13:00:13
9 purchasing, that would be another process --     13:00:15
10 that would be another process that he would go   13:00:19
11 through.                                         13:00:22
12    Q.   If the -- as far as you were             13:00:26
13 concerned, if the Web site stated that they      13:00:31
14 were selling replicas, and they weren't          13:00:33
15 originals, then that was okay, and you could     13:00:36
16 approve the account?                             13:00:38
17    A.   If it was so stated.                     13:00:39
18    Q.   Okay.  Now, I think we looked at a lot   13:00:41
19 of things -- strike that.                        13:00:47
20              I think the first item that we      13:00:50
21 looked at under the underwriting standards was   13:00:53
22 to know the product that they were selling; is   13:00:56
23 that correct?                                    13:00:58
24    A.   That was the product that they were      13:00:58
25 selling was what was listed on the original      13:01:01
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1 application.                                     13:01:04
2    Q.   And you expected that Alva reviewed      13:01:04
3 the Web site to determine what products these    13:01:09
4 folks were selling; correct?                     13:01:12
5    A.   That is correct.                         13:01:14
6    Q.   And you didn't believe that the          13:01:14
7 handbags that they were selling for $190 when    13:01:19
8 the real handbag was selling for $1500 was a     13:01:32
9 real Gucci handbag, did you?                     13:01:36
10         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        13:01:38
11    A.   I'm not a Gucci girl.  It just -- if     13:01:41
12 it was stated as designer handbags, that was     13:01:51
13 designer handbags.  We would not know that it    13:01:54
14 was 100 percent Gucci made and Gucci shipped     13:01:59
15 and Gucci invoiced or whatever.  We're just      13:02:01
16 looking at it -- what little handbag was on      13:02:07
17 sale here for $195.                              13:02:09
18    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Well, as a woman who    13:02:16
19 carries a handbag, you know that you can't buy   13:02:19
20 a real Gucci handbag for $195, don't you?        13:02:23
21         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        13:02:26
22    A.   I've never priced them, sir.  I don't    13:02:27
23 know.                                            13:02:31
24    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Do you know if this     13:02:34
25 Web site disclosed that they were selling        13:02:36
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1 replica products?                                13:02:38
2    A.   If it were closed?                       13:02:39
3    Q.   No, did the Web site state clearly on    13:02:41
4 the Web site that they were selling replica      13:02:43
5 products?                                        13:02:46
6    A.   I don't know that.                       13:02:48
7    Q.   Would you expect that Alva would have    13:02:49
8 reviewed the Web site to determine if, in        13:02:52
9 fact, they adequately disclosed that they were   13:02:56
10 selling replica products?                        13:02:59
11         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        13:03:00
12    A.   Yes, sir.                                13:03:02
13    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  And do you expect       13:03:02
14 that Alva would not have approved the Web site   13:03:04
15 if they were selling replica products, and       13:03:10
16 they did not disclose it?                        13:03:13
17    A.   She would not have, sir.                 13:03:15
18    Q.   Okay.  Do you know what these numbers    13:03:17
19 are on the bottom of the Exhibit 8?              13:03:21
20    A.   That's a number that you go through      13:03:26
21 once an account has been approved.  As you go    13:03:30
22 in on a prescreen and list all the               13:03:35
23 information, it will tell you if this merchant   13:03:38
24 has ever been terminated for being bad.          13:03:40
25    Q.   And is that an internal number for --    13:03:50
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1    A.   The system --                            13:03:55
2    Q.   --  Delta Card Services?                 13:03:57
3    A.   The system actually spits back that      13:03:58
4 number to you once you've keyed the              13:04:01
5 information into the system.                     13:04:03
6    Q.   Okay.  Did anyone ever tell you that     13:04:06
7 the Bag Addiction Web site disclosed on its      13:04:29
8 face that it was selling products that were      13:04:30
9 not original Gucci products?                     13:04:32

10    A.   No, sir, not to my knowledge.            13:04:33
11    Q.   Would you be surprised, as you sit       13:04:35
12 here today, that they did say on the Web site    13:04:43
13 that they sell -- that they did disclose on      13:04:45
14 the Web site that they were selling replica      13:04:48
15 products?                                        13:04:50
16         MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.        13:04:50
17    A.   We would not have known if that came     13:04:55
18 in later or whether the Risk Department had      13:04:57
19 been checking on it, we -- we don't know that    13:05:01
20 once we sign off on approvals.                   13:05:03
21    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Okay.  Now, turning     13:05:06
22 to the page with the Rolex watches on it.        13:05:15
23    A.   Okay.                                    13:05:18
24    Q.   Do you see that they were selling a      13:05:19
25 Rolex watch that was advertised as a list        13:05:28
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1    Q.   And can you tell here whether this       13:16:41
2 application was approved or not?                 13:16:45
3    A.   No, sir.                                 13:16:46
4    Q.   Okay.                                    13:16:46
5         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 11 marked.)          13:18:05
6    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Can you identify        13:18:05
7 Exhibit 10, please?                              13:18:06
8         MR. PARADISE:  10 or 11.                 13:18:10
9         MR. WEIGEL:  Are we on 11 already?       13:18:12
10         MR. PARADISE:  Yes.                      13:18:14
11    A.   I've not seen the application before.    13:18:25
12    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  And this was at a       13:18:28
13 time when you were still working at the bank;    13:18:29
14 is that correct?                                 13:18:36
15    A.   That is --                               13:18:36
16    Q.   And --                                   13:18:38
17    A.   -- correct.                              13:18:38
18    Q.   -- this merchant is advertising that     13:18:44
19 it is selling replica bags.                      13:18:45
20              Do you see that?                    13:18:47
21    A.   I do see that.                           13:18:48
22    Q.   And can you tell whether this merchant   13:18:50
23 was approved or not?                             13:19:11
24    A.   No, sir.                                 13:19:12
25         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 12 marked.)          13:20:02
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1    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  I've handed you         13:20:02
2 what's been marked as Exhibit 12.  And that is   13:20:04
3 an application report for a sales                13:20:14
4 representative named Nathan Counley.             13:20:20
5              Have you ever seen reports like     13:20:25
6 this before?                                     13:20:27
7    A.   This must be something that the          13:20:27
8 salespeople get.                                 13:20:35
9    Q.   Okay.  Well, if you would take a look    13:20:37
10 at the list, you'll see it's chronological.      13:20:50
11 If you would go to December of 2006 --           13:20:53
12    A.   Okay.                                    13:20:58
13    Q.   -- which is on page 888.                 13:20:59
14              Do you see that?                    13:21:03
15    A.   Okay.                                    13:21:03
16    Q.   Do you see Lee Luxury Bags on December   13:21:04
17 5th, 2006?                                       13:21:08
18    A.   I do.                                    13:21:10
19    Q.   And Lee Luxury Lines, the same date?     13:21:13
20    A.   I do.                                    13:21:16
21    Q.   Now, does that refresh your              13:21:16
22 recollection in any way that you approved this   13:21:18
23 account?                                         13:21:20
24    A.   No, sir.                                 13:21:21
25    Q.   Do you have any reason to doubt that     13:21:25
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1 you approved this account?                       13:21:27
2    A.   That I remember, I -- (Shakes head       13:21:28
3 side to side.)                                   13:21:34
4    Q.   If you did -- at this point in time,     13:21:34
5 would any Internet merchants have been           13:21:41
6 approved by you?                                 13:21:45
7    A.   In 2006?                                 13:21:48
8    Q.   Yes.                                     13:21:49
9    A.   Yes, sir.  That would've been a          13:21:50

10 sign-off on my part.                             13:21:53
11    Q.   Okay.  Now, did any of your superiors    13:21:55
12 ever tell you that you should not approve        13:21:58
13 replica products?                                13:22:01
14    A.   We just never talked about that, sir.    13:22:04
15    Q.   Okay.  No one ever said you shouldn't    13:22:07
16 approve replica products?                        13:22:09
17    A.   No, sir.                                 13:22:10
18    Q.   Okay.  Did you receive any training      13:22:11
19 from the bank regarding your job as              13:22:18
20 supervisor?                                      13:22:24
21    A.   For Delta Card?                          13:22:25
22    Q.   Yes.                                     13:22:26
23    A.   You mean, from Delta Card?               13:22:27
24    Q.   Yes.                                     13:22:29
25    A.   Delta Card hired me on the myriad of     13:22:30
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1 my past experience through data processing.  I   13:22:37
2 didn't receive special training, if that's       13:22:40
3 your question.                                   13:22:42
4    Q.   Okay.                                    13:22:43
5         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 13 marked.)          13:23:23
6    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  I've handed you,        13:23:23
7 ma'am, what's been marked as Exhibit 12.         13:23:25
8         MR. PARADISE:  I think 13 now.           13:23:27
9         THE WITNESS:  13?                        13:23:29

10         MR. WEIGEL:  Excuse me.  Exhibit 13.     13:23:29
11    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  And Exhibit 13 is an    13:23:31
12 application from ThePurseBoutique.com.           13:23:34
13              Do you see that?                    13:23:37
14    A.   I do.                                    13:23:39
15    Q.   And this was submitted on February       13:23:41
16 6th, 2007.  And you can see that this is a       13:23:52
17 more complete application than some of the       13:23:56
18 other ones we've looked at.                      13:23:58
19              Do you see that?                    13:24:00
20    A.   Yes, sir.                                13:24:01
21    Q.   Could you turn to page 573?              13:24:02
22    A.   I'm there.                               13:24:15
23    Q.   It -- this was around the time you       13:24:17
24 retired; is that correct?                        13:24:19
25    A.   Yes, sir.                                13:24:20
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1    A.   I do not.                                13:37:54
2    Q.   Do you see that right before you check   13:37:59
3 out on this Web site it says, "Learn all about   13:38:05
4 our replica watches."  If you turn to the        13:38:07
5 second page, do you see that on the left-hand    13:38:10
6 side of the page there, under info center?       13:38:27
7    A.   I've seen info -- info box.              13:38:30
8    Q.   Do you see where it says, "Payment       13:38:39
9 method credit card"?                             13:38:41
10    A.   Oh, yes, I do.                           13:38:44
11    Q.   If you look right to the left of it,     13:38:46
12 do you see it says, "Learn all about our         13:38:48
13 replica watches"?                                13:38:50
14    A.   I do now.                                13:38:51
15    Q.   And, of course, the name of this         13:38:52
16 applicant was Discount Replicas, correct?        13:38:56
17    A.   Yes.                                     13:38:59
18    Q.   And if you -- if you turn to Exhibit     13:39:14
19 12 now, which is the application report for      13:39:16
20 Mr. Counley?                                     13:39:22
21    A.   Okay.                                    13:39:23
22    Q.   The one that was organized               13:39:24
23 chronologically.  If you look at November of     13:39:27
24 2006 --                                          13:39:37
25    A.   Okay.                                    13:39:38
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1    Q.   -- you can see that Discount Replicas    13:39:38
2 was, in fact, approved?                          13:39:41
3    A.   I do see it.                             13:39:42
4    Q.   Do you believe that you participated     13:39:44
5 in that decision?                                13:39:46
6    A.   I don't remember, sir.                   13:39:48
7    Q.   Okay.  Do you have any reason to doubt   13:39:50
8 that you would have to have been the one to      13:39:52
9 have approved that Web site?                     13:39:53

10    A.   I don't know.  I mean it could have      13:39:55
11 been one where I -- or Earl.  I mean, I don't    13:39:59
12 know.                                            13:40:04
13    Q.   Okay.                                    13:40:04
14     (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 15 marked.)              13:40:36
15    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Ma'am, I'm handing      13:40:43
16 you an exhibit which is an e-mail from Rhonda    13:40:45
17 Lemos to Larry Jones and Larry --                13:40:49
18    A.   Petru.                                   13:40:53
19    Q.   -- Petru.                                13:40:53
20              Do you see that?                    13:40:54
21    A.   Yes, sir.                                13:40:55
22    Q.   It says, "I just received an update      13:40:58
23 from Kevin with G2."                             13:41:01
24              Do you see that?                    13:41:05
25    A.   I do.                                    13:41:06
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1    Q.   Did you have any dealings with an        13:41:06
2 organization known as G2?                        13:41:10
3    A.   No, sir.                                 13:41:12
4    Q.   Do you know if they were used by Delta   13:41:13
5 Card Services at the time you were employed by   13:41:20
6 them?                                            13:41:22
7    A.   I don't know them.                       13:41:22
8    Q.   Okay.  Do you see at the bottom it       13:41:24
9 says -- well, at the top they talk about         13:41:32
10 something called a BRAM violation, B-R-A-M?      13:41:36
11    A.   I don't know what that is.               13:41:51
12    Q.   You don't know what that is?             13:41:53
13    A.   No, sir.                                 13:41:54
14    Q.   At the bottom it says, "BRAM includes    13:41:55
15 child pornography, illegal sales of              13:42:00
16 prescription drugs, tobacco products or both,    13:42:02
17 sale of counterfeit merchandise or other         13:42:07
18 violation of intellectual property rights and    13:42:08
19 depiction of bestiality, rape, mutilation and    13:42:10
20 the like."                                       13:42:14
21              Do you see that?                    13:42:15
22    A.   I do.                                    13:42:15
23    Q.   Does that refresh your recollection in   13:42:16
24 any way as to what BRAM is?                      13:42:19
25    A.   Yes, sir.                                13:42:20
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1    Q.   What is BRAM?                            13:42:21
2    A.   These are things that we normally        13:42:22
3 would not have approved for our merchant.        13:42:26
4    Q.   And were those rules in place when you   13:42:35
5 were employed by Delta Card Services?            13:42:39
6    A.   Yeah, we didn't do the bestiality,       13:42:42
7 rape and all that stuff.                         13:42:46
8    Q.   Okay.  How about sales of counterfeit    13:42:47
9 merchandise or other violation of intellectual   13:42:49

10 property?                                        13:42:52
11    A.   We -- we wouldn't have done any of       13:42:53
12 this, sir.                                       13:42:54
13    Q.   Okay.                                    13:42:54
14         (BOYKIN Exhibit No. 16 marked.)          13:43:23
15    Q.   (BY MR. WEIGEL)  Exhibit 16 is an        13:43:23
16 e-mail that was sent in May of 2008 from         13:43:25
17 Mr. Rivera to the apps department.               13:43:30
18              Do you see that?                    13:43:33
19    A.   Uh-huh.                                  13:43:34
20    Q.   This happened after you'd retired,       13:43:34
21 correct?                                         13:43:36
22    A.   That's correct.                          13:43:36
23    Q.   Okay.  Did you ever work with            13:43:40
24 Mr. Rivera?                                      13:43:41
25    A.   No, sir.                                 13:43:42
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1 recollection of having reviewed this             14:01:07
2 application?                                     14:01:10
3    A.   Not today, no, sir.                      14:01:11
4    Q.   It's just your understanding that        14:01:13
5 based on your job position and your              14:01:15
6 handwriting on the document that --              14:01:18
7    A.   Yes, sir.                                14:01:18
8    Q.   -- you would have reviewed it?           14:01:20
9    A.   Yes, sir.                                14:01:21
10    Q.   But you have no --                       14:01:21
11         MR. WEIGEL:  Objection, leading.         14:01:21
12    Q.   (BY MR. PARADISE)  But you have no       14:01:23
13 recollection today?                              14:01:24
14         MR. WEIGEL:  Leading.  Objection.        14:01:25
15    A.   No, sir.                                 14:01:27
16    Q.   (BY MR. PARADISE)  Now, you said         14:01:27
17 earlier -- strike that.                          14:01:29
18              In 2006 would you have approved     14:01:36
19 this application if you knew that this           14:01:40
20 merchant was selling counterfeit products?       14:01:41
21    A.   No, sir.                                 14:01:44
22    Q.   Would you have approved this             14:01:46
23 application if you knew that they were selling   14:01:47
24 illegal products?                                14:01:50
25    A.   No, sir.                                 14:01:51
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1    Q.   At this time in -- in late 2006, did     14:01:52
2 you think there was anything wrong with a        14:02:00
3 merchant selling replica products if they        14:02:02
4 identified the products as being replicas?       14:02:05
5    A.   As long as it was so described in        14:02:08
6 their Web site.                                  14:02:10
7    Q.   Then it was okay?                        14:02:11
8    A.   Uh-huh.                                  14:02:12
9    Q.   Now, there's also some questions         14:02:13
10 earlier that whether you knew that Laurette      14:02:19
11 was selling Gucci handbags.                      14:02:24
12              Do you remember that -- those       14:02:27
13 questions?                                       14:02:28
14    A.   Not really.                              14:02:29
15    Q.   Do you, sitting here today, do you       14:02:32
16 have any idea as to what Laurette was selling?   14:02:35
17    A.   Today I do by looking at this.           14:02:38
18    Q.   Do you have a recollection of what you   14:02:42
19 knew in 2006 about this application?             14:02:47
20    A.   No, sir.                                 14:02:51
21    Q.   Let me ask you to pull out Exhibit 4,    14:02:59
22 which is the slide presentation that you         14:03:04
23 looked at earlier.                               14:03:06
24    A.   Yes, sir.                                14:03:08
25    Q.   If a high-risk revenue merchant          14:03:09
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1 program like described in this document had      14:03:14
2 been implemented at any time while you were      14:03:18
3 working for Delta Card, do you believe that      14:03:21
4 you would have known about it?                   14:03:24
5    A.   I believe so.                            14:03:26
6    Q.   And why do you believe you would have    14:03:29
7 known about it?                                  14:03:32
8    A.   Because I was a part of the approval     14:03:32
9 process.                                         14:03:35
10    Q.   Is it your understanding that you were   14:03:37
11 generally aware of policies relating to          14:03:39
12 applications for merchant accounts at Delta      14:03:43
13 Card?                                            14:03:47
14         MR. WEIGEL:  Objection, leading.         14:03:47
15    A.   I -- I knew -- I may not know all the    14:03:49
16 things in a policy or procedure, but I could     14:03:53
17 go to it and pull it out if someone were to      14:03:56
18 ask me:  Look at this; what do you think, or     14:03:58
19 something like that.                             14:04:01
20              But as -- as far as the             14:04:02
21 day-to-day do I know all of this?  No.  Did I    14:04:04
22 know all of that?  No, I didn't.                 14:04:07
23    Q.   (BY MR. PARADISE)  Do you have any       14:04:11
24 knowledge of a high-risk revenue merchant        14:04:13
25 program ever being implemented by Delta Card?    14:04:16

129

1    A.   No, sir.  Not unless it was started      14:04:19
2 after I left.  I don't remember.                 14:04:22
3    Q.   Okay.                                    14:04:27
4         MR. PARADISE:  I have no further         14:04:27
5 questions.                                       14:04:28
6         MR. WEIGEL:  Thank you very much,        14:04:29
7 ma'am.                                           14:04:30
8         THE WITNESS:  You're welcome.            14:04:31
9         THE VIDEOGRAPHER:  Off the record.       14:04:32
10 The time is 2:05.                                14:04:33
11         (Deposition proceedings concluded at     14:04:36
12 2:05 p.m.)
13
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1

2 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

-------------------------------------------X
3 GUCCI AMERICA, INC.,

                          PLAINTIFF,
4

        -against-
5

FRONTLINE PROCESSING CORP.; WOODFOREST
6 NATIONAL BANK, DURANGO MERCHANT LLC d/b/a

NATIONAL BANKCARD SYSTEMS OF DURANGO; ABC
7 COMPANIES; and JOHN DOES.
8

                          DEFENDANT.
9 -------------------------------------------X

              DATE:  June 25, 2010
10               TIME:  8:35 a.m.
11

12         EXAMINATION BEFORE TRIAL of WOODFOREST
13 NATIONAL BANK, by a 30(b)6 witness, RHONDA
14 LEMOS, taken by the Plaintiff, pursuant to a
15 Notice, held at the offices of LERNER, DAVID,
16 LITTENBERG, KRUMHOLZ & MENTLIK, LLP, 600
17 South Avenue West, Westfield, New Jersey
18 07090.
19

20

21 REPORTED BY:  Rebecca Schaumloffel, RPR
22 JOB #:  31518
23

24

25
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1
2 A P P E A R A N C E S:
3
4    GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP

        Attorneys for the Plaintiff
5         200 Park Avenue

        New York, New York 10166
6         BY:  ANNE M. COYLE, ESQ.

             Acoyle@gibsondunn.com
7              JENNIFER COLGAN HALTER, ESQ.

             Jhalter@gibsondunn.com
8
9

10
   LERNER, DAVID, LITTENBERG, KRUMHOLZ &

11    MENTLIK, LLP
        Attorneys for the Defendant

12         Woodforest National Bank
        600 South Avenue West

13         Westfield, New Jersey 07090
        BY:  GREGG A. PARADISE, ESQ.

14              Gparadise@ldlkm.com
15
16
17

   ALSO PRESENT:
18
19

        Cedrick Frazier, Esq.
20
21

        *          *         *
22
23
24
25
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2  R H O N D A     L E M O S, called as a
3  witness, having been first duly sworn by a
4  Notary Public of the State of New York, was
5  examined and testified as follows:
6  EXAMINATION BY
7  MS. COYLE:
8       Q.   Please state your name for the
9 record.

10       A.   Rhonda Lemos.
11       Q.   Where do you reside?
12       A.   2307 Cranberry, Spring, Texas
13 77373.
14       Q.   Good morning.  Would you please
15 state your name for the record?
16       A.   Rhonda Lemos.
17       Q.   Since the court reporter is
18 transcribing our conversation, I will ask you
19 to please give verbal answers.  If you nod or
20 point, it won't be recorded.  I am sure the
21 Court Reporter will also remind you.  If you
22 don't hear my question, ask me to repeat the
23 question; and if you don't understand a
24 question, please let me know that you don't
25 understand the question.
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1
2             FEDERAL STIPULATIONS
3
4
5         IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND AGREED
6 by and between the attorneys for the
7 respective parties herein, that filing and
8 sealing be and the same are hereby waived.
9

10
11         IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED
12 that all objections, except as to the form of
13 the question, shall be reserved to the time
14 of the trial.
15
16         IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND AGREED
17 that the within deposition may be sworn to
18 and signed before any officer authorized to
19 administer an oath, with the same force and
20 effect as if signed and sworn to before the
21 Court.
22
23
24
25
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2            Do you understand that your
3 testimony must be truthful and is subject to
4 the penalties of perjury?
5       A.   Yes.
6       Q.   Do you understand that when the
7 deposition is over, you will be provided a
8 copy to review, make any necessary corrections
9 and then sign?

10       A.   Yes.
11       Q.   Would you please state your address
12 for the record?
13       A.   2307 Cranberry, Spring, Texas,
14 77373.
15       Q.   Have you ever been deposed before?
16       A.   Once.
17       Q.   And in what matter was that?
18       A.   It was business related in about
19 five minutes.
20       Q.   Did you look at any materials in
21 preparation for the deposition today?
22       A.   Yes.
23       Q.   Did you speak with anyone other
24 than your counsel in preparation?
25       A.   No.
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2       You can answer.
3       A.   Either a collection agency or
4 legal.
5       Q.   Do you keep reserve accounts for
6 merchants?
7       A.   Yes.
8       Q.   What exactly is a reserve account?
9       A.   Percentage of the processing volume

10 that be put on reserve in case of a loss.
11       Q.   What would be the typical
12 percentage for the reserve?
13            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
14       A.   It can range.
15       Q.   What would the range be?
16       A.   Normally 5 to 10 percent.
17       Q.   Do you ask the merchant for that
18 upfront when you begin servicing the account?
19       A.   Depends on the account.
20       Q.   What is the company that you said
21 worked the chargebacks before they came to
22 Delta Card Services?
23       A.   Merlin Solutions.
24       Q.   Do you monitor merchants more
25 closely after they have had chargebacks?
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2 that it is the reverse.  If a customer is
3 asked for a return.
4       Q.   And why would Delta Card Services
5 be liable for that?
6       A.   If the merchant doesn't have the
7 money to cover, pay back the cardholder, it is
8 like a chargeback.
9       Q.   Could you generally explain what

10 your risk monitoring procedures are when you
11 first setup a merchant account?  Just walk me
12 through the general process.
13            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
14       A.   An account comes in, parameters are
15 on the application.  They are setup in our
16 system.  And then any exceptions to that,
17 based on our rules, will pop out for us to
18 review manually.
19       Q.   Are there different categories of
20 risk for different merchants?
21       A.   Yes.
22       Q.   What are the categories?
23       A.   Keying percentages, swipe
24 percentages, authorization violations,
25 duplicate card, same dollar amounts.
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2       A.   They are monitored through the risk
3 system.
4       Q.   What are the risks Delta Card
5 Services?
6            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
7       Q.   Do you understand the question?
8       A.   One more time.
9       Q.   I will rephrase it.  You have a

10 risk management system, correct?
11       A.   Correct.
12       Q.   What are the risks that you are
13 trying to protect against?
14       A.   Loss.
15       Q.   What forms of loss?
16       A.   Monetary loss.
17       Q.   Would that come primarily through
18 chargebacks?
19       A.   Could.
20       Q.   What other forms of loss might
21 there be?
22       A.   A merchant issuing returns.
23       Q.   Returns.  How does that process
24 work?
25       A.   Like the sales process.  Just now
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1                  RHONDA LEMOS
2       Q.   Do you use the term high-risk
3 merchants?
4       A.   Yes.
5       Q.   Could you explain what that means?
6       A.   Any merchant that processes over
7 51 percent non face-to-face.
8       Q.   So that would include the Internet?
9       A.   Yes.

10       Q.   And are there different categories
11 of high-risk merchants?
12       A.   I am not sure I understand your
13 question.
14       Q.   Within the categories of merchants
15 that would process 51 percent or more of
16 non face-to-face, are there sub-categories of
17 risk?
18       A.   No.
19       Q.   So high risk just means high risk?
20       A.   Correct.
21       Q.   Are there different tiers of risk,
22 say, level one or level two?
23       A.   There is -- yes.
24       Q.   What are the tiers?
25       A.   Low risk, medium risk, high risk.
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2       it a little clearer.
3       Q.   Topic number four, "All systems,
4 practices, processes or mechanisms by which to
5 evaluate and enter into relationships with
6 customers that you designated as high risk."
7            What did you do to prepare yourself
8 on that topic?
9       A.   Just my knowledge.

10       Q.   All reasons -- sorry, topic number
11 five, "all reasons and justifications
12 concerning the fees and discount rates charged
13 to high-risk merchants and other merchants who
14 are not classified as high risk."
15       A.   My knowledge.
16       Q.   Going back to one of your earlier
17 answers, didn't you say you had no dealings
18 with discount rates?
19            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
20       Q.   Do you have a general idea of what
21 discount rates charged to merchants are?
22       A.   No.
23       Q.   So did you do anything to prepare
24 yourself on topic five which concerns discount
25 rates charged to high risk or not high-risk
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2 prohibited on the adult stuff.  That's what I
3 can recall.
4       Q.   Do you review websites for
5 prohibited content other than relating to
6 adult sites?
7       A.   Can you ask me that question again?
8       Q.   You said that you reviewed adult
9 websites for prohibited content.

10            Do you review other websites for
11 prohibited content, or do you only review
12 adult websites for prohibited content?
13       A.   We review all websites and then
14 there is prohibited adult content that we are
15 looking for.
16       Q.   When you review a website that's
17 not adult, do you look for prohibited content?
18       A.   Yes.
19       Q.   And what types of content would
20 that include?
21       A.   Any content in the underwriting
22 guidelines listed under the prohibited
23 section.
24       Q.   What are those?
25       A.   Nutraceuticals, travel agencies
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2 merchants?
3       A.   I reviewed documents.
4       Q.   Did you review any documents that
5 referred to the discount rates that were
6 charged to high-risk merchants?
7            MR. PARADISE:  Can you read that
8       back, please.
9            (Whereupon, the aforementioned

10       question was read back by the Court
11       Reporter.)
12       A.   I reviewed the documents that were
13 part of this prep.
14       Q.   Did any of those documents say
15 anything about discount rates charged to
16 high-risk merchants?
17       A.   No.
18       Q.   Do you have a stricter approval
19 process for high-risk merchants?
20       A.   We have a different policy for
21 non face-to-face merchants.
22       Q.   What does the approval process
23 entail?
24       A.   A review of the refund policy,
25 contact information, the website, review for
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2 selling airfare, weapons, tobacco, and there
3 are others, but I can't recall them.
4       Q.   Do you verify that the website is
5 not selling anything illegal?
6       A.   The underwriters review it, yes.
7       Q.   So you would not accept a website
8 if it was selling illegal merchandise?
9       A.   If it is identified as illegal,

10 yes.
11       Q.   After the initial account review of
12 after you signed up the merchant, do you then
13 review the website again to determine whether
14 it is selling anything illegal?
15       A.   If it comes under review.
16       Q.   And what would cause it to come
17 under review?
18       A.   It is flagged in the risk system.
19       Q.   What would be a flag?
20       A.   Excessive keying, duplicate card,
21 repeat dollar amount, excessive volume.
22       Q.   What does excessive keying mean?
23       A.   They are set to key or do
24 face-to-face transactions and they are
25 manually keying transactions.
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2 please?
3       A.   "As a general rule of thumb we are
4 no longer approving merchants that sell
5 Replicas, Copies or Fake items.  This is one
6 of the few business types that MasterCard
7 prohibits."
8       Q.   So does that refresh your
9 recollection as to when the policy changed?

10       A.   The actual policy change was, I
11 think, still in '08 or '09.  But as a rule of
12 thumb, based on this, we may not have been
13 approving them.
14       Q.   And that was in response to
15 MasterCard rules?
16       A.   No.  That was due to the
17 chargebacks for non-receipt of merchandise.
18       Q.   Was there a high rate of
19 chargebacks for replica product accounts?
20       A.   Define high rate.
21       Q.   Let's start out with what an
22 acceptable rate would be.
23       A.   Depends on the merchant type.
24       Q.   For Internet merchants?
25       A.   Depends on the merchant.
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2       A.   Authorization related.
3       Q.   What about goods not described as
4 described?
5       A.   Depending on the type of
6 chargeback; the reason for it.
7       Q.   Isn't goods not described the
8 reason or is there a different reason?
9       A.   Well, not as described can be it

10 was red, it was supposed to be blue.
11       Q.   Sorry, didn't mean to interrupt.
12       A.   That's it.
13       Q.   What if the reason was it was fake?
14       A.   Fake as in?
15       Q.   A fake product.  I thought it was
16 an authentic product but it was fake.
17            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
18       A.   It would have to be a burden of
19 proof.
20       Q.   Is that type of -- is that a type
21 of chargeback that you would be familiar with,
22 that somebody had complained that they
23 purchased a replica product and it was a fake,
24 not an authentic product?
25            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
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2       Q.   What type of merchant would result
3 in a low rate of chargebacks being acceptable?
4       A.   Any type?
5       Q.   Yes.
6       A.   That's kind of a broad question.
7 Can you be more specific?
8       Q.   Well, we will take replica
9 merchants.  What would be an acceptable level

10 of chargebacks?
11       A.   Depends on the chargeback type.
12 Depends on the merchant.
13       Q.   What are the factors that are
14 considered in determining what an acceptable
15 chargeback rate is?
16       A.   Any replica merchant?
17       Q.   Replica merchant.
18       A.   Type of chargeback, number of
19 transactions, the return policy and time in
20 business.
21       Q.   What type of chargebacks would be
22 likely to result in a lower threshold that
23 would be acceptable as chargebacks?
24       A.   Technical chargebacks.
25       Q.   Which are what?
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2       A.   If someone purchased a replica
3 product, and they are saying that it is not a
4 replica product?
5       Q.   I am sorry.  I will start over.
6            If someone purchased what they
7 believed to be a designer handbag and then
8 complained that it was not an authentic
9 designer product, is that a reason for a

10 chargeback?
11       A.   Yes.
12       Q.   And have you ever encountered those
13 types of chargebacks?
14       A.   Encountered meaning?
15       Q.   Are you familiar with them
16 occurring?
17       A.   I think I have seen one.
18       Q.   Would that result in the threshold
19 for acceptable number of chargebacks being
20 higher?
21            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
22       You can answer.
23       A.   It would depend if the merchants
24 website said I am selling specifically what
25 the complaint was.  If it said I am selling a
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2 reversed?
3       A.   The chargeback was reversed, that
4 means there was a rebuttal to it and sent back
5 to the cardholder.
6       Q.   The next column over that, I think,
7 on my poor copy looks like month-end fees?
8       A.   Right.
9       Q.   And the one over that, daily

10 discount?
11       A.   Discount paid.
12       Q.   What does that mean?
13       A.   That would be the total on the
14 discount rate payment based on the deposit.
15       Q.   Can you try to explain that in a
16 way that breaks it down a little bit?
17       A.   Daily discount would be the
18 discount rate times the volume for the day,
19 daily.  So the discount paid would be the
20 percentage they paid on that.
21       Q.   And that would be paid to whom?
22       A.   To the merchant who was paying to
23 Delta Card gross prior to any fees or
24 expenses.
25       Q.   And then is that amount -- does
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2       Q.   What would Woodforest get out of
3 this transaction?
4       A.   My understanding, Woodforest makes
5 $0.02 per transaction.
6       Q.   No matter what the total value of
7 the transaction is?
8       A.   Correct.
9       Q.   And the MUD residual is what goes

10 to the agent?
11       A.   Correct.
12       Q.   And the last column, what does that
13 say?
14       A.   MCPS income.
15       Q.   So that's the total that Delta Card
16 or MCPS takes after --
17       A.   Everything.
18       Q.   -- Woodforest and banks and the
19 card associations, I mean.
20            MS. COYLE:  Exhibit 10.
21            (Whereupon, an E-mail dated March
22       30, 2006, WNB-03621-'622, was marked
23       as Exhibit Lemos-10 for identification
24       as of this date by the Reporter.)
25       Q.   This is an E-mail that you were
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2 that all go to Delta Card or further divided?
3       A.   That's the gross that comes in
4 prior to all the expenses and revenues or --
5       Q.   What is paid to the card
6 associations?
7       A.   Correct.
8       Q.   Then the next column, net profits,
9 that's what results for Delta Card after

10 everything has been paid?
11       A.   After.  Well, that's the net of it
12 before they split of what goes Delta Card.
13       Q.   Before the split between Delta Card
14 and whom?
15       A.   Whomever it is.  If it is Delta
16 Card or the sales rep or whoever.
17       Q.   So it would be after the card
18 associations have taken their rate, but before
19 the agent or someone else was being paid?
20       A.   Correct.
21       Q.   And who else might be paid other
22 than the agent?
23       A.   The bank.
24       Q.   The bank meaning Woodforest?
25       A.   Correct.
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2 copied on?
3       A.   That's what it shows.
4       Q.   Take a look at the letter, it
5 appears to be a letter from Visa referring to
6 a high risk telemarketing registration.
7       A.   Um-hum.
8       Q.   What is this high risk
9 telemarketing registration program?

10       A.   This is part of those registration
11 programs, the merchant has to be registered.
12       Q.   And can you tell me, again, what
13 categories of merchants fall under that?
14       A.   Like I said, dating, ones with
15 memberships, adult, and others that I couldn't
16 recall.
17       Q.   But it wouldn't include internet
18 merchant selling replica products?
19       A.   No.
20       Q.   Do you know what percentage of your
21 business is attributed to high-risk merchants?
22       A.   No, I do not.
23       Q.   Do you have an understanding of how
24 much revenue is earned through high-risk
25 merchant accounts, each merchant?
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2       that could call for attorney/client
3       privilege information.  It doesn't
4       matter.  She was designated on behalf
5       of the company.
6            MS. COYLE:  I am not asking what
7       anybody told her.  I am asking for the
8       identity of who asked her.
9            MR. PARADISE:  I am instructing

10       her not to answer.  I don't care if it
11       is relevant, and I think it is
12       improper and calls for attorney/client
13       privileged information.
14       Q.   Are you going to abide by your
15 counsel's instruction?
16       A.   Yes.
17       Q.   Is Chuck Vernon employed by
18 Woodforest?
19       A.   To the best of my knowledge, yes.
20       Q.   Do you report to him in any way?
21       A.   No.
22       Q.   Is there any contract between
23 Woodforest and Delta Card Services?
24       A.   I don't know that.
25       Q.   Who approves merchant applications,
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2       Q.   Can Woodforest instruct you to
3 terminate a relationship with the merchant?
4       A.   I don't know.
5       Q.   I think earlier you testified that
6 Delta Card Services is a direct subsidiary of
7 Woodforest; is that correct?
8       A.   I don't recall saying that.
9       Q.   What's the corporate relationship

10 between the two?
11       A.   We are two separate companies.
12       Q.   Is Delta Card owned by Woodforest?
13       A.   No, they are not.
14       Q.   Who owns Delta Card?
15       A.   I am not sure of that answer.
16       Q.   So you don't know whether
17 Woodforest owns Delta Card or not?
18       A.   I know Woodforest doesn't.
19       Q.   Woodforest doesn't own Delta Card?
20       A.   Correct.
21       Q.   Earlier you testified that the IT
22 department collected documents in this matter?
23       A.   Correct.
24       Q.   Were you referring to Delta Card's
25 IT department?
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2 Woodforest or Delta Card?
3       A.   Delta Card.
4       Q.   Does Woodforest have any role in
5 the approval process?
6       A.   No.
7       Q.   Do any Woodforest employees review
8 the applications?
9       A.   At time of approval, is that what

10 you are saying to me?
11       Q.   Prior to or at time of approval.
12       A.   No.
13       Q.   Are they submitted to Woodforest
14 after they have been approved?
15       A.   Not to my knowledge.
16       Q.   Is Woodforest kept informed of
17 Delta Card's business activities?
18            MR. PARADISE:  Objection to form.
19       A.   Can you be a little bit more
20 specific?
21       Q.   Sure.  Does Delta Card Services
22 report to Woodforest about business matters
23 such as its revenues, its risk programs,
24 things of that nature?
25       A.   I don't know.
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2       A.   Yes.
3       Q.   Do Woodforest and Delta Card share
4 an IT department?
5       A.   No.
6       Q.   And you don't know who collected
7 Woodforest's documents?
8       A.   No, I do not.
9            MR. PARADISE:  Just so the record

10       is clear, I can represent that
11       Woodforest documents were also
12       searched.  However, there were very
13       few, if any, responsive documents that
14       were in the possession of Woodforest.
15            But I can definitely confirm that
16       a full search was done of both
17       Woodforest and both Delta Card for
18       electronic documents and paper
19       documents.
20       Q.   Can you tell me by whom?
21            MR. PARADISE:  It was at the
22       direction of in-house counsel at
23       Woodforest.
24       Q.   Can we go back to the processing of
25 the transaction.  Can you just describe the
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2 process in a little bit greater detail as it
3 applies to Woodforest and Delta Card, who does
4 what?
5       A.   In the processing of the
6 transaction?
7       Q.   Yes.
8       A.   Woodforest does nothing.
9       Q.   Woodforest does nothing?

10       A.   Correct.
11       Q.   Does Woodforest take on any risk as
12 relating to the merchant?
13       A.   If there is a loss, Delta Card
14 takes it.
15       Q.   And Woodforest never has any risk?
16       A.   Not as far as I am aware of.
17       Q.   The $0.02 on every transaction
18 earned by Woodforest is meant to compensate
19 Woodforest for what?
20       A.   They are our sponsor bank for the
21 merchant processing and servicing.
22       Q.   What is the sponsor bank's role
23 exactly?
24       A.   The associations require that your
25 financial institution to be an acquirer.  So
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2       Q.   Have you ever had discussions with
3 any employees of Woodforest about Delta Card's
4 risk policies?
5       A.   Yes.
6       Q.   With whom?
7       A.   Chuck Vernon.
8       Q.   Anyone other than Chuck Vernon?
9       A.   Yes.

10       Q.   Who else?
11       A.   Andy Power.
12       Q.   Who is Andy Power?
13       A.   He is another attorney at the bank,
14 I believe.
15       Q.   Is Woodforest aware of Delta Card's
16 specific policies relating to high-risk
17 merchants?
18       A.   They have the underwriting policy
19 for all merchants.
20       Q.   Did they have any role in shaping
21 the policy?
22       A.   It was written by Delta Card.
23       Q.   Did Woodforest have any input into
24 the policy?
25       A.   No.
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2 Woodforest is the acquirer because they are
3 the member bank with the card association and
4 we are their service provider for the
5 processing.
6       Q.   And are you aware of any
7 regulations that require the acquiring bank to
8 monitor the credit card processing service?
9       A.   Define monitor.

10       Q.   To be aware of your risk policies,
11 for example?
12       A.   Yes.
13       Q.   And what are those regulations?
14       A.   I don't know them off the top of my
15 head.
16       Q.   Would they be required to cease
17 doing business with you, for example, if you
18 were -- if Delta Card Services was violating
19 regulations of Visa and MasterCard?
20       A.   I don't know the extent of them.
21       Q.   Does Woodforest have its own risk
22 guidelines?
23       A.   For the bank?
24       Q.   Yes.
25       A.   I don't know.
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2       Q.   Did they approve the policy?
3       A.   You are asking me if Woodforest
4 approved our policy?
5       Q.   Yes.
6       A.   Initially, currently?
7       Q.   At any time.
8       A.   I am aware of approval on changes.
9       Q.   Changes to the?

10       A.   To the current policy.
11       Q.   To the underwriting guidelines?
12       A.   To the current underwriting policy.
13       Q.   And when was that?
14       A.   I don't know the specific date.
15       Q.   Was it this year?
16       A.   No.
17       Q.   Did they ask you to make any
18 changes to your policy?
19       A.   Not that I am aware of.
20       Q.   Who at Delta Card would have
21 communicated with Woodforest about the policy?
22       A.   Depends.
23       Q.   Would it be you?
24       A.   Could be.
25       Q.   Anyone else?
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UNITED. STATES DISTRICT COJIJRT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OP NEW YORK

O CGT A CAINC.

Plaintiff,

aaiAst-.:

floÍsminPiWCESSrNG CORPOIWPIÓN;.I
WOODFOREST NATIONAL ßANK DUMisc O
MERCHANT SERViCES LLC d/b/aNATjONAL:
BANKCÄRD SYSTEMS dF. DURANGO, ABO
COMPANIES, and JOHN OES,

pefedants,

09 Civ. 6925 (HB

DECLARTJC:..
JENNIFER ItIRK

J, Jemufer Kirk, declare under penalty ofpeijury pursuant to 28 U S C § 1746, that the

followmg is true and cOrrect

i The ability for my business, TheßagAddiction corn, to accept ciedit cards was

very impôrtahtbecause my customers felt:piotected using cedit4ards rather than other paynent.

.rntho.Ø such as wire transfers. Approdthately 99% of payments fìoxnmyaisthÌners were a»aS

uáixig..örecitt cards.

2 Approvals for credit card charges wereperformed online and were received

a matter of seööñds at r,sübn¡sjon iii didtot receive an appiow1. foraçredit.äard1

charge, I wó)iid nøtshipthe customer's;order.

3. D.qngosrole in my bnsAes Was to setup the relationship with the»baiiks that

were processing credit cird&and'to act as a middle manfor communications between my

busjjssaj4th&b. .. . ..

EXHIBIT

c,u t%û
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4': Therewasa cheôk box ott TheßagAddictimteötn.bat.çUstøershdtq check..

before their order would be ptocessed stating that "1 understand these items being purchased are

teplicas flot originals" Mr Couñley told me that T had to include That language on the website

in order to ensure that my credit card orders wouldb; processed by4he banks and to help

eliminate chargebacks from the banks because at any üme a customer could dispute the item aid

the bank may get stuck with the loss Attached hereto as ßxbibit A is a tu; and correct copy of

an email chain between myself, Mr Counley, and representauves from Frontline regarding th

"terms and conditions" boxes that a customer was requiredlo theck before th& order would be

processed

5. ThèothnentaliofrIwôuWïibtffltiï dônn..

request consisted of copies of the QrlgInal charg; rncluding invoices with a fUll descriptio,u of

product(s) being sold W address where it originated frai, as well as th tracking inforn*tionfor

aparticular shipment That I would obtain from the U S Postal $ervice's website because

signatures were required for all shipments

Dated Noveniber, 2009
Rocklin California

EjSiU<íRK
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From: "Nathan Counley" <Nathan@DurangoSDirect.com>
To: <hssfrontIineprocessing.com>; "Bag Addiction" <admin@thebagaddiction.com>
Cc: 'cejr©frontlineprocessing.com>
Sent: Monday, February 25, 2008 4:20 PM
Attach: eFax from 14065857576-5 page(s), CaIIer-ID_406-624-0260.eml
Subject: RE: fax0000004l 7.pdf - Adobe Acrobat Standard

Jen,
Hans is referring to the attached fax, please see where he's made flotes on
the .pdf, where it would be best to add in a truncated T&C's to help avoid
these types of chargebacks.

Thank you,
Nathan Counley
National Bankcard Systems of Durango
(p) 608.467.6672
(1) 413.431.2720
www.Durango-Direct.com

The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to
which it is addressed and may contain confidential and/or privileged
material. Any review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or
taking of any action in reliance upon, this information by persons or
entities other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you are not the
intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e-mail and destroy
all copies of the original message.

Original Message
From: Hans Strickler [mailto:hssfrontlineprocessing.com]
Sent: Monday, February 25, 2008 6:03 PM
To: 'Bag Addiction'; 'Nathan Counley'
Cc: ejr®ftontlineprocessing.com
Subject: RE: fax0000004l7.pdf- Adobe Acrobat Standard

Shopping Addiction - 8788370010754
Case #2802610081

Was this shown clearly in the CB rebuttal documents? Doesn't look like we
have a screen-shot of the check-out page identif'ing this check-box and I
did not see the (separate) Terms and conditions (unless it was the up-side
down pages).

This is why I suggest having truncated T's & C's. Even a Check-Box
can be argues as insufficient disclosure.
Merchant should move the 'Disclosure Check Boxes' to be between the
Card info screen and 'Place Order', with a link, at the absolute least.
This way, we'd have a

11/11/2009
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Merchant should (for all rebuttals that apply) include 'Generic'
shots for the rebuttals. Check your faxes... How well did the text come
through? Should ink color be Black to show on Faxes better?

-Hans

Merchant needs to lay out their rebuttals

Hans Strickler - Frontline Processing

866*651*3068 (voice) 406*585*7576 (fax)

Original Message
From: Bag Addiction [maïlto:admin©thebagaddiction.com]
Sent. Monday, February 25, 2008 4:12 PM
To: Nathan Counley
Cc: hssftontlineprocessing.com; ejrfrontlineprocessing.com
Subject: Re: fax0000004l7.pdf- Adobe Acrobat Standard

Cardholder MUST click check mark IN Box at checkout or it will not allow you

to check out that you agree to terms and agreement of site?

Original Message
From: "Nathan Counley" <NathanDurango-Direct.com>
To: "Bag Addiction" cadminthebagaddiction.com>
Cc: <hssfrontJineprocessing.com>; cejrfrontlineprocessing.com>
Sent: Monday, February 25, 2008 2:45 PM
Subject: FW: fax0000004l7.pdf- Adobe Acrobat Standard

Hans or Elisa,
What's the deal on this chargeback? Global says "Denied unless you can prove
customer has to click TOS' , which the merchant DOES require? So doesn't
this mean she should win the chargeback?

Thank you,
Nathan Counley
National Bankcard Systems of Durango
(p) 608.467.6672
(f) 413.431.2720
www.Durango-Direct.com

The information transmitted is intended only for the person or entity to
which it is addressed and may contain confidential and/or privileged
material. Any review, retransmission, dissemination or other use of, or

11/11/2009
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taking of any action in reliance upon, this information by persons or
entities other than the intended recipient is prohibited. If you are not the
intended recipient, please contact the sender by reply e-mail and destroy
all copies of the original message.

Original Message
From: Bag Addiction [mailto:adminthebagaddiction.com]
Sent; Monday, February 25, 2008 10:02 AM
To: Nathan Counley
Subject: Fw: fax0000004l7.pdf- Adobe Acrobat Standard

Hi Nathan,

I was denied this ehargeback and not sure why?

Says cardholder must accept terms and agreement, which they have to check
the box at checkout before submitting their order.

What can I do about this?

Thanks

Jennifer

Original Message
From: °fax_frontline" <frontline fax®frontlineprocessing.com>
To: "Shopping Addiction" <admin(thebagaddiction.com>
Sent: Monday, February 25, 2008 7:24 AM
Subject: fax0000004l7.pdf- Adobe Acrobat Standard

NOD32 2901 (20080225) Information

This message was checked by NOD32 antivirus system.
http://www.eset.com

li/i 1/2009
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Join Now

SUPER SALE!

Alexander
McQueen

Anna Corinna

Anya Hindmarch

Baienciaga

Belts &
Accessories

Bottega Veneta

Cartier

Chloe

Dior

Dolce & Sabbana

Fendi

Gift Certificates

Givenchy

Goyard
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(Your shappinu cart contains i item priced at 27O.00) View My Cart Search
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rex:

Email Addresr:

fl I wish to rece ve occassio;tai newsletter
emails nom Volus,on, Wc..

Please be aware that we monitor all IP
addresses.

Any fraudulant activity and purchases will be
reported to the proper authorities and

prosecuted to the fullest extent of the law.
Please note:

You MUST use the correct billing address,
the system will automatically decline if the
correctbilling address is not used. AND You
must enter ¡ri the 3 digit security code. off

the back of your card, or the transaction will
decline.

Please note as stated on our site all of our items are
replicas.

By purchasing you are acknowledging the fact they
are replicas and not to be presented as originals.
You also agree to all terms and conditions on our

site by submitting your order.

I of 3 2/25/2008 4:59 PM

billing Information shipping information
First Name": Ship lo: My Billing Address

Last Name:

Company:

Addresr:

c'tr:
Countrr: United Stales

State/Provincr: Then, select Siate :t
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¡Caoba

Lancel
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Other
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Sunglasses

Thomas Wylde
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Valentino

Versace

YSLYves Saint
Laurent

Zac Posen

Wallets

Watches

AnthorimNet%li
Ap1 CeG Cards

My Shopping Cart

Code Name

GJVIOOA Givenchy Medium Metallic Nightingale In Gold & Bronze-

Need ta make changes to this order?
Edit items in cai-t
Apply a coupon
Appiy a Gift CertiFicate
Sign Out

reçfMcvati(A

Email Address: Ben eft of Registering:
QuirJc d,eckout on future o, dew
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7 Day Exchanqe Only Policy:

We are absolutely Confident that you will be happy with your purchase
from us because each piece is inspected by hand for quality. We are
flexible, understand that every client's needs are unique and wish to
meet your parucular needs. Client satisfaction in our products and
services is our top priority. If for any reason, you are not content with
your purchase please contact us immediately. We will then provide
instruction on where to return your bag(s).

All of our items come with a 7-day EXCHANGE ONLY guarantee, from
date of receipt. If for any reason you are unhappy with your item you
may return the item for an exchange towards something else of equal
value, more value or a lesser value.

In the event that your item arrives to you defective or damaged during
shipment to you we can ONLY exchange your item for the EXACT
same item you received, no exceptions!

ALL SALES ARE FINAL ON LUGGAGE, WALLETS, SUNGLASSES
AND KEEPALLS,
NO EXCEPTIONS!

Overstock item are marked "all sales final"

We do not charge a restocking fee but in such cases, we have lost the
cost of the initial shipping and so cannot pay for shipping both ways.

All exchanges are shipped at the expense of the customer. Any

¡r
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exchange received without proper payment or authorization will be
marked Refused / Return to Sender.

Exchanged items must be new and unused, and in unworn condition.
"New and Unused" means that there are no scratches, marks or
blemishes on the item, lost or stolen parts (screws, clasps, stems),
damage due to personal use, misuse or negligence.

We do not accept exchanges after 7 days from the official delivery
confirmation date. We do not accept exchanges of any item with any
indication that it has been used or damaged (No Exceptions). THEY
WILL BE MARKED RETURN TO SENDER.

lt is very important that you follow the return instruction email to ensure
proper credit to your account and this will speed up the processi

HOW TO EXCHANGE PRODUCTS

For your convenience, we will exchange your item for any item on our
website at its current sales price. No promotions apply. Please
complete EXCHANGE form below and we will reply with an email with
further instructions during normal business hours posted on our site.

Due to limited stock, we are unable to offer exchanges, you must
return the item and reorder.

All product is subject to final inspection before your exchange is
processed. Allow 1-2 week for the exchange to be processed or store
credits to be submitted after your package arrives. The merchandise
must be in its original unused condition with appropriate accessories. If
cards or parts are missing, we will deduct 25% for each missing item.
Used/handled merchandise, items with intentional damages or items
not purchases from us, will be RETURNED TO SENDER without
further claims. Customers shipping fees are not refundable

DEFECTIVE OR WRONG ITEM RECEIVED

In the unlikely event of receiving a wrong order or d?fect, please notify
us upon receipt of item using the form below. We will replace the item
with the exact item only. Item must be shipped bacl and the identical
item will be shipped upon receipt of wrong or incorrect item.

We offer no refunds for refused delivery, unable to deliver, moved,
incorrect addresses, Post Office delivery errors, shipment picked up by
an unauthorized party or order shipped back to an l4nauthorized
address. If we receive a return item thru your fault of your own, we will

REFUNDS NOT OFFERED
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refund less shipping and a 25% handling fee, no exceptions.

NOTICE
Customer may not return an item without our Return Merchandise
Number (RMA) or to an unauthorized address.

By ordering from our website, you agree you have read and
understand all of our terms & policies, which may not be disputed at a
later date, if you do not agree to any term or policy, please do not use
our website to order.

By purchasing an item from www.thebagaddiction.com you are legally
agreeing to, and shall abide by, the terms set forth in this return &
exchange policy above.

To process a return please fill out form below.
All information must be filled out in full or no authorization

number will be qiven for a return!

We do NOT accept return requests after 7 days from
date you received your order by delivery!

Your Naine

Order ÇlLirni,er:

Order Date:

Item Number:

Date Received:

Email Address

Please
describo the
problem with
the
product/item:

submit
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Page 1

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x
GUCCI AMERICA, INC.
                     Plaintiff,

                          Civil Action No.
                          09-6925-HB
      -against-

FRONTLINE PROCESSING CORPORATION;
WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK;
DURANGO MERCHANT SERVICES LLC
d/b/a NATIONAL BANKCARD SYSTEMS
OF DURANGO; ABC COMPANIES; and
JOHN DOES,
                     Defendants.
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

                     July 8, 2010
                     9:30 a.m.

      30(b)(6) Deposition of TERILYN NOVAK,
taken by attorneys for Defendants, pursuant
to Notice, held at the offices of Gibson Dunn
& Crutcher LLP, 200 Park Avenue, New York, New
York, before Roberta Caiola, a Shorthand
Reporter and Notary Public within and for the
State of New York.

Page 2

1 A P P E A R A N C E S:
2
3 GIBSON DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP

Attorneys for Plaintiff
4       1050 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.

      Washington, D.C. 20036-5306
5

BY:   HOWARD S. HOGAN, ESQ.
6
7

LERNER DAVID LITTENBERG KRUMHOLZ
8 & MENTLIK LLP

Attorneys for Defendants
9       600 South Avenue West

      Westfield, New Jersey 07090
10

BY:   CHARLES P. KENNEDY, ESQ.
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 3

1                      INDEX
2 Witness:  Terilyn Novak
3 Examination By:    Mr. Kennedy    page: 5
4
5                  E X H I B I T S
6 Novak            Description                Page
7 EXHIBIT 1    Copy of the notice of           16

             deposition of Terilyn Novak
8              and Gucci America, Inc. under

             Rule 30(b)(6)
9

EXHIBIT 2    Pages from TheBagAddiction      47
10              website with the date in the

             Lower right 11/16/2006
11

EXHIBIT 3    Five pages from TheBag          54
12              Addiction website printed

             out on 2/25/2008
13

EXHIBIT 4    Declaration of Jonathan H.      64
14              Moss signed on May 30, 2008
15 EXHIBIT 5    Gucci America fluctuation       67

             and management analysis for
16              month ended 12/30/06 versus

             12/24/05
17

EXHIBIT 6    Sales data and other data       67
18              which are business records

             of Gucci comparing the years
19              2006 and 2007
20 EXHIBIT 7    Sales data from Gucci           67

             Comparing the years 2007
21              to 2008
22 EXHIBIT 8    Data from Gucci setting         67

             forth sales for 2008 compared
23              to 2009
24
25

Page 4

1                  E X H I B I T S
2

Novak            Description                Page
3

EXHIBIT 9    Four-page Gucci America,        78
4              Inc. income statement,

             production numbers GUCCI
5              83783 through 86
6 EXHIBIT 10   Document entitled "4003 Free    85

             Cash Flow"
7

EXHIBIT 11   Document entitled "Gucci        86
8              America Royalties USD'000"

             bearing production number
9              GUCCI83787

10 EXHIBIT 12   Report from Millward Brown      90
             dated July 16, 2009, bearing

11              Production numbers GUCCI83712
             through 746

12
EXHIBIT 13   Document entitled "Gucci        97

13              America Customer Experience
             Project" Bates numbers GUCCI

14              83748 through 82
15 EXHIBIT 14   Document for Gucci entitled     99

             "Gucci Purchase Drivers"
16              Bates numbered GUCCI83788

             through 95
17

EXHIBIT 15   Millward Brown report dated     103
18              March 24, 2009, bearing

             Production numbers GUCCI83796
19              through 83858
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1 Terilyn Novak, having been duly sworn by the
2 Notary Public, (Roberta Caiola), was examined
3 and testified as follows:
4 EXAMINATION BY MR. KENNEDY:
5       Q.     Good morning, Ms. Novak.
6       A.     Good morning.
7       Q.     My name is Charles Kennedy.  I'm an
8 attorney for Woodforest National Bank in a
9 pending case brought by Gucci America.  I will

10 be asking you questions at this deposition.
11              Have you been deposed before?
12       A.     I have.
13       Q.     You have.  Okay.  Good.  Just to be
14 certain that we have the ground rules down.  You
15 understand that you're under oath during the
16 course of this deposition and it's important
17 that you testify truthfully?
18       A.     I do.
19       Q.     If you have any questions about the
20 questions I ask, in other words, if they are
21 confusing to you or something, I would ask that
22 you point that out to me and I will make an
23 effort to rephrase them; is that acceptable?
24       A.     I will.
25       Q.     If you need to take a break during
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1 the course of the deposition just let us know.
2 I would just ask that you don't attempt to take
3 a break while a question is pending, but that
4 you answer it and then we will take a break.
5       A.     Of course.
6       Q.     What is your present position?
7       A.     I am the eBusiness Director for
8 Gucci America.
9       Q.     Where is your business location?

10       A.     For Gucci.com, for the online
11 business.
12       Q.     Where do you work?
13       A.     At 685 Fifth Avenue.
14       Q.     What's your residence?
15       A.     My residence.
16       Q.     Yes.  Where do you reside?
17       A.     Is in Connecticut.
18       Q.     What, just generally, do your job
19 responsibilities entail as the eBusiness
20 Director?
21       A.     I oversee all the sales operations,
22 merchandising, and some of the technology for
23 Gucci.com.
24       Q.     How long has Gucci had a Gucci.com
25 sales?
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1       A.     2002 we began.
2       Q.     You said that you had your
3 deposition taken before.  Have you ever had your
4 deposition taken before in a case involving
5 allegations of trademark infringement?
6       A.     Yes.
7       Q.     Can you tell me what cases you've
8 had your deposition taken in?  Just describe the
9 cases for me?

10       A.     In the Gucci versus Guess trademark
11 infringement I was deposed, and in the Jennifer
12 Gucci versus Gucci trial I testified.
13       Q.     Any other cases that you've been
14 deposed in?
15       A.     No.
16       Q.     Gucci versus Guess, is that a case
17 that's still pending?
18       A.     I don't know.
19       Q.     When was your deposition taken?
20       A.     A few months ago.
21       Q.     Jennifer Gucci versus Gucci, when
22 was your deposition taken in that case?
23       A.     Last year sometime.  I was not
24 deposed, I testified.
25       Q.     Did that case end?

Page 8

1       A.     I don't know.
2       Q.     Do you have any idea what the
3 decision was?
4              When you say you "testified" did
5 you testify at what you understood was a trial?
6       A.     Yes.
7       Q.     Where was that?
8       A.     Downtown in the courthouse.
9       Q.     In Manhattan?

10       A.     Yes.
11       Q.     Do you know what decision was
12 rendered by either the judge or the jury in that
13 case?
14       A.     I do not.
15       Q.     What is your formal education?  Can
16 you tell me where you graduated from, what your
17 degrees are, that sort of thing?
18       A.     I went to college for three years
19 at the University of South Florida, studying
20 business.
21       Q.     What years did you take courses at
22 the University of South Florida?
23       A.     I believe '80 to '83.
24       Q.     Did you obtain a degree from there?
25       A.     No.
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1 were getting a leather bag or not?
2       A.     I can't say, I didn't speak to the
3 client.
4       Q.     And that's pretty important, isn't
5 it?
6              MR. HOGAN:  Objection, calls for a
7 legal conclusion.
8       Q.     The one doesn't indicate any
9 confusion.  The latter would not indicate any

10 confusion with whether or not it was a Gucci
11 product?
12       A.     I think the fact remains that the
13 sites were selling counterfeit merchandise.
14 It's confusing to customers, potential customers
15 of ours, and damaging to the brand.  And that
16 Woodforest knowingly did the credit card
17 processing for these sites.
18       Q.     And you're not troubled by the fact
19 that you testified earlier that that letter said
20 Gucci --
21              MR. HOGAN:  Objection, asked and
22 answered multiple times.
23              MR. KENNEDY:  Excuse me, don't
24 interrupt my question, please.
25       Q.     You're not troubled by the fact
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1 that you testified earlier that you thought that
2 letter said Gucci?
3       A.     I'm testifying to the best of my
4 ability, in all truthfulness.  I don't recall
5 the exact wording, as I said to you.
6       Q.     Has Gucci done any studies as to
7 whether purchasers on the replica websites of
8 products say at $100 would, if they weren't able
9 to get a replica of Gucci, go purchase the same

10 product at eight times the price from Gucci?
11       A.     Not to my knowledge.
12       Q.     Have you done any market research
13 at all on that subject?
14              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to form.
15       A.     Not to my knowledge, but just based
16 upon --
17       Q.     Are you --
18       A.     May I answer the question.  Just
19 based upon my vast years of experience, I've
20 spoken to clients directly who get confused by
21 these sites, who are offended by these sites,
22 who purchase on these sites, that's why I'm
23 here.
24       Q.     Back to my question.  You haven't
25 commissioned any market research to find out how
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1 many, if any, of those clients would actually
2 purchase a genuine product, correct?
3       A.     Not to my knowledge.
4       Q.     Do you recall any clients who you
5 spoke to who said that they had purchased a
6 product on one of these sites thinking it was a
7 genuine Gucci product, and then it turned out
8 that it was not?
9              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to form.

10       A.     No.
11              MR. KENNEDY:  Let's mark that as
12 Novak Exhibit 2.
13              (Pages from TheBagAddiction website
14  with the date in the lower right 11/16/2006,
15  marked Novak Exhibit 2 for identification.)
16       Q.     Ms. Novak, we've handed you what
17 has been marked as exhibit Novak 2.  You may
18 want to take a minute to look at this.  I will
19 state on the record that these are pages from
20 TheBagAddiction website, and they have the date
21 in the lower right 11/16/2006.
22       A.     Okay.
23       Q.     Have you seen exhibit Novak 2
24 before?
25       A.     I believe so.
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1       Q.     Do you understand this exhibit,
2 Novak 2, to reflect some of the portions of
3 TheBagAddiction website?
4       A.     Yes.
5       Q.     Let me ask you before we get into
6 this.  What bank does the credit card processing
7 for Gucci.com?
8       A.     Payment Tech does the credit card
9 processing for Gucci.com.

10       Q.     Is that a bank?
11       A.     It's a credit card processor
12 obviously.  I don't know how you refer to them.
13       Q.     Is it the same credit card
14 processor that's used for the Gucci retail
15 sales?
16       A.     Yes.
17              MR. HOGAN:  Objection.  Outside the
18 scope of the 30(b)(6).
19              MR. KENNEDY:  She's also been
20 noticed individually as well, Mr. Hogan.
21       Q.     Was the Gucci.com --
22              MR. HOGAN:  Maybe we can off the
23 record for a second to sort this out.  I did not
24 understand this to notice her in her individual
25 capacity.
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1              MR. KENNEDY:  You need to read
2 exhibit Novak 1.  If you would like to do that,
3 go ahead.
4              MR. HOGAN:  I do not read Novak 1
5 to notice her in her individual capacity.  It
6 specifically says that she is noticed to testify
7 on the below subjects upon oral examination.
8              MR. KENNEDY:  It says this.  First
9 of all, I don't know why this is a dispute,

10 because we have not objected when you've taken
11 30(b)(6) witnesses of our client, we have not
12 objected to you going outside the categories.  I
13 know it's not you personally.
14              Secondly, the notice, Novak 1, says
15 we'll take the deposition of Terilyn Novak and
16 of plaintiff, Gucci America, Inc. under Rule
17 30(b)(6).  You see that, don't you?
18              MR. HOGAN:  Yes, on the below
19 subjects upon oral examination.  I don't think
20 this is worth having a debate on the record,
21 which is why I asked to go off the record,
22 because I did not stop you from asking the
23 question.
24              MR. KENNEDY:  I'll take it in
25 whatever knowledge she has about it.
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1       Q.     What I was going to ask you was
2 this.  Has Gucci.com ever had its credit cards
3 processed by a separate bank or whatever
4 financial institution than it had the credit
5 card processing for the retail stores?
6              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to form.
7       A.     Not to my knowledge.
8       Q.     Okay.  We're back now to exhibit
9 Novak 2.  If you would turn please to the fourth

10 page of exhibit Novak 2.  Just to take an
11 example.  On that page it shows a replica of the
12 Gucci Horsebit Hobo in black.  Do you see that
13 one on the right side?
14              MR. HOGAN:  What page are you
15 referring to?
16              MR. KENNEDY:  Page 4.  It's the
17 fourth page of the document.
18       A.     Yes, I see it.
19       Q.     The price at which that replica bag
20 would be sold on TheBagAddiction is $180; is
21 that right?
22       A.     It appears.
23       Q.     But the price that Gucci would sell
24 the original of such bag is $1,280; is that
25 right?
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1       A.     Apparently.
2       Q.     And you understood when you looked
3 at TheBagAddiction website that indeed they were
4 selling these replicas at a significant, very
5 significant discount, correct?
6       A.     Yes.
7       Q.     In this case the discount looks
8 like 20 percent, actually less than 20 percent;
9 isn't that right?

10              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to form.
11       Q.     And I misspoke.  The price is less
12 than 20 percent of what Gucci sells it for?
13       A.     It appears.
14       Q.     For the four replica bags that are
15 on this page 4 of exhibit Novak 2, is it correct
16 to say that none of those bags show a label with
17 the Gucci name on the bag itself?
18              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to what this
19 exhibit does or does not show, it speaks for
20 itself.
21       A.     It's a black and white copy of a
22 screen graph.  I can't see very clearly here.
23 I'm not sure what you're asking me.
24       Q.     I'm asking you whether you can see
25 the Gucci name on any of the products that are
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1 shown on this page, the four products?
2       A.     No.  It's a poor quality copy, as I
3 said, that's in black and white, so it's very
4 difficult.  I obviously see the word Gucci and
5 the word Guccissima, which is what we call our
6 leather fabric.  I see something that looks like
7 our repeating diamond pattern there.
8       Q.     But as far as the Gucci name being
9 on any of these bags, is it fair to say that you

10 can't see it on any of the four bags?
11              MR. HOGAN:  Asked and answered.
12       A.     I can barely see the fabric of the
13 bag at all in this copy.
14       Q.     Okay.  So the answer to my question
15 is, and going with this copy, this is in the
16 record; you can't see the Gucci name on any of
17 the bags, is that right?
18       A.     Not on this page.
19       Q.     Then the question I was going to
20 ask you is, are you familiar with the original
21 of these four products that have replicas for
22 the Gucci bags?
23       A.     I am.
24       Q.     Does the Gucci name appear on the
25 outside of the bags for the original?
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1       A.     These bags came in several
2 different fabrications, I can't be expected to
3 remember every fabrication, but obviously
4 there's almost always the repeating diamond
5 pattern with the Gs.  I can't see these products
6 and what they look like, I don't have the
7 physical products in front of me.  The originals
8 that you're asking about I'm sure came in a GG
9 fabric.  Was the name Gucci written out?

10       Q.     That's my question.  Was the name
11 Gucci on, for the original of these products, on
12 the outside of the bag?
13       A.     I don't recall.
14       Q.     When you're talking about the GG
15 pattern, it's some sort of pattern of Gs, right?
16 It doesn't have the name Gucci in it?
17       A.     No.
18       Q.     I'm sorry.  Is that correct?
19       A.     That's correct.
20       Q.     Okay.
21       A.     When I was referring to the
22 repeating diamond pattern it doesn't say the
23 word Gucci, it has two Gs.
24       Q.     Thank you.
25              MR. HOGAN:  We've been at this for
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1 about an hour, is this a good time for a break?
2              MR. KENNEDY:  Let me do this.  If I
3 can introduce one more exhibit I think then it
4 will help us along.  No, this is a good time for
5 a break.
6              (Short recess taken.)
7              MR. KENNEDY:  Could you mark this
8 as Exhibit 3.
9              (Five pages from TheBagAddiction

10  website printed out on 2/25/2008, marked Novak
11  Exhibit 3 for identification.)
12       Q.     Ms. Novak, we have now handed you
13 what has been marked as exhibit Novak 3, which
14 is some pages also from TheBagAddiction website.
15 These pages it indicates were printed out on
16 2/25/2008, there's five pages here.  Would you
17 take a look at this exhibit and I'll have some
18 questions.
19       A.     Okay.
20       Q.     Have you seen exhibit Novak 3
21 before?
22       A.     I don't believe so.
23       Q.     Did you understand TheBagAddiction
24 website had a statement on there that the
25 products that they were selling were replicas
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1 and not genuine?
2       A.     No.  This is obviously a checkout
3 you're saying?
4       Q.     It is.  It's a checkout from
5 TheBagAddiction by a purchaser.  Let me point
6 you to page 1 of exhibit Novak 3.  There within
7 the notice do you see the paragraph, probably
8 the fourth paragraph of the notice says "Please
9 note as stated on our site that all items are

10 replicas.  By purchasing you are acknowledging
11 the fact that they are replicas and are not to
12 be presented as originals."
13              Do you see that statement?
14       A.     I do.
15       Q.     Did you understand that the
16 products that were sold as Gucci on
17 TheBagAddiction were represented to be replicas
18 and not original Gucci products?
19       A.     I see that it is.
20       Q.     Go to the second page now.  Turn
21 the page, in the upper third of the page there
22 are these two check boxes.  One says, "I agree
23 to the Terms & Conditions of this site."  Then
24 under that, "I understand these items being
25 purchased are replicas, not originals."  Do you
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1 see that?
2       A.     I do.
3       Q.     Did you understand that in order
4 for a purchase to be completed the purchaser had
5 to check the box that says "I understand these
6 items being purchased are replicas, not
7 originals"?
8       A.     I see that now.  There was nothing
9 next to the product though in terms of people

10 browsing the site that I saw from the past
11 exhibit, but I do see it here on this page.
12       Q.     Right.  And that would be for
13 anyone purchasing the product would see that,
14 correct?
15       A.     Apparently.
16       Q.     And you don't know whether the
17 pages, even before you get to the purchasing
18 information, had a notification that the
19 products are replicas and not originals, right?
20       A.     As I recall, there was some
21 information in the Q and A section to that
22 point, but it was rather hidden on the site.
23       Q.     Would it be fair to say that in
24 terms of the purchasers who bought these
25 replicas on TheBagAddiction website at a
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1 studies, I don't know exactly which ones.
2       Q.     Does Exhibit 15 state anywhere in
3 it what the studies are from which these
4 recommendations are being made by Millward
5 Brown?
6       A.     I'm just looking through to see.
7       Q.     Go ahead, take your time.
8       A.     I don't see any specific reference
9 to which studies it's based upon.

10       Q.     Are you done reviewing it?
11       A.     No.  I don't see any specific
12 reference.
13       Q.     Would you turn to page 20 of
14 exhibit Novak 15?
15       A.     Yes.
16       Q.     That page refers to "Gucci Top Ten
17 Website Purchase Drivers - Online Clients."
18 What was the source of the information provided
19 on that page?
20       A.     I believe it was based upon the
21 surveys and focus groups.
22       Q.     Were they earlier focus groups than
23 the ones set forth in exhibit Novak 12?
24       A.     They would have had to be.
25       Q.     Do you know if Gucci has a record
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1 of the earlier focus groups that are set forth
2 in this page 20 of exhibit Novak 15?
3       A.     I don't know.  I believe they would
4 have it or would be able to obtain it from
5 Millward Brown.  It's also possible that there
6 were earlier focus groups that the information
7 was reused in this document for July 16.  So
8 this could have only been possibly one time that
9 they did focus groups, I'm not sure.  Again, I

10 wasn't in charge of the project.
11       Q.     Did you make any changes to the
12 website for Gucci.com, based on the
13 recommendations set forth in these various
14 Millward Brown reports that we've been through?
15       A.     We're utilizing the data as we
16 build our new website.
17       Q.     What specific changes are being
18 made?
19              MR. HOGAN:  Objection to the extent
20 this isn't under the 30(b)(6), but you can
21 answer.
22       A.     I can take each specific one if you
23 like and speak to it.
24       Q.     What page are you on?
25       A.     Page 20 that you identified.
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1 "Completing of purchase is easy and fast," so
2 we're looking to streamline the checkout on the
3 new website that will launch in the next month
4 or so.  "Enhances my opinion of the brand,"
5 we've tried to make it a much more interesting
6 experience and focus on the craftsmanship of the
7 product and the heritage of the brand, including
8 much more care information and material
9 information and craftsmanship information.

10              Is an online experience that I
11 enjoy.  We've tried to make it more
12 entertaining, yet more functional when people
13 want to make a purchase.  "Keeps me updated on
14 the status of my order," we're looking into
15 providing order status more readily for clients,
16 more quickly for clients than we do now.
17              "Receiving orders from this website
18 is hassle free," as I mentioned before we're
19 looking to streamline the checkout.  "Product
20 images provide enough detail to purchase," we've
21 enhanced our images, shopped them in a way that
22 we feel is easier to see the product.  Did more
23 zoom shots, more alternative shots, more
24 internal shots of the product.
25              "It's easy to find what I'm looking
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1 for," we've improved the search functionality of
2 the site.  "Helps me decide what to purchase in
3 the store," we have continued with the printout
4 of the product pages and made it easier to get
5 in touch with customer service, made that more
6 visible on the site.  So if you want to see if
7 it's available in the store you can call someone
8 or e-mail them.
9              "Is a website that is

10 entertaining," the communications portion of the
11 site has been enhanced with much more images and
12 much more text, again about heritage.  "Provides
13 a great shopping experience," pretty much all of
14 the above that I've said.
15              So yes.  In answer to your
16 question, we certainly have taken these things
17 into account as we build a new site.
18       Q.     Do you know whether Gucci has been
19 sent returns of any of the replica products
20 which were purchased on one of the replica
21 websites?
22       A.     Not to my knowledge.
23       Q.     What I'm asking for is whether
24 Gucci has received products from a purchaser
25 from the website who returned it to Gucci
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1 thinking it was a genuine Gucci product?
2       A.     I'm not aware of any.
3       Q.     Are you aware of any letters sent
4 to Gucci from persons who have purchased from
5 one of the replica websites, saying that they
6 thought that they had bought a genuine Gucci
7 bag?
8       A.     I believe I viewed a couple of
9 letters to our customer service department

10 inquiring about whether the websites, I believe
11 one was TheBagAddiction, were valid websites.
12 It was unclear to those clients it appeared.  I
13 don't remember the exact content of the letter
14 but it was to Nealy Parsons, who is in our
15 customer service department in Secaucus, New
16 Jersey.
17              MR. KENNEDY:  I would like to take
18 a five-minute break to look at my notes.
19              (Short recess taken.)
20              MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you.  I don't
21 have any other questions.  I think we're done.
22 I would like to state on the record that I will
23 keep the original exhibits, so if there's ever
24 any question as to where they are, they're with
25 me.
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1              MR. HOGAN:  Okay.  Then can we
2 request on the record that you image them with
3 the exhibit number and send them to us?
4              MR. KENNEDY:  I'll do the first
5 page and then you can use what you have
6 otherwise.  We'll do that off the record.  Thank
7 you.
8              MR. HOGAN:  The witness will read
9 and sign.

10              MR. KENNEDY:  That is fine.  We
11 agree.
12
13                 (Time noted: 1:10 p.m.)
14
15              ----------------------------
16                     TERILYN NOVAK
17
18 Subscribed and sworn to before me
19 this      day of          , 2010.
20
21 -----------------------------------
22          Notary Public
23
24
25
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1                  ERRATA
2       I wish to make the following changes, for

the following reasons:
3
4 PAGE LINE
5 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
6            REASON:  ____________________________
7 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
8            REASON:  ____________________________
9 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________

10            REASON:  ____________________________
11 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
12            REASON:  ____________________________
13 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
14            REASON:  ____________________________
15 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
16            REASON:  ____________________________
17 ____ ____  CHANGE:  ____________________________
18            REASON:  ____________________________
19
20 _______________________________    _____________
21 WITNESS' SIGNATURE                 DATE
22
23
24
25
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1                C E R T I F I C A T E
2
3              I, Roberta Caiola, a Shorthand
4       Reporter and Notary Public within and
5       for the State of New York, do hereby
6       certify:
7
8              That the statements, colloquy
9       and testimony contained herein is a

10       true record of the proceedings in this
11       matter.
12
13              I further certify that I am
14       not related to any of the parties
15       involved in this proceeding, and that
16       I am in no way interested in the
17       outcome of this matter.
18
19
20              ---------------------------
21                     ROBERTA CAIOLA
22
23
24
25
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          UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
         SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

GUCCI AMERICA, INC.
                              Civil Action No.
                  Plaintiff,
                              09-6925-HB
           -against-
FRONTLINE PROCESSING CORPORATION;
WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK;
DURANGO MERCHANT SERVICES LLC
d/b/a  NATIONAL BANKCARD SYSTEMS
OF DURANGO; ABC COMPANIES;
and JOHN DOES,

                  Defendants.
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -x

              30(b)(6) Deposition of SANDRO
RISI, taken by attorneys for Defendants,
pursuant to Notice, held at the offices of
GIBSON, DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP, 200 Park Avenue,
New York, New York, before Douglas Winter, a
Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public, on
Wednesday, June 23, 2010, commencing at 9:36
a.m.
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2 A P P E A R A N C E S :
3

        GIBSON DUNN & CRUTCHER, LLP
4         Attorneys for Plaintiff

                200 Park Avenue
5                 New York, New York 10155-0193

        BY:   ROBERT WEIGEL, ESQ.
6
7         LERNER DAVID LITTENBERG KRUMHOLZ &

        MENTLIK  LLP
8          Attorneys for Defendants

                600 South Avenue West
9                 Westfield, New Jersey 07090,

        BY:   CHARLES P. KENNEDY, ESQ.
10
11

ALSO PRESENT:
12

        Mark Stevenosky, Summer Associate,
13         Lerner David
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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2
3                    I N D E X
4 WITNESS:  SANDRO RISI                      PAGE
5         BY MR. KENNEDY                       5
6
7                INDEX OF EXHIBITS
8 Risi 1  Amended Notice of Deposition        29
9 Risi 2  List of cease and desist letters    34

10 Risi 3  TRO, 3/7/07                         44
11 Risi 4  Falsone Declaration,                63

        Gucci v. Laurette, Bates No.
12         Gucci46043-306
13 Risi 5  Complaint, Gucci v. Laurette,       74

        6/3/08
14
15 Risi 6  Final Order, Gucci v. Laurett       92
16 Risi 7  Confidential Settlement Agreement,  96

        Gucci v. Laurette
17
18 Risi 8  E-mail with attached WWD article,  100

        Gobo/Vitale, 8/10/09
19
20 Risi 9  Customer correspondence,           124

        Bates No.Gucci83582-599
21
22 Risi 10 Printout, Bluefly.com website,     128

5 pages
23
24 Dates of cease and desist letters        34/15
25 Jonathan Moss last known address         56/25
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2                    S T I P U L A T I O N S
3               IT IS HEREBY STIPULATED AND
4         AGREED by and between counsel for the
5         respective parties hereto, that the
6         filing, sealing and certification of the
7         within deposition shall be and the same
8         are hereby waived;
9               IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND

10         AGREED that all objections, except as to
11         the form of the question, shall be
12         reserved to the time of the trial.
13               IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED AND
14         AGREED that the within deposition may be
15         signed and sworn to before any officer
16         authorized to administer an oath with
17         the same force and effect as if signed
18         and sworn to before the Court.
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1                        Risi
2
3                   SANDRO RISI
4         after having been first duly
5         sworn, was examined and testified as
6         follows:
7 BY MR. KENNEDY
8         Q.    Good morning.  Would you state
9 your name for the record?

10         A.    Sandro Risi.
11         Q.    Mr. Risi, I am an attorney for
12 Woodforest National Bank taking your deposition
13 today.
14               Let me just run through a few
15 ground rules.  But have you been deposed
16 previously?
17         A.    Yes, once.
18         Q.    So these may be familiar to you,
19 but I will ask you questions.
20               You understand that you are under
21 oath, and it's important that you tell the
22 truth?
23         A.    Yes.
24         Q.    Okay.  And do you understand that
25 it's important because your testimony may be
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1                        Risi
2 used as testimony in a court?
3         A.    Yes.
4         Q.    Okay.  If you have any difficulty
5 understanding the questions I ask, I would ask
6 that you point that out to me.  And I will make
7 an effort to rephrase them.  Is that fair?
8         A.    Okay, I will.
9         Q.    And if you need to take a break

10 during the course of the deposition, just ask to
11 do so, and we'll be happy to honor that request.
12 But I would ask that you don't do that while a
13 question is pending.
14               You understand that?
15         A.    Yes.  I understand that.
16         Q.    Very good.
17               Can you tell me what your present
18 job position is?
19         A.    My present job position is a CFO
20 for Gucci America Inc.  Chief Financial Officer.
21         Q.    What are your job
22 responsibilities?
23         A.    My responsibility is to look after
24 a team of nearly 60 people, dealing with all the
25 finance matters related to the business that we
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1                        Risi
2 carry over these -- over the U.S.A.
3         Q.    Did -- I am sorry.
4               And also another rule during the
5 deposition, I won't intentionally cut you off,
6 but if I do that accidentally, just point it
7 out, and I will allow you to finish your answer.
8               So if I did it in that case, did
9 you have more to add?

10         A.    Not really.  Finance basically
11 includes everything in the organization, which
12 includes credit collection, accounts payable,
13 dealing with banks, taxes.
14         Q.    Do you have any responsibility for
15 enforcement of trademarks?
16         A.    I do have some responsibility in
17 this respect as well.
18         Q.    What is that responsibility?
19         A.    The legal department report to me.
20 And therefore, within the legal department, the
21 activities related to IP basically are carried
22 by them.
23         Q.    Who in the legal department has
24 principal responsibility for trademark
25 enforcement?
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1                        Risi
2         A.    It's a shared decision, in a way,
3 between the local legal counselor, and the legal
4 department, which is based in Florence as well.
5         Q.    Is Gucci America a U.S. company?
6         A.    Gucci America Inc. is a U.S.
7 company.
8         Q.    Does it have its own legal
9 department?

10         A.    Yes, they have.
11         Q.    Where is it located?
12         A.    It's in New York.
13         Q.    Okay.  Within that legal
14 department, is there -- can you tell me who the
15 person would be who has principal responsibility
16 for trademark enforcement?
17         A.    We do have, in terms of function,
18 general counsel, that tend to coordinate with
19 our colleagues in Europe, because the brand is
20 the same worldwide.  And therefore, we need to
21 make sure that the brand is protected in the
22 most effective way on a worldwide.
23               And within the legal department,
24 we still have some other people, either
25 internally or externally, that might assist us
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1                        Risi
2         Q.    Okay.  Who did you work for prior
3 to joining?
4         A.    Before that I was working -- my
5 responsibility was CFO for Europe and Middle
6 East for the Gucci brand in Europe.
7         Q.    Okay.  All right.
8               So let's -- I wanted to do this
9 quickly, but let me go back.

10               Let's start with:  What's your
11 formal education?
12         A.    I graduated as an accountant and
13 economist, and I started then to work for
14 Coopers & Lybrand.  This was in 1986.
15         Q.    Okay.
16         A.    And then I then had experience
17 abroad with Coopers & Lybrand.  I was working
18 actually for Coopers & Lybrand in Italy.  Then I
19 moved to England for two years, in '94, '95.
20               In 2000, I decided to join the
21 Gucci Group, and I was taking care about all the
22 retail activities within Europe and Middle East.
23               And in 2006, I moved here in U.S.
24 to take care about the business for our group on
25 this side of the world.
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1                        Risi
2         Q.    Where did you obtain your formal
3 degree, and what college was it from?
4         A.    The degree was in, in -- I was
5 living in the southern part of Italy, the
6 insurance -- the name of the institute is, is
7 the Instituto Tecnico Commerciale "Ezio Vanoni",
8 and the city was Nardo.
9         Q.    What year was that that you got

10 your degree?
11         A.    It was in 1985.
12         Q.    I see.  And was your degree a
13 bachelor's degree?
14         A.    No.  It was not.
15         Q.    Okay.  It was -- was it a --
16         A.    It's high school.  I don't know
17 what you call it.
18         Q.    Oh, high school?
19         A.    Yes.
20         Q.    Okay.  Do you have any education
21 beyond high school?
22         A.    I spent nearly one year doing a
23 specialized training course on auditing.  And it
24 was a full time, basically, training.  I will
25 say training workshop, if you like.
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1                        Risi
2               And it was done through the
3 European community, and several audit firms were
4 part of it.  And then I started work with them.
5         Q.    Okay.  This one-year auditing
6 course --
7         A.    Was 1986.
8         Q.    Okay.  And who was it done
9 through?  Was it done through a college, or was

10 this some --
11         A.    Through the European community,
12 European community.
13         Q.    Did you receive a degree from
14 that?
15         A.    It's not a real degree, but it was
16 a -- it was a formal acknowledgment.
17         Q.    Okay.  Very good.
18               When you joined Gucci America in
19 April 2006, did you -- or when thereafter did
20 you obtain the responsibility of having the
21 legal department report to you?
22         A.    It was during 2007, I would say.
23         Q.    Can you pinpoint that a little
24 more as to what month?
25         A.    No.  I can't remember.
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1                        Risi
2         Q.    Okay.  But prior to whatever date
3 it was in 2007, the legal department did not
4 report to you at Gucci America.  Is that
5 correct?
6         A.    That's correct.  It was reporting
7 directly to the president of the company.
8         Q.    Okay.
9         A.    But in order to streamline the

10 processes, since I had a direct involvement in
11 the daily legal operation, it was more effective
12 for me to take a direct responsibility for that
13 department.
14         Q.    Who was the president?
15         A.    The president name was Daniella
16 Vitale, V-I-T-A-L-E.
17         Q.    Is Daniella Vitale still with
18 Gucci America?
19         A.    No.  As I mentioned, she left at
20 the beginning of the year -- no, two months ago.
21         Q.    Thank you.  The beginning of 2010?
22         A.    2010, yes.
23         Q.    Thank you.  All right.
24               Now let me go back then.  I was
25 asking you about your first becoming aware that
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1                        Risi
2 there were Internet companies advertising Gucci
3 replicas.  You told me that was in 2007.
4               Was it as soon as you got the
5 responsibility of having the legal department
6 report to you that you became aware of that?
7         A.    It was part of the daily
8 discussion, if you like, that I was entertaining
9 with the legal department, as together with

10 other discussions in relation to the business
11 that we had the responsibility for.
12         Q.    Was it your understanding that
13 these Internet companies had existed prior to
14 the time in 2007 when you became aware of them,
15 but it was just that you -- you -- the legal
16 department wasn't reporting to you at that prior
17 time?
18               MR. WEIGEL:  I am going to object
19         to the question.  It's compound, and
20         it's vague as to what you mean by "these
21         companies."
22         Q.    Can you answer the question?
23         A.    It's possible they were doing
24 something, but I am not really aware about it.
25         Q.    And you wouldn't have been aware
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2 in 2006 because it wasn't your responsibility to
3 have the legal department report to you on such
4 matters.  Is that accurate?
5         A.    Not really, because we -- as I
6 said, we had daily -- I was having already daily
7 contacts with them.  So it is possible that I
8 was already aware of something going on.
9         Q.    When you became aware of such

10 Internet companies out there, in 2007, did you
11 put in place a procedure to investigate those
12 companies, and determine whether or not you
13 would take action against them?
14         A.    We -- generally, we tend to use --
15 when we get information about some sites that is
16 selling the fake products, or potentially good
17 products, but, you know, from different and
18 artificial channels, we try to use investigators
19 in order to see if the products are real or not.
20         Q.    All right.  When you say "from
21 unofficial channels," what did you mean?
22         A.    It is possible that some products
23 has been bought, for instance, from our outlet,
24 and they are sold on line at a markup, higher
25 price from somebody else.
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1                        Risi
2         Q.    Are you aware of Internet sites
3 that have sold legitimate Gucci products, but
4 from -- they didn't come directly from Gucci but
5 came from an outlet?
6         A.    On top of my mind, no.
7         Q.    Okay.  But you did say -- earlier,
8 you answered my question by saying that you are
9 investigating sites that were selling fake

10 products, or potentially good products from
11 different and -- from different or unauthorized
12 channels, and that's why I asked you about that.
13               Were you aware of that occurring?
14               MR. WEIGEL:  Asked and answered.
15         If you have something else you want to
16         add to your last answer, go ahead.
17         A.    Only thing I want to say, you
18 can't say if it's real or fake until you buy it.
19 So, therefore, when I look at the website, it's
20 still possible that the merchandise is good.
21         Q.    Right.  Well, how -- for any of
22 the websites that have been investigated, have
23 you -- I am not sure -- for any of the websites
24 that you have investigated, have you determined
25 that the goods that were sold over those
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2 websites were legitimate Gucci goods?
3         A.    I --
4               MR. WEIGEL:  Are you talking about
5         just any website at all?
6               MR. KENNEDY:  Absolutely.
7               MR. WEIGEL:  Not the ones we're
8         talking about in our lawsuit?
9 BY MR. KENNEDY

10         Q.    Any website.
11         A.    I don't know.
12         Q.    Sorry.  Your answer is:  You don't
13 know?
14         A.    In the sense that I can't pinpoint
15 any website in this moment for which we conduct
16 an investigation, which means we bought some
17 product.
18               And I cannot say if the result of
19 it was a real product or a fake, or if we had
20 cases where we were having real products.
21         Q.    Try to -- try to accurately finish
22 what you had said.  That's what we're trying to
23 determine.
24               MR. WEIGEL:  Wait a second.
25               MR. KENNEDY:  Wait.
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1                        Risi
2         Q.    Okay.  And who would you ask to do
3 that?
4         A.    I would ask to the legal
5 department.
6         Q.    Anyone in particular in the legal
7 department?
8         A.    To Stacy Feldman.
9         Q.    Is Stacy Feldman the person who

10 produced this list?
11         A.    Yes, she's the one.
12         Q.    Okay.  We're talking about this
13 list.
14               MR. KENNEDY:  Sorry, Bob.  Do you
15         have additional copies?  I'd like to
16         mark it.
17               MR. WEIGEL:  Sure.
18               (Handing)
19               MR. KENNEDY:  Thank you.  And you
20         have a copy yourself?
21               MR. WEIGEL:  I do.
22               MR. KENNEDY:  Could you mark this
23         as Exhibit Risi 2?
24               (Exhibit Risi 2, List of cease and
25         desist letters, marked)
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1                        Risi
2               MR. WEIGEL:  By agreement, we'll
3         substitute in a Bates numbered copy of
4         this.
5               MR. KENNEDY:  That's fine.  We'll
6         substitute it into the transcript.
7         That's fine.
8 BY MR. KENNEDY
9         Q.    Mr. Risi, you have been shown

10 Exhibit Risi 2.
11               Is this the list that was provided
12 to you by Miss Feldman that you have been
13 testifying about?
14         A.    That's correct.
15               MR. KENNEDY:  I am going to ask,
16         Bob, that we be given the dates when the
17         cease and desist letters went out for
18         each of these accounts, because
19         apparently it's available information.
20               MR. WEIGEL:  I will take the
21         request --
22         A.    As I said, I would assume it's
23 available.  I don't know if the system is really
24 tracking all the information or not.
25         Q.    Yes.  I understand that.
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1                        Risi
2               MR. KENNEDY:  But if it is
3         available, I'd like to have it.
4               MR. WEIGEL:  I will take the
5         request under advisement.
6         Q.    And I understand, Mr. Risi, that
7 request would be made of Miss Feldman.  Is that
8 right?
9         A.    That's correct.

10         Q.    Okay.  Who signs the cease and
11 desist letters?  Are they signed by someone at
12 Gucci America, or are they signed by outside
13 counsel?
14         A.    I assume that they are signed by
15 Gucci America.
16         Q.    Okay.  Now, am I correct,
17 Mr. Risi, that there is a procedure in place at
18 Gucci America of investigating websites that
19 sell replica Gucci products so that you can then
20 send out cease and desist letters and follow up
21 on those websites?
22         A.    I would say so.
23         Q.    Okay.  And would you outline for
24 me what the steps are that are taken in that
25 procedure under normal course?
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2               And let me start with this.  How
3 do you find out as to what websites are out
4 there that are advertising Gucci products?
5               MR. WEIGEL:  There are about three
6         questions in there.  Which one do you
7         want him to answer?
8               MR. KENNEDY:  The last one I
9         asked.

10         A.    Which was?
11         Q.    Okay.  I will reread it.  I will
12 just rephrase it.
13               How do you -- let's start:  With
14 how do you find out what websites are out there
15 that are advertising Gucci products?
16         A.    It's easy.  You can Google the
17 Gucci word, and you can see which site are
18 coming in the list, in the result of the search.
19         Q.    Even I am capable of that.
20               Whose responsibility is it to
21 check in that fashion, by doing Google searches?
22         A.    We do it internally.  Everybody
23 within the company can do it.  And if they
24 realize that there is something strange going
25 on, we basically highlight the issue, and then
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2 we decide what kind of option we need to put in
3 place.
4         Q.    How regularly do you do it?
5         A.    I personally?
6         Q.    Yes.
7         A.    Not so regularly.  I have some
8 other things to do.
9         Q.    Okay.  Well, who has principal

10 responsibility for doing that.  Is it Miss
11 Feldman?
12         A.    Is correct.
13         Q.    Okay.  And do you know if
14 Miss Feldman does that procedure at least once a
15 month?
16         A.    Even more than that, I would say.
17         Q.    How long has Miss Feldman been
18 employed by Gucci America?
19         A.    If I remember well, she joined in
20 2008.
21         Q.    How about Jonathan Moss?  Did he
22 have responsibility for monitoring these sort of
23 websites prior to when Miss Feldman had that
24 responsibility?
25         A.    This responsibility has been
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2 always within the legal department.
3         Q.    Okay.  When Jonathan Moss -- when
4 did Jonathan Moss join Gucci America?  Do you
5 know?
6         A.    It was before me.  When I arrived
7 in the company, it was already in the company,
8 so I would assume before 2006.
9         Q.    Okay.  Now, just going back to the

10 procedure, when you do one of the -- when Gucci
11 America does one of these Google searches, and
12 you find names of some sites that are
13 advertising Gucci merchandise, what's the next
14 step that you take?
15         A.    As I said, we try to see if the
16 merchandise that is sold by website could be a
17 real Gucci merchandise, or it could be a fake or
18 replica.
19         Q.    And is -- I am sorry.  How do you
20 do that?  What are you looking at?
21         A.    First of all, you try to see for
22 the products.  It's a new product or it's an old
23 product.
24               If it's a new product which is
25 sold for a fraction of the real value, of the
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2 real price, highlights our attention.
3               If the price is a -- substantially
4 in line with the price that we have in our own
5 store, we might assume that this is real
6 products, and therefore we might eventually
7 decide to buy the products and to, let's say,
8 verify if it's a real one or not through our
9 quality control department.

10         Q.    Okay.  For the websites where you
11 see that the products are being offered at
12 substantially less than what the Gucci products
13 sell for, does -- do you then proceed to a cease
14 and desist letter, or do you purchase products
15 before you do that?
16         A.    It's on a case by case.  We might
17 just issue a cease and desist letter, or maybe
18 we might go with a full investigation that would
19 involve to buy products through some
20 investigators.
21         Q.    Okay.  Now, do you know how many
22 of these websites that you send out cease and
23 desist letters on, on this Exhibit Risi 2,
24 actually responded to the cease and desist
25 letter?
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2         A.    I know that we do some follow-up.
3 And sometime we reissue some cease and desist
4 letter, which let me believe that in most cases
5 the people stopped to do; you know, stopped
6 using the Gucci, the Gucci name or the Gucci
7 products in their website.
8         Q.    What's the next step that you take
9 for the websites where after your cease and

10 desist letter they don't stop?
11         A.    We need to take decision if we are
12 going to have a lawsuit or not against this
13 website.
14         Q.    All right.  And if you decide to
15 have a lawsuit against the website, what do you
16 do?
17         A.    Not necessarily we do it, because
18 our budget is not unlimited.
19         Q.    Okay.  But for those that you
20 decide to pursue them through lawsuits, because
21 you have done a cease and desist letter and the
22 website continues to advertise Gucci
23 merchandise, do you in those cases get an
24 investigator and hire outside counsel, file a
25 lawsuit?
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2               MR. WEIGEL:  Can I have just a
3         minute with the witness?
4               (Pause for witness and counsel to
5         confer)
6         A.    Okay.  I know which one is it now.
7               MR. KENNEDY:  Okay.  Well, you
8         know, I do object to you interjecting
9         information to the witness.  It may be

10         helpful to the testimony, so I am going
11         to ask him --
12               MR. WEIGEL:  You can't ask him
13         what I said.  But you can ask him --
14               MR. KENNEDY:  I -- still, this is
15         my deposition, Mr. Weigel.  I don't
16         think it's proper to confer with the
17         witness during the course of
18         questioning.
19               MR. WEIGEL:  I was just trying to
20         help out.  The caption has one thing.
21               This case ultimately turned into a
22         battle with the Bank of China, which we
23         were successful.  That's why I mentioned
24         it to the witness.
25               MR. KENNEDY:  Let me get testimony
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2         from the witness, not counsel.
3 BY MR. KENNEDY
4         Q.    Mr. Risi, I know your counsel made
5 a comment to you.
6         A.    Hum hum.
7         Q.    Does it help your recollection as
8 to whether you knew about this matter, and the
9 questions I have asked you about this matter

10 represented by Risi 3?
11         A.    I do recollect something more, but
12 the substance of it is still the same, which in
13 a sense means that I do remember the name, I do
14 remember the outcome of it, and I do remember
15 that it was not yet within my area of
16 responsibility.
17         Q.    Okay.  Did this case later come
18 into your area of responsibility after the
19 initial temporary restraining order was
20 obtained?  Is that your recollection?
21         A.    I don't remember, to be honest.
22               For sure, after, it was a hot
23 topic, this one.  And I remember that there were
24 discussion regarding it.
25         Q.    Why was it a hot topic?
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2         A.    Because it was setting up a
3 precedent in the industry.
4         Q.    And the precedent was?  What was
5 the precedent you were trying to set up in this
6 case?
7         A.    Because not -- because a bank was
8 involved in the outcome of it.
9         Q.    These were banks -- point out to

10 me which were the banks involved in this matter.
11         A.    The bank was bank of --
12               THE WITNESS:  -- China?
13         A.    And -- yeah.
14         Q.    Is that bank any of the companies
15 in the caption?
16         A.    No.  It is not.  But my lawyers
17 allowed me to recollect or to, as I say, to link
18 this website to the outcome of it.
19         Q.    Your lawyer mentioned to you that
20 this had something to do with the Bank of China.
21 Is that right?
22         A.    That's correct.
23         Q.    And you are saying -- your
24 testimony is that this later became a hot topic
25 when you assumed responsibility for these
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2 matters because you were trying to set up a
3 precedent to go after a bank.  Is that right?
4         A.    No, it's not right.
5         Q.    What's not right about it?
6         A.    You are putting some different
7 words in my mouth.
8               What I said:  It was a hot topic
9 because it was in relation to going after a bank

10 for -- indirectly, if you like.
11         Q.    For -- what do you mean by "for
12 indirectly"?
13         A.    Because the website were not owned
14 by the bank.
15         Q.    What was the bank doing, to your
16 understanding, to facilitate the website?
17         A.    They were holding the money and
18 collecting -- concentrating the money out of
19 this, as a result of the sales made by this
20 website.
21               MR. WEIGEL:  If you want to go off
22         the record two seconds, I will explain
23         it to you, might shorten it.
24               MR. KENNEDY:  No.
25               MR. WEIGEL:  It's all public
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2         record.
3               MR. KENNEDY:  It's all right.
4         Q.    Is it fair to say, though, that
5 this did not involve a bank or financial
6 institution that was providing processing for
7 credit cards for the website?
8         A.    I don't know.
9         Q.    Okay.  Now, at the time that this

10 temporary restraining order was entered against
11 this MyReplicaHandbag dot-com, which would have
12 been March of 2007, did Gucci have in place this
13 procedure to at least check on what websites
14 were out there by doing Google searches?
15         A.    I would say so.
16         Q.    Did you have responsibility for a
17 lawsuit that Gucci America filed against
18 Laurette Company?
19         A.    It was within my area of
20 responsibility, yes.
21         Q.    Okay.  And the Laurette Company
22 was operating a website called The Bag
23 Addiction.  Is that correct?
24         A.    That's correct.
25         Q.    And they were selling Gucci
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2 replicas, correct?
3         A.    Correct.
4         Q.    Okay.  Now, can you tell me what
5 you determined in preparing for this deposition
6 to have been the earliest date that Gucci became
7 aware of the Bag Addiction?
8         A.    What I am aware of is that in late
9 2000 and seven, I would say, we asked

10 Mr. Falsone to perform an investigation on the
11 website, and we waited for the result of it.
12         Q.    Okay.  Before you asked Mr. --
13 well, strike that.
14               Mr. Falsone is a private
15 investigator, correct?
16         A.    Correct.
17         Q.    Who asked Mr. Falsone to perform
18 the investigation?  Was it Gucci America or was
19 it counsel?
20         A.    I don't know.
21         Q.    Okay.  Did you ask Mr. Falsone?
22         A.    I didn't.  It is possible it was
23 coming either from our internal legal department
24 or from our external lawyers.
25         Q.    If it came from the internal legal
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2 department, would that have been Jonathan Moss?
3         A.    Eventually, yes.
4         Q.    Now, I am presuming that before
5 Mr. Falsone was asked to investigate the Bag
6 Addiction, I take it that Gucci America learned
7 about the Bag Addiction somehow?
8         A.    It is possible, like, as I said --
9 as we said before, either it may be through a

10 Google search, or maybe it's some other
11 information that became available to us.
12         Q.    Yes, one way or another, you had
13 found out about the Bag Addiction and at least
14 knew enough to ask a private investigator to
15 investigate it, right?
16         A.    That's correct.
17         Q.    And you would presume that that
18 would include the procedure of doing the Google
19 search, correct?
20         A.    Not necessarily.
21         Q.    Well, do you know that the Bag
22 Addiction could be found as simply doing a
23 Google search for Gucci handbags?
24         A.    I didn't do it, so -- I didn't
25 make the search by myself, so I don't know.
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2         Q.    Well, do you know that it could
3 come up that easily?
4         A.    Yes.  Because in the Falsone
5 declaration, I think I saw that the Bag
6 Addiction was one of the sponsored on the site
7 of the Google result.
8         Q.    Do you know whether -- well,
9 strike that.

10               How -- now, how did Gucci America
11 become aware of the Bag Addiction?
12         A.    As I said, I don't know.  It is
13 possible through a result of Google search or
14 through some other sources.
15         Q.    Well, did you ask Stacy Feldman
16 for this deposition?
17         A.    Can you reword it, please?
18         Q.    Yes.  Did you ask Stacy Feldman
19 how Gucci America became aware of the Bag
20 Addiction for purposes of preparing for this
21 deposition?
22         A.    No.  I didn't ask her.
23         Q.    Did you ask anyone else at Gucci
24 America that question?
25         A.    In order to prepare for this
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2         A.    Correct.
3         Q.    Okay.  Gucci has banks that
4 provide credit card processing for its website,
5 correct?
6         A.    Correct.
7         Q.    Okay.  Do you know what rate the
8 banks charge for the credit card processing?
9         A.    To us?

10         Q.    Yes.
11         A.    In the region of 2 percent, I
12 would say.  It depends of the kind of credit
13 cards that we are talking about.
14         Q.    The 2 percent you are talking
15 about, do you know how much you are charged by
16 VISA and Mastercard?
17         A.    Hum hum.  Generally, out of the 2
18 percent, more or less, all of it goes to VISA,
19 Mastercard.
20               Only a negligible commission would
21 remain to our processor, which is in the region
22 of tenths of a percentage.
23         Q.    For the website, for the credit
24 card processor, do you use the same processor
25 that are used for Gucci retail sales, that are
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2 credit card transactions?
3         A.    We use different platform because
4 in the Internet website, the way our website is
5 built, require different -- a different setup.
6         Q.    Do you use a different processor,
7 though?  I know you said you use a different
8 platform, but does that require a different
9 processor or not?

10         A.    We have -- not necessarily, no.
11         Q.    Do you -- can you tell me
12 approximately what percentage of Gucci sales
13 come by way of the Internet site versus retail?
14         A.    They -- E commerce or -- the E
15 Commerce Channel represent more or less 8 or
16 9 percent of our total retail sales.
17               (Exhibit Risi 4, Falsone
18 Declaration, Gucci v. Laurette, Bates Gucci
19 46043-306, marked)
20         Q.    Mr. Risi, we have now handed you
21 what's been marked as Exhibit Risi 4.  It's a
22 declaration of Michael F. Falsone, in the case
23 of Gucci America versus Laurette Company.  It
24 has Bates Nos. Gucci 46043 through 46306.
25         A.    Yes.
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2         Q.    Okay.  You have seen this document
3 before?
4         A.    I saw it, yes.
5         Q.    You saw this in your preparation
6 for today's deposition.  Is that correct?
7         A.    Correct.
8         Q.    Okay.  Now, is this -- is it
9 accurate to say that this declaration of Michael

10 Falsone is a declaration by the private
11 investigator who was hired, either by Gucci
12 America or counsel, to investigate the Bag
13 Addiction website?
14         A.    That's correct.
15         Q.    Now, is it fair to say, in your
16 testimony on behalf of Gucci America, that you
17 recognize that Gucci America itself would have
18 at least seen the Bag Addiction website before
19 it turned this matter over to Mr. Falsone to
20 investigate?
21         A.    Can you rephrase it, please?
22         Q.    Yes.  Gucci America would have at
23 least seen or viewed the Bag Addiction website
24 before it told Mr. Falsone to do an
25 investigation of that website?
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2         A.    I would assume so, yes.
3         Q.    You would also assume that someone
4 at Gucci America recognized that the Bag
5 Addiction website had permitted credit card
6 payments?
7         A.    I would assume so.
8         Q.    Okay.  And likewise, one at Gucci
9 America would know that there's a credit card

10 processor that's being used by the Bag
11 Addiction; namely, some bank?
12         A.    I would assume so, yes.
13         Q.    All right.  I'd like you to turn
14 to paragraph 2 of Mr. Falsone's declaration.
15 It's on the second page.
16               And Mr. Falsone says, "Therein
17 2007, I was asked to supervise an investigation
18 into sales over the Internet to customers in the
19 United States of various goods that make use of
20 the trademarks Gucci and Chloe."
21               First, do you see that statement?
22         A.    Yes, I see it.
23         Q.    Okay.  Now, I know that
24 Mr. Falsone just talks about 2007 there.
25               Based on whatever else you have
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2 you would have considered that to be an
3 indication, in and of itself, that the goods
4 were not authorized?
5         A.    Upon I think somewhere in here, in
6 one of these documents, it's clearly read -- and
7 that -- that it's a replica.
8         Q.    I --
9         A.    I don't remember which of these

10 printouts of the website, but it was clearly
11 stated that we were talking about a replica --
12         Q.    All right.
13         A.    -- or mirror to mirror products.
14         Q.    All right.  Let me ask you to move
15 on to, within Exhibit Risi 4, to page 46134.
16               MR. WEIGEL:  46134.
17         Q.    Which I believe will be the next
18 page of what you have.
19               And there's Exhibit 4, within
20 Exhibit Risi 4.
21         A.    Yes.
22         Q.    It's Exhibit 4 to Mr. Falsone's
23 declaration.  Okay.
24               Do you see there that, from the
25 next page, that Mr. Falsone has -- I am sorry.
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2 I was going to ask you about that, but it
3 appears that Mr. Falsone has bought a Chloe bag.
4 Is that correct?
5         A.    I would say so.
6         Q.    Okay.  Did the company Chloe have
7 any corporate relationship to Gucci?
8         A.    No, none.
9               MR. WEIGEL:  Just so we don't

10         spend too much time going down this
11         path, Chloe was an additional client of
12         Gibson Dunn, and was a plaintiff in the
13         lawsuit.
14               MR. KENNEDY:  That's okay.  Again,
15         I still -- I know I think you are being
16         helpful, but I will just stick with the
17         witness' testimony.  I didn't have any
18         other questions about that.
19               MR. WEIGEL:  Okay.
20 BY MR. KENNEDY
21         Q.    Would you turn to page 46153,
22 which is Exhibit 8 within Mr. Falsone's
23 declaration which we marked as Risi Exhibit 4?
24         A.    Yes.
25         Q.    And there on the next page, do you
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2 see that Mr. Falsone has purchased as of
3 November 2, 2007 a Gucci tote bag?
4         A.    Yes.  I can see it.
5         Q.    All right.  Now, do you recall
6 Mr. Falsone receiving Gucci products and
7 confirming or -- let me strike that.  Let me
8 rephrase it.
9               Do you recall Mr. Falsone

10 receiving Gucci products before he -- or which
11 he addresses in his declaration?
12         A.    What do you mean from Gucci
13 products?
14         Q.    That was unclear.  I am sorry.
15               Do you recall that Mr. Falsone
16 actually received the Gucci products that he
17 ordered from the Bag Addiction?
18               MR. WEIGEL:  When you say "the
19         Gucci products" --
20         Q.    Let me strike that.  I am not
21 trying to confuse matters.
22               You see there that Mr. Falsone
23 purchased a Gucci handbag on November --
24 November 2, 2007, correct?
25         A.    No, no.  What I can see here is
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2 that there is the name Gucci.  I am not saying
3 that he bought for sure a Gucci bag.
4         Q.    Sorry, I see where the
5 confusion -- the confusion is coming in.
6               Do you see where Mr. Falsone, on
7 November 2, 2007, ordered a Gucci replica from
8 the Bag Addiction?
9         A.    Okay, yes.

10         Q.    Okay.  And do you understand he --
11 shortly thereafter he received the replica,
12 correct?
13         A.    I would assume so.
14         Q.    And then he was able to conclude
15 whether or not the merchandise being sold by the
16 Bag Addiction was fake Gucci, used Gucci's trade
17 marks because he would have had an actual
18 product, correct?
19         A.    I would assume so.  But, as we
20 said, in the website it was clearly stated
21 already that they were sending replicas.
22         Q.    So you understood from the website
23 that they were not original Gucci products that
24 they were selling, correct?
25         A.    Correct.
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2         Q.    Okay.  That they actually -- the
3 Bag Addiction actually said to its customers
4 these are replicas and not original Guccis,
5 correct?
6         A.    Correct.
7         Q.    Okay.  You can close the -- that
8 declaration, at least for the present time.  Let
9 me show you another document.

10               (Exhibit Risi 5, Complaint, Gucci
11         v. Laurette, 6/3/08, marked)
12         Q.    Mr. Risi, I have just handed you
13 what's been marked as Exhibit Risi 5, and it's a
14 copy of a complaint in the case of Gucci America
15 versus Laurette Company.
16               It indicates on the front page
17 that it was received by the court June 3, 2008.
18         A.    Yes.  I see it.
19         Q.    Okay.  Do you recognize Exhibit
20 Risi 5 to be the complaint that was filed
21 against the Bag Addiction by Gucci America?
22         A.    I would say so.
23         Q.    Okay.  Have you seen this
24 complaint before?
25         A.    I think I saw it with my lawyers.
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2         Q.    Okay.  This was a matter in which
3 you had some responsibility, at least in terms
4 of the legal department reporting to you,
5 correct?
6         A.    Correct.
7         Q.    All right.  Do you understand that
8 the complaint alleges that the products sold by
9 the Bag Addiction are counterfeit Gucci

10 products?
11         A.    Sorry.  Can you repeat?
12         Q.    Do you understand that this
13 complaint by Gucci America against the Bag
14 Addiction says that the products sold on the Bag
15 Addiction are counterfeit Gucci products?
16         A.    Yes.  I understand it.
17         Q.    And they infringe Gucci's
18 trademarks?  Do you understand?
19         A.    Correct, yes.
20         Q.    Now, Mr. Falsone, the private
21 investigator, had printed out the Bag Addiction
22 website, with all of its information, as of
23 October -- we looked at that date -- I think it
24 was October 9, 2007.  Is that correct?
25         A.    It was November, I think.

Page 75

1                        Risi
2         Q.    All right.  Let's go back.
3               If you would just flip to an
4 exhibit.  Here it is.
5               Exhibit 3, which begins at page
6 46124 of Exhibit Risi 4.  46124.
7         A.    Okay.  Yes?
8         Q.    Do you -- just confirming again,
9 do you see that Mr. Falsone had printed out the

10 website for the Bag Addiction on October 9,
11 2007?
12         A.    Correct.
13         Q.    Okay.  And then on November 2,
14 2007, he actually purchased a Gucci handbag from
15 the website.
16               And I am sorry.  Let me rephrase
17 that.  I have done it again.
18               He actually purchased what was
19 advertised as a Gucci replica from the Bag
20 Addiction on November 2, 2007, correct?
21         A.    Correct.
22         Q.    Okay.
23         A.    But if you go in the same
24 declaration, you see that other purchases were
25 carried on in the same --
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2         Q.    Right.
3         A.    -- as well.
4         Q.    Well, he continued to do
5 additional purchases, you are saying, in
6 December --
7         A.    Yes.
8         Q.    -- correct?
9         A.    Yes.

10         Q.    But he already had at least one
11 product that was counterfeit, correct, in
12 November 2007?  Is that right?
13         A.    Yes.
14         Q.    Okay.  And then a lawsuit was not
15 filed against the Laurette Company until June of
16 2008, correct?
17         A.    Correct, yes.
18         Q.    Okay.  And would it be fair to say
19 that during that entire period of time, from
20 October 2007 to June of 2008 that you
21 understood -- Gucci America understood that the
22 Bag Addiction was up and operating as a website?
23         A.    Correct.
24         Q.    Okay.  And they were selling Gucci
25 replicas that entire period of time?
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2         A.    Correct.
3         Q.    And you also understood that they
4 were taking credit card payments that entire
5 period of time, correct?
6         A.    I would assume so, yes.
7         Q.    Okay.  And that there was some
8 bank processing those credit card payments?
9         A.    Yes.

10         Q.    How did Gucci America learn that
11 Woodforest National Bank was a bank processing
12 credit card payments for the Bag Addiction?
13         A.    Actually, we didn't know.  We sent
14 a letter to VISA Mastercard, and they replied to
15 us by saying that the processor was the
16 Woodforest National Bank -- the Woodforest Bank.
17         Q.    So you understand that you can
18 inquire of a credit card processor as to who --
19 who the company is, who the bank is that's
20 processing credit cards for a particular
21 account, correct?
22               MR. WEIGEL:  Object to the form.
23         Vague what you mean "require."  You mean
24         sending them a subpoena or calling them
25         up --

Page 78

1                        Risi
2               MR. KENNEDY:  Please, now you are
3         coaching.  Objection to form is proper,
4         and that's where you should stop.
5               MR. WEIGEL:  You are trying to
6         mislead the witness.  It isn't right.
7         A.    What we can say is that now we
8 know if we ask to VISA, they can tell us who is
9 the processor.

10         Q.    Okay.  Because that's information
11 that VISA has, correct, using them as an
12 example?
13         A.    Sorry?
14         Q.    Using VISA as an example of a
15 credit card company?
16         A.    Yes.
17         Q.    Okay.  You understood even before
18 this whole matter that VISA had some bank that
19 was processing credit card payments.  You knew
20 that?
21         A.    Yes.
22         Q.    You didn't think it was VISA
23 themselves, correct?
24         A.    Correct.
25         Q.    Okay.  And you also knew that VISA
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2 would have the information as to which bank was
3 doing the processing, correct?
4         A.    I would assume so.
5         Q.    Okay.  And would it be fair to say
6 that when you sent the letter to VISA requesting
7 this information, that VISA gave you the
8 information of Woodforest National Bank?
9         A.    Yes.

10         Q.    Now, in the present lawsuit, you
11 understand that Gucci America has sued
12 Woodforest National Bank and Frontline, which
13 was another credit card processor, correct?
14         A.    Yes, correct.
15         Q.    Okay.  Now, you are also aware,
16 are you not, that for the credit card payments
17 that were processed by the Bag Addiction that
18 VISA made a profit on those, right?
19         A.    Yes.  I would assume so.
20         Q.    Okay.  You assumed that VISA gets
21 2 percent?
22         A.    Yes.
23         Q.    Okay.
24         A.    But I don't know how much is their
25 cost to do it.
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2         Q.    Okay.  And you would assume that
3 Mastercard gets 2 percent as well, correct?
4         A.    I would assume so.
5         Q.    Okay.
6               MR. WEIGEL:  You are not trying to
7         mislead the witness about how that money
8         might get shared with the other bank
9         that issues the card, are you?

10               MR. KENNEDY:  No.  That's not even
11         relevant to my question.
12         Q.    Do you know what percentage charge
13 American Express takes on credit card processing
14 through American Express?
15         A.    It's generally higher than VISA,
16 Mastercard.
17         Q.    It's higher than 2 percent?
18         A.    A little bit, yes.  A little bit.
19         Q.    Okay.  Now, Gucci America has not
20 sued VISA or Mastercard or American Express for
21 the profits and -- which they obtained from the
22 credit card payments made through the Bag
23 Addiction.  Is that correct?
24         A.    That's correct.
25         Q.    Are you aware that Gucci America
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2         Q.    Jonathan Moss?
3         A.    And from our colleagues in Europe
4 as well.
5         Q.    Okay.  Now, if you would look at
6 Exhibit Risi 6, with that background, do you
7 understand that this is a copy of the Final
8 Order and Judgment on Consent entered in the
9 case of Gucci America versus the Laurette

10 Company?
11         A.    Yes.
12         Q.    Were you involved at all in the
13 negotiation of this final judgment?
14         A.    As I said, no, because the
15 former -- our former legal counselor had the
16 full autonomy in dealing with these matters, and
17 I didn't have anything contrary with the
18 conclusion of the case.
19         Q.    I am sorry.  Were you required to
20 at least sign off, though, on the -- on the
21 agreement or settlement in the Laurette case?
22         A.    I don't recall if I did sign
23 anything formally or not.
24         Q.    Okay.  Whether you signed or not,
25 though, my question was:  Were you required to
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2 approve the -- whatever resolution was agreed to
3 with the Laurette defendants?  In other words,
4 did you have to say:  Oh, that's okay with Gucci
5 America?
6         A.    It was okay from my side, and I
7 was not only one taking this decision.
8               As I said, there was also the
9 president, and there were also our colleague

10 from intellectual property, defense department
11 in Florence.
12         Q.    Okay.  The individuals that
13 approved of the agreement with the -- in the
14 conclusion, the consent judgment with the
15 Laurette defendants, would have included
16 yourself.
17               And you are the CFO of Gucci
18 America, correct?
19         A.    Correct.
20         Q.    Okay.  You said the president.
21               Who was that?
22         A.    It was Daniella Vitale.
23         Q.    And then you said someone over in
24 Italy --
25         A.    Florence.

Page 95

1                        Risi
2         Q.    -- in Florence.  Who was that?
3         A.    Intellectual property, was a
4 manager.
5         Q.    Do you know the name of the
6 person?
7         A.    The name is Vanni Volpi,
8 V-A-N-N-I, V-O-L-P-I.
9         Q.    V-O-L-P-I or D-I?

10         A.    P-I.
11         Q.    Volpi.
12               Were you aware that a confidential
13 settlement agreement was struck with the
14 Laurette defendants that was not part of this
15 consent judgment which is on Exhibit Risi 6?
16         A.    I don't remember.
17         Q.    Did you have any involvement in --
18 well --
19               (Exhibit Risi 7, Confidential
20         Settlement Agreement, Gucci v. Laurette,
21         marked)
22         Q.    We have handed you what's been
23 marked as Exhibit Risi 7, and this is entitled
24 "Confidential Settlement Agreement."  It's
25 between Gucci America and Chloe on the one hand;

Page 96

1                        Risi
2 and then on the other hand, Laurette Company,
3 Jennifer Kirk and Patrick Kirk?
4         A.    Yes.
5         Q.    Have you seen this document
6 before?
7         A.    I don't -- I don't remember it.
8         Q.    Did you know that Gucci America
9 had actually entered into a confidential

10 settlement agreement with the Kirks, which would
11 have limited their liability to $200,000, before
12 submitting the consent judgment to the Court,
13 which was marked as Exhibit Risi 6?
14               (Witness reviews document)
15         A.    I knew that there was -- I knew
16 the content of it, and I knew that they were
17 running behind with their obligation.
18         Q.    When you say you knew the content
19 of it, do you mean the content of this
20 confidential settlement agreement that you are
21 looking at now, Exhibit Risi 7?
22         A.    Yes.
23         Q.    And you knew that the total
24 payments and the total liability from the
25 Laurette Company had been limited to $200,000,
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2 correct?
3               MR. WEIGEL:  I am going to object
4         to the form.
5         Q.    Is that correct?
6         A.    Yes.
7         Q.    Okay.  And that's actually under
8 Paragraph 3 in this agreement at pages two to
9 three, correct?

10         A.    Yes.
11         Q.    Now, to your understanding, did
12 the president -- I think you said it was Miss
13 Vitale?
14         A.    Yes.
15         Q.    Was she aware that this
16 confidential settlement agreement had been
17 entered into with the Kirks, and the Laurette
18 Company?
19         A.    I would assume so.
20         Q.    Okay.  And would you also assume
21 that the IP manager, Vanni Volpi, was aware?
22         A.    I would assume so as well.
23         Q.    And I note that the actual
24 signature on this confidential settlement
25 agreement on behalf of Gucci America, at page 6,
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2 is by Jonathan Moss, who was then counsel.  Is
3 that correct?
4         A.    Correct.
5         Q.    Okay.  Did you understand,
6 Mr. Risi, if you go back to Exhibit Risi 6, that
7 the final order and judgment on consent signed
8 by the Court, which is Exhibit Risi 6, in
9 Paragraph 2, which is on the -- fifth page of

10 this document, says that there -- that "the
11 defendants shall pay a judgment in the amount of
12 $5.2 million."
13               Do you see that?
14         A.    Yes.
15         Q.    Okay.  And you understood that
16 that's what the final judgment and judgment on
17 consent was that was presented to the court,
18 correct?
19         A.    Correct.
20         Q.    Okay.  Would you assume that the
21 president, Miss Vitale, also knew that, in terms
22 of the consent judgment that was being submitted
23 to the Court?
24         A.    I would assume so.
25         Q.    And she was the president of Gucci

Page 99

1                        Risi
2 America, right?
3         A.    Correct.
4               (Exhibit Risi 8, E-mail with
5         attached WWD article, Gobo/Vitale,
6         8/10/09, marked)
7         Q.    We have now handed you what's been
8 marked as Exhibit Risi 8.
9               I will state for the record that

10 it is -- appears to be an E-mail from Alex Gobo
11 to Daniella Vitale.  It's dated August 10, 2009.
12               And attached to it is a page from
13 WWD of August 10, 2009, and that includes a
14 short article on "Gucci Targets Counterfeiters'
15 Finance Firms."
16               So would you first take a look at
17 this document?  And then I will have some
18 questions for you about it.
19               (Witness reviews document)
20         A.    Yes.
21         Q.    Do you recognize this document?
22         A.    I saw it, yes.
23         Q.    Did you see it at the time?
24               MR. WEIGEL:  Which document are
25         you talking about?
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2               MR. KENNEDY:  Exhibit Risi 8.
3               MR. WEIGEL:  Are you talking about
4         the E-mail or --
5               MR. KENNEDY:  Exhibit Risi 8.
6         It's E-mail of --
7         A.    E-mail, no.  I saw it now.
8         Q.    You saw the second page, which was
9 the add -- the ad, the small article that says,

10 "Gucci Goes After Counterfeiters' Finance
11 Firms," correct?
12         A.    You need to rephrase your question
13 because this is not an ad.
14         Q.    Okay.  You saw the second page,
15 which is the -- a page from WWD, correct?
16         A.    Correct.
17         Q.    Okay.  Who is Alex Gobo?
18         A.    Alex Gobo worked for our company,
19 and he's -- is -- was the assistant of our local
20 communication director.
21         Q.    Okay.  Does Alex Gobo still work
22 for Gucci America?
23         A.    No.  He left the company.
24         Q.    Okay.  Now, this E-mail that he
25 sent on August 10, 2009, he sent it to Daniella
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2 article was done?
3         A.    I don't think so.  Because they
4 wouldn't have been in the position to have any
5 legal information regarding the case.
6         Q.    Well, if you wanted to know the
7 answer to that question, who would the -- who
8 within communications or the PR department would
9 you ask?

10         A.    I would ask, for instance, who is
11 responsible, which is Susan Chokachi right now.
12               And also if I can, we do have
13 alerts with WWD, which basically means every
14 time that an article pops up in WWD, or in some
15 other metro newspapers related to Gucci, will be
16 alerted for us.  And this is likely the result
17 of it.
18               In fact, the message is dated
19 August 10, which is the same date of WWD.  So
20 this was not, for sure, something that was
21 prepared beforehand.
22         Q.    I am sorry.  What was not
23 something that was prepared beforehand?
24         A.    The message was not preceding the
25 publication.  Actually, since the publication is
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2 issued early in the morning, and we made this
3 message only later in the afternoon, led me
4 believe that we waited before sending or
5 circulating it within our company.
6         Q.    You are saying you didn't have an
7 advanced copy of the message, or at least this
8 is not circulating an advance copy.  It's
9 circulating the copy that actually was published

10 in WWD on August 10, 2009, correct?
11         A.    Correct.
12         Q.    Well, if --
13         A.    And if we had the information
14 regarding it, we would have informed,
15 potentially, our president, who for the article
16 was going out on the newspapers.
17         Q.    Well, there's nothing in this
18 message of Exhibit Risi 8 that suggests that
19 this is a surprise, is there?
20         A.    No.
21         Q.    Okay.
22         A.    I agree.
23         Q.    And there's nothing in this
24 message from Alex Gobo that suggests that Gucci
25 is in any way displeased with the fact that this
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2 article is in WWD.  Is that correct?
3               MR. WEIGEL:  Object, argumentative
4         and irrelevant.
5         A.    Correct.
6         Q.    And is it also fair to say that
7 you understood that you would be testifying on
8 the topic of this article because that's what --
9 and it's in front of you again -- Exhibit Risi

10 1, Topic 12 is about, right?
11         A.    Correct.
12         Q.    Okay.  And is it correct to say
13 that you didn't ask anyone at Gucci America
14 whether Gucci had provided any information or
15 materials, or had made a suggestion to WWD that
16 they would do the article placed in WWD?
17         A.    Okay.  I didn't ask.  But I can
18 see that it is not publicity from our side,
19 because it's not Gucci's publicity for the
20 Laurette judgment.
21               The way it's written here, is not
22 really publicity from our side.
23         Q.    Yes.  But this -- I see.  Now you
24 are reading Category 12.  But you didn't
25 continue to read where it says "including the
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2 article placed in WWD."
3               You knew you were going to be
4 asked about that article, right?
5               MR. WEIGEL:  Counsel, your
6         argument -- you are arguing with the
7         witness.
8               MR. KENNEDY:  I don't believe I
9         am.

10               MR. WEIGEL:  I do believe you are.
11         There's really no point in it.  The
12         article wasn't placed in WWD.  He's told
13         you that repeatedly.  So --
14               MR. KENNEDY:  It's an article in
15         WWD.  If someone wants to knit-pick
16         these categories, we're going to have
17         problems.
18               Let me just find out from
19         Mr. Risi --
20         A.    As I said, for sure --
21               MR. WEIGEL:  Let him ask a
22         question.
23               THE WITNESS:  Okay.
24         A.    Yes, please?  Can you rephrase it,
25 or can you ask it --
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2         Q.    My question to you has been this,
3 okay?  You knew I was going to ask you about
4 that article in WWD, right?
5         A.    Yes.  I knew.
6         Q.    And you knew you were going to
7 testify on behalf of Gucci America about that
8 article, right?
9         A.    Correct.

10         Q.    I asked you whether you knew
11 yourself if Gucci either gave information to WWD
12 or made a suggestion that:  Hey, this might be
13 something that you would be interested in doing
14 an article about?  And you said personally, you
15 don't know.
16               Is that fair so far?
17               MR. WEIGEL:  Object to the form.
18         A.    Partially.
19         Q.    And you haven't checked with
20 anyone else at Gucci to find out whether someone
21 from the PR department, or the communication
22 department, or someone else who has contact with
23 WWD did in fact either provide the judgment or
24 provide that information, correct?
25         A.    It's wrong for one reason.
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2 Because I said at the beginning that if this
3 article was feeded by us, there would have been
4 a statement.  There would have been a -- that
5 would have been a statement from our side or
6 from our lawyer's side.  And I don't see any of
7 them.
8         Q.    I am not limiting myself to you
9 actually writing the article and giving it to

10 WWD.  I --
11         A.    I understand it.  But that would
12 be a good possibility from our side to say also
13 our point of view of the case.
14               And since there is nothing written
15 from this point of view, I assume this was not
16 really coming from us.
17         Q.    Okay.  I know what you are
18 assuming, but that's not really my question.
19               My question is whether anyone from
20 Gucci America suggested that an article should
21 be done about this subject, or provided any
22 information, including the consent judgment, to
23 WWD.  That's my question.
24               You don't know the answer to that,
25 and you didn't ask others.  You didn't ask

Page 111

1                        Risi
2 anyone within the PR communications.  Is that
3 correct?
4               MR. WEIGEL:  I am going to object
5         to the form.
6               MR. KENNEDY:  All right.
7               MR. WEIGEL:  You are making
8         speeches.
9               MR. KENNEDY:  No.  I am not.  I am

10         asking questions, Mr. Weigel.  And I
11         have to tell you the truth --
12               MR. WEIGEL:  Please don't
13         interrupt me, counsel.  I have not
14         interrupted you.
15               MR. KENNEDY:  You did on just the
16         question before that.
17               MR. WEIGEL:  Counsel, don't
18         interrupt.  We're wasting a lot of time
19         here.
20               You have asked the witness.  He
21         has told you.  He gave you his
22         testimony.
23               You don't like the answers, and
24         you are badgering him.
25               If you want to ask the question
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2         one more time, go ahead.  Leave the
3         speech off --
4               MR. KENNEDY:  Please.
5               MR. WEIGEL:  -- and let's move
6         forward.
7               MR. KENNEDY:  I am going to ask to
8         have the question that I did just ask
9         reread, and then I am going to ask the

10         witness please answer it.
11               (Record read)
12               MR. WEIGEL:  I will allow him to
13         answer either of the questions there.
14         But I am going to instruct him not to
15         answer that particular one, and you can
16         ask it in two parts because there's at
17         least two questions there.
18               Ask however you want.  I am not
19         stopping you from asking it.  But that
20         particular question has at least two
21         parts and a speech.  So ask away.
22               MR. KENNEDY:  Mr. Weigel, your
23         objections are improper.  You know I am
24         entitled to ask the questions the way I
25         like to ask them.  And the witness is
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2 the course of this deposition you asked counsel
3 during a break?
4         A.    No.  It was before the deposition
5 of today.
6         Q.    Back to my original question,
7 though, which is:  If you go to Risi Exhibit 8,
8 it doesn't mention the settlement agreement at
9 all, correct?

10         A.    Correct.
11         Q.    Okay.  And it doesn't mention the
12 payment terms of the settlement agreement, which
13 were limited to the $200,000, if they make the
14 payments, correct?
15         A.    Correct.
16         Q.    Okay.  The only number it uses
17 here is the $5.2 million judgment from Laurette?
18         A.    Correct.  Also because it's a
19 confidentiality settlement agreement, and I
20 guess this document is not publicly available.
21               On the other hand, this other
22 document is public.  Document -- this one, I --
23 document six is publicly available.
24         Q.    Right.  The consent judgment is
25 publicly available.  That's what was signed by
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2 the Court, right?
3         A.    Yes.  So, so far, this is the only
4 public information available to the public.
5         Q.    Right.  And the confidential
6 settlement agreement, which has the $200,000
7 number, that was made unavailable to the public,
8 correct?
9         A.    I would assume so.

10         Q.    Okay.  And are you aware that was
11 made unavailable to the public because Gucci
12 America wanted it to be kept confidential?
13         A.    I don't know if it was from Gucci
14 America, or from any of the other party within
15 this agreement.
16         Q.    That's what I am asking you.  You
17 know, speaking on behalf of Gucci America, are
18 you aware if Gucci America wanted that to remain
19 confidential?
20         A.    I am not aware about it.
21               MR. WEIGEL:  It's 12:35.  Would
22         this be a good time to break for lunch,
23         or are you planning on finishing up in a
24         bit?
25               (Discussion off the record)
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2               (Exhibit Risi 9, Collection of
3         customer correspondence, Bates Gucci
4         83582-599, marked)
5 BY MR. KENNEDY
6         Q.    Mr. Risi, we have shown you now
7 what's been marked as Exhibit Risi 9.  And this
8 is a collection of communications which were
9 produced to us by your counsel, and they have

10 Bates Nos. Gucci 83582 through 83599.
11         A.    I see it.
12         Q.    Are you familiar with these
13 documents?
14         A.    I saw them, yes.
15         Q.    Did you have any involvement in
16 collecting these documents?
17         A.    No.
18         Q.    All right.  Under what occasion
19 did you see these documents?
20         A.    I saw these documents in relation
21 to the preparation for this deposition.
22         Q.    Do you know who these documents --
23 who these particular communications went to at
24 Gucci America?
25         A.    Yes.  These documents, most of
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2 them -- I don't know if all of them -- they went
3 to Stacy Feldman, which is the paralegal within
4 the legal department, which is, in a way, in
5 charge for issuing and preparing the cease and
6 desist letters.
7         Q.    I see.  Do you believe that these
8 documents that comprise Exhibit Risi 9 are all
9 of the communications received from customers

10 about websites offering Gucci replica materials
11 or products?
12         A.    I don't know.  I cannot say that.
13         Q.    Did you have -- strike that.
14               Did you make the request to
15 Miss Feldman that she provide this information?
16         A.    I think the requests arrived
17 through our lawyers.
18         Q.    Now, did you note that none of
19 these requests relate to the products offered
20 over the Bag Addiction website?
21         A.    Yes.  I noticed that.
22         Q.    Did any of the requests relate to
23 the website Lee Luxury Bags?
24         A.    I am not so sure.  I don't think
25 so.
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2         Q.    Okay.  Why don't you just take a
3 minute and review it?  And let me know if you
4 see one that does.
5               (Witness reviews document)
6         A.    No.
7         Q.    Do you know whether any of these
8 communications relate to any of the websites
9 that were set forth in Category 14, which were

10 the websites that came up at the Counley
11 deposition that you looked at?
12         A.    I don't think so.
13         Q.    All right.  That's consistent with
14 my review.  I just wanted to make sure that you
15 weren't aware of any that did when you reviewed
16 them for the deposition.
17               If you could confirm that, I would
18 appreciate it.
19         A.    Yeah.
20         Q.    You need to look at Category 14?
21         A.    Yeah.
22         Q.    You already got it?
23         A.    Yes.
24         Q.    All right.  Thank you.
25               (Witness continues to review
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2 document).
3         Q.    I am sorry.  I wasn't referring to
4 the larger list.  Just the list in 14.
5         A.    This one, yeah.
6         Q.    Have you confirmed that Exhibit 9
7 contains no communications which relate to any
8 of the websites that are mentioned in Category
9 14 of Exhibit Risi 1?

10         A.    Correct.
11         Q.    Okay.  Thank you.
12               Let me go to another topic, which
13 is what investigations have been done, that you
14 are aware of, of Woodforest National Bank.
15         A.    I don't think we have done any
16 investigation, as far as I am aware.
17               What do you mean for
18 investigation?
19         Q.    Well, prior to filing the lawsuit,
20 present lawsuit, were you aware that Woodforest
21 National Bank was a bank processing credit card
22 transactions for the Bag Addiction?
23         A.    I think we have been aware as a
24 result of the communication from VISA.
25         Q.    Okay.  And did you do any -- did
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2 you have an investigator, or anyone do an
3 investigation of the business of Woodforest
4 National Bank beyond whatever information came
5 to you from Woodforest itself about the credit
6 card processing that they had done for the Bag
7 Addiction?
8               MR. WEIGEL:  I don't want you -- I
9         caution you that work done by counsel

10         can be protected either by the
11         attorney-client or the work product
12         privilege.
13               I would instruct you not to reveal
14         communications you had with counsel
15         about work that counsel did in preparing
16         for this lawsuit.  If you know anything
17         else, please tell him.
18         A.    I don't think we used any
19 investigator.
20               MR. KENNEDY:  Let me take about a
21         five-minute break, sort out my notes,
22         and make sure there isn't more.
23               MR. WEIGEL:  Okay.
24               (Recess taken)
25
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2 BY MR. KENNEDY
3         Q.    Mr. Risi, I neglected to ask you:
4 Where are the offices of Gucci America?
5         A.    685 Fifth Avenue.
6         Q.    Do you maintain an office there
7 yourself?
8         A.    I do have an office there as well.
9         Q.    Okay.

10               (Exhibit Risi 10, Printout,
11         Bluefly.com website, 5 pages, marked)
12         Q.    Let us show you what's been marked
13 as Exhibit Risi 10, which I will represent are
14 five pages from the Bluefly dot-com website that
15 promote Gucci products.
16         A.    Yes.
17         Q.    Do you see that exhibit?
18         A.    Yes.
19         Q.    Okay.  Have you gone on this
20 website to look at the Gucci products that they
21 are offering?
22         A.    I am aware that there were some
23 consideration to go after it.
24         Q.    Well, are you aware as to whether
25 these are genuine Gucci products that are being
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EXHIBIT P 
REDACTED PURSUANT TO 

PROTECTIVE ORDER 



 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT Q 



From: j-4ans ctrlrkler
To; "Bao AddIcn"
Cc: "Nathan ro;:nlev"; "Shne
Subject RE: TheBagAddlcdon.com - 8788370010754
Date: Monday, October 08, 2007 2:38:00 PM

Limit increase approved to $75000. Account placed on 5% reserve, as before. Funding should
resume, as normal, Tuesday due to the Bank Holiday today.

-Hans

Hans Strickler - Frontline Processing

866*651*3068 (voice) 406*585*7576 (fax)

Prom: Bag Addiction [mailto:admin©thebagaddiction.com]
Sent: Monday, October OB, 2007 9:12 AM
To; hss@frontllneprocessing.com
CC; Nathan counley
Subject Re: TheBagAddiction.com - 8788370010754

Hi Hans,

We actually have another website we use and therefore have another bank, Wood Forrest that we
process thru. When volume amounts got close we would occassionally switch over to Wood Forrest on
TheBagAdd lotion.

If you want to increase our volume let's go ahead and do that for an additional $25,000fper month.
The holiday seasons are coming and I think weH need that.

Let me know what you think and I'll shoot Nathan and email on this too. Thanks

Pat Kirk

Original Message
From; Hans Strir'.kler
To: The BaqAddictipn
Sent: Friday, October 05, 2007 3:27 PM
Subject: TheBagAddictioncom - 8788370010754

Pat,
We received a ChargeBack from you yesterday, showing that you are processing with

another processor MCCS (Wood Forrest). The ternis and conditions of your merchant agreement
clearly state that frontline Is to be your sole Processor.

How much volume dc, you need per month to move all processing over to Frontline?

-Hans

Hans Strickier
Frontline Processing '.Risk Management
866*651*3068
405*565*7576 (fax)
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